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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EREHRE

GROUP RESULTS

Revenue of the Group for the current year of 2019/20 was
HK$656,212,000 (2018/19: HK$717,614,000) and the overall result was
a loss of HK$50,786,000 (2018/19: a profit of HK$20,301,000).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Revenue of the year under review was 9% less than the previous year,
and our core garment business although performed less favorably still
recorded a positive result. However, the overall performance of our
business for the year under review incurred a substantial loss. The main
reasons for the adverse results besides the drop of revenue were the loss
incurred by our Wuxi investments, impairment losses on other property,
plant and equipment as well as the decreased value of our investment
properties after revaluation.

Our core garment business had a difficult year. However, despite all
the unfavorable political and economic adversities, our core garment
business was still able to yield a profit from operations of HK$3,366,000
as compared to HK$16,259,000 of the year before, a 79% decrease.

A loss was recorded for our China manufacturing operations in Panyu
and Guigang for the year under review. The reduction of fabric orders, the
weakness of the domestic market as well as the low efficiency of workers
attributed to the negative results of our China operation.

Our factory in Bangladesh in the year under review incurred a loss. Uneven
spread of orders and low efficiency of workers due to the change of
production patterns were the main reasons that caused the negative results.

Our woven section in our Myanmar factory maintained good profits but
offset by losses incurred from start-up of knit section. However overall
performance still recorded a positive result for the year under review.

Our Wuxi investment suffered a big loss in the current year. Adverse
factors that attributed to the negative results included: trade friction
between the U.S. and China, depressed yarn prices, lowered gross
margins, prolonged inventory holding, the subsequent outbreak of
COVID-19 that softened the market demand, and the start-up costs in
the new Ethiopia project.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERE

OUTLOOK

The current adverse situation caused by COVID-19 pandemic on top of
the U.S./China trade dispute is unseen in our industry ever before. Not
only had it badly affected our business in every way during the last few
months of the year under review, but it will also further deteriorate our
results in the coming year when deeper impact from the pandemic will be
felt.

This pandemic lock down is causing our customers worldwide serious
problems resulting them to ask for cancellation and discounts and even
causing bad debts to us. While we are doing our best to manage these
situations, more losses must be expected. The other proactive things the
management can do at the present time are to cut overhead expenses,
close non-profitable divisions and conserve cash. Fortunately, at the time
of writing, our Group’s cash position is strong and can weather such
adverse business environment for a long time until things hopefully can
improve.

APPRECIATION

| would like, on behalf of the Board and shareholders, to express our
appreciation to the Company’s employees for their hard work and loyal
service to the Company during the past year.

By Order of the Board
Chan Wing Fui, Peter
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

- Y
B g aw B o AT
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS = % WRIIE
2020 2019
TEORE CENUE +/—-
HK$°000 HK$’000 Change
BT BT T )
Performance Indicators BB
Revenue e A 656,212 717,614 -9%
Gross profit EF 111,070 132,584 -16%
Gross profit margin EF 17% 18% -1 pp
Profit from operations £ 42 Vi ) 3,366 16,259 -79%
Operating margin 2848 U F) 1% 2% -1 pp
(Loss)/profit attributable to equity AN A I HEREE A AL
shareholders of the Company (18 i 1 (51,009) 22,062 -331%
Net profit margin FOI B -8% 3% -11 pp
Earnings before interest, taxes, FUBRALE - BLE - 8
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) PESH T 2 A [EBITDA (87,356) 30,697 —-222%
EBITDA margin EBITDAZ —6% 4% -10 pp
Return on total assets 7 AR ) R -4.1% 1.6% -5.7 pp
Financial Health Indicators W5 R Ut 3
Cash and bank balances Bl K ARAT H iR 272,451 323,769 -16%
Net current assets it B A 353,921 387,317 -9%
Total assets W AR 1,244,310 1,359,110 -8%
Total liabilities B fERAE 143,572 144,365 -1%
Shareholders’ equity JBE R £k 1,101,566 1,216,646 -9%
Return on shareholders’ equity J SRR 5 ] 3 2R -4.6% 1.8% -6.4 pp
Current ratio (times) W) & () 5.0 4.7 6%
Shareholders’ Return Indicators JBE B Dol 5 35 B
(Loss)/earnings per share — basic % (k) BA — 5 A ($0.25) $0.11 -327%
Dividend per share g B S $nil $0.12 -100%
Dividend payout IR 2R 0% 109% -109 pp
Cash Flow and Capital Expenditure e RE A H
Cash (used in)/generated from operations MR () iS4 (9,941) 41,460 -124%
Capital expenditure — other assets AR S — Hh A 4,030 7,098 -43%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREN WD

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2020 was
HK$656,212,000 a decrease of 9% as compared with HK$717,614,000
of the year before. The negative results of our Wuxi investments, the
decrease in value of our investment properties after revaluation as well as
the impairment losses on other property, plant and equipment affected
our overall results to a loss of HK$50,786,000 (2018/19: a profit of
HK$20,301,000).

GARMENT BUSINESS

Yangtzekiang Garment Limited and Hong Kong Knitters Limited are
the two names that we use to operate our garment business. We
manufacture a wide variety of products that include men’s and ladies’
shirts, trousers, shorts, polo shirts, T-shirt, jackets and knitted outerwear,
etc. Hong Kong is our Group’s headquarters that handles our core
garment businesses including manufacturing, trading and sourcing.
In addition to our fully owned factories in China (Panyu and Guigang),
Bangladesh and Myanmar, we are also working with many factories in
partnership in Vietnam, Indonesia and Cambodia serving the needs of our
customers worldwide. Besides Hong Kong and places where we have
factories, we also have offices in other parts of China (Dongguan and
Hangzhou). These offices not only provide supports to our own factories,
but also monitor and liaise with our subcontractors and business partners
around these areas.

It was a difficult year for our core garment business. The uncertainties
and instabilities brought about by the U.S./China trade war and the
subsequent COVID-19 pandemic made it so much harder for our
management. Despite all these adverse factors, a slight profit was
recorded for the year under review. However, the management is
pessimistic of the coming year’s results when the two detrimental factors
continue to haunt our industry.

Our China factories operating under the names of Exquisite Knitters
(Guangzhou) Limited and Whampoa Garment Manufacturing (Guigang)
Co., Ltd. had recorded an overall loss for the year. The decrease of
fabric orders, the weak domestic market as well as the low efficiency
of our workers at the factory due to the change of production pattern
had affected our China operation’s performance. The coming year
continues to be difficult. Trade war between China and the U.S. is stil
raging and the COVID-19 pandemic shows no sign of subsiding. These
adverse factors have taken a heavy toll on our China operation and the
management expect of the coming year’s results to be disappointing.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED N

2019/20 was another difficult year for our Bangladesh factory. Short of
orders in the first half of the year resulted a loss. We had developed more
customers in the second half of the year and the capacity was fully filled.
Due to the change of the business trend, there were more fancy styles
but in smaller quantity per order. This resulted in much lower efficiency
and extra overtime work that caused wage increase and added to our
loss. As this kind of business trend will continue in the coming future,
the management will invest in automatic equipments to improve our
production. COVID-19 pandemic continues to hit our operation and will
continue throughout the coming year. Earlier our Bangladesh factory
was forced to close down for a month to avoid widespread of the virus.
Due to the temporary shutdown of the Government offices and terminal,
logistics have been a problem resulting in late clearance of materials and
customs declarations. Delayed shipments are expected for the first half
of the coming year and, in fact, some orders had already been cancelled
and postponed. As many of our customers’ shops have been closed
for a long period of time, we expect they would place less orders for the
coming season.

The woven section of our factory in Myanmar — Dagon Talent Garment
Limited, contributed good profit to the operation while the knitted section
suffered a loss due to fresh setup with a lower efficiency. Overall, our
Myanmar factory recorded a small profit as expected, thanks to the
stable work force and productivity. Myanmar is also suffering from the
COVID-19 pandemic. Our factory was closed for 10 days as requested
by the local government. The temporary shutdown of the country till end
of June 2020 has caused logistic problems for our material clearance,
coupled with the cancellation and postponement of orders, there had
been a shortage of orders for two months. In general, the woven section
can still manage due to stable orders but the knitted section will be
affected seriously due to unstable orders and lower efficiency.

OTHER BUSINESS

Wuxi No. 1 Cotton Investment Co., Ltd. in which we have a 49%
shareholding is a joint venture that owns several textiles related
companies in Wuxi, China (“Wuxi Group”). The core business of the
Wuxi Group is the production of medium range to high end yarns. The
Wuxi Group recorded a share of loss of HK$24,295,000 in the year
under review (2018/19: a share of profit of HK$12,007,000). Factors that
attributed to the loss included trade friction between the U.S. and China,
depressed yarn prices, lowered gross margins, lengthened stockholding
and increased stockholding costs, the subsequent outbreak of COVID-19
pandemic that softened the market demand as well as the investment
in Ethiopia that incurred setup costs, increased interest cost with no
revenue. For year 2020/21, COVID-19 pandemic is expected to continue
to dampen market sentiment, demand to be soft, competition stiff and
turnover and gross margins will be affected.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED N

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL POSITION

During the year under review, the Group’s operations continued to be
mainly financed by the internal resources.

As at 31 March 2020, the cash and bank balances of the Group were
approximately HK$272,451,000 (2019: HK$323,769,000). As at 31
March 2020 and 2019, the Group did not have any short term and long
term borrowings.

The Group adopts a prudent policy to hedge the fluctuation of foreign
exchange rates. As most of the Group’s sales, purchases, cash and
bank balances are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States
dollars, Euros, Pounds Sterling or Renminbi, the Group may enter into
forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge its committed future sales
denominated in the above foreign currencies against the exchange
rate fluctuation when the exposure is significant. As at 31 March 2020,
the Group has forward foreign exchange contracts hedging forecast
transactions with net fair value of HK$1,352,000 (assets) (2019:
HK$56,000 (assets)), recognised as derivative financial instruments.

LAW AND REGULATIONS

Law and regulations in relation to workplace quality, product safety and
environmental performance may have a material effect on our Group’s
principal activities.

Workplace Quality

The Group believes that continued business success relies on the
full contribution and support of our employees. We are dedicated
to promoting equal opportunities for all of our employees in different
areas, including recruitment, compensation and benefits, training, staff
promotion, transfer, and dismissal. All employees are assessed based on
their ability, performance and contribution, irrespective of their nationality,
race, religion, gender, age or family status.

The Group is committed to the health, safety and welfare of our
employees. We pledge full compliance in all occupational health and
safety legislations and we have implemented an effective and safe
working environment for our employees.

The Group complied with labour or other relevant legislations. We did not
identify any material non-compliance or breach of legislation related to
workplace quality.

Product Safety

The Group places the highest importance on the welfare of its customers
globally, as well as on its broader societal and environmental impact. The
quality and safety of our products is a vital part of this.

All products are safe and fully adhere to international environmental and
safety standards. We did not identify any material non-compliance or
breach of legislation related to product safety.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED N

Environmental Performance

The Group is committed to protecting and sustaining the environment
through reduced consumption of electrical power.

We are committed to upholding high environmental standards to fulffil
relevant requirements under applicable laws or ordinances during the
manufacturing and material disposal processes.

We did not identify any material non-compliance or breach of
relevant standards, rules and regulations on air and greenhouse gas
emission, discharges into water and land, generation of hazardous or
non-hazardous water, etc.

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE

The Group has long been committed to being a responsible corporate
citizen and actively supports various charitable organisations and causes.
We encourage staff to join our “YGM Volunteer Team” and participate
in various charitable activities to help people in need, demonstrating its
corporate social responsibility and promoting the caring culture in the
society.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

An environmental, social and governance report will be published on
the website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the
Company’s website no later than three months after the publication of the
Company’s annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Risks and uncertainties can affect the Group’s businesses, financial
conditions, operational results or growth prospects leading to a
divergence from expected or historical results. Key risk factors and
uncertainties affecting the Group are outlined below. In dealing with
these risk factors and uncertainties, the Group remains in touch with
our stakeholders with the aim of understanding and addressing their
concerns.

These factors are not exhaustive or comprehensive, and there may be
other risks in addition to those shown below which are not known to the
Group or which may not be material now but could become material in
the future.

Global Economy and Macro-economic Conditions

The global economic recovery has been weaker than expected with
uneven recovery in advanced economies. Downside risks have increased
due to economic pressures and geopolitical tensions such as slowing
growth in emerging markets and the instability in Middle East and Eastern
Europe.

The principal business activities of the Group is the manufacture and sale
of garments and textiles to the customers in Europe, North America and
Mainland China. The industries in which the Group operates are affected
by the economic conditions, consumer spending, contagious disease
outbreaks and currency environment in these regions. Any combination
of these factors or continuing adverse economic conditions in these
regions may adversely affect the Group’s financial position, potential
income, asset value and liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The Group has taken a proactive approach to monitoring changes
in global economy and macro-economic conditions. Adequate risk
mitigation measures are in place and are constantly reviewed for
enhancement.

Currency Markets

The Group operates on a global basis and earns revenues, incurs costs
and make investments in a number of currencies. The Group’s financial
results are reported in Hong Kong dollars. The majority of reported
revenues are earned in non-Hong Kong currencies. Therefore the Hong
Kong dollar value of reported revenues, profits and cash flows may be
reduced as a result of unfavourable currency exchange rate movements.

The Group adopts a prudent policy to hedge the fluctuation of foreign
exchange rates. The details of the policy are set out in the paragraph of
“Liquidity and Financial Position”.

Impact of Local, National and International Regulations

Local business risks specific to individual countries and cities where the
Group operates could have a material impact on its financing conditions,
operating results and growth prospects.

The Group is, and may increasingly become, exposed to different and
changing political, social, legal, tax, regulatory and listing requirements
at the local, national and international level. New policies or measures
by governments, whether fiscal, tax or regulatory, may pose a risk to the
returns delivered by the Group’s business and may delay or prevent the
commercial operation of an individual business, with a resulting loss in
revenue and profit.

The Group has taken a proactive approach to monitoring changes in
government policies and legislation. Adequate risk mitigation measures
are in place and are constantly reviewed for enhancement.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2020, none of the assets of the Group was pledged.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group, including its subsidiaries but
excluding its joint ventures, employed approximately 4,300 employees.
Remuneration packages are determined by reference to employees’
performance and the prevailing salary levels in the market. In addition, the
Group provides year end double pay, provident fund scheme, medical
insurance and training to staff.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS AND
SUBCONTRACTORS

Fair and Open Competition

The Group promotes fair and open competition that aims to develop
long-term relationships with suppliers and subcontractors based on
mutual trust.

Public Interest and Accountability

The procurement from suppliers or services providers is conducted in a
manner consistent with the highest ethical standards. This helps assure
high quality products at all times to gain the confidence of customers,
suppliers and the public.

Procurement Procedures

The subcontracting and the purchase of goods are based solely on need,
quality and price. This ensures compliance with procurement policies and
fosters positive and open competition.

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS

Customer Services

The Group seeks to provide efficient and courteous customer service
to maintain customer satisfaction and co-operation. Customers have
access to information about the operation and development of the Group
through annual reports. The Group shall not make any misrepresentation,
exaggeration or overstatement.

Pricing Policies

The Group believes in the economic system of the free market, in which
price is determined by supply and demand. The Group also seeks to
provide customers with the highest quality products at fair prices which
allow the Group a reasonable profit in relation to the value provided.

IMPORTANT EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements set out in this
report, there is no other important event affecting the Group which has
occurred since the end of the reporting period.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHES

The directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
audited financial statements of Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and sale of
garments and textiles, provision of processing services and rental of
properties. Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required
by schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including an indication of
likely future developments in the Group’s business and a discussion of
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the group, can be found in the
Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis set out
on pages 3 to 4 and pages 5 to 11 of the Annual Report respectively.
This discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the Group during the financial year are set out in note 10 to
the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the year
are set out in Note 25(c) to the financial statements.

DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to declare the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: HK12 cents).

DISTRIBUTABILITY OF RESERVES

At 31 March 2020, the aggregate amount of reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company, as calculated under
the provisions of section Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
was HK$326,700,000 (2019: HK$357,024,000). After the end of the
reporting period, the directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend (2019: HK$24,810,000) in respect of the year ended 31 March
2020 (Note 25(b)). This dividend has not been recognised as a liability at
the end of the reporting period.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$25,000 (2019: HK$20,000).

HEREGRHERERITIERKARAA (AL
A RHMBAR ([AELH]) - @2 _F %
FZHA=FT—HILFEEZFERIBELIRE -

AR TR R T8 AR I Bk
T R CRB MY EME - MIBEF B A A
BN RS E > ABZEETE—F W
B bt (5 AL B 25 AR AR vl AR B e 2 4551 »
B A B A 42 1 T T g R B R S B TR 2
A AT R AR GRS H £ B4 E T
KESHEFIIHEAE R WHE SR &R - it
TR AN R 2 — B e

A B2 B A R B BUAE T 2 B SE S S KR
[ 53 A7 O S 5 R B RO

HHERFATRBE X BEZH=+—
HIEEE 2 KPS (—F—Ju 128l o

Ay Ak 2 IR A

RoZ-EE=ZA=Z=+—H  BEFEBELAK
BIEE6TEE » AN B AT B IR T AR A B A
OB G HE A8 %8 15326,700,0000 78 (—F — L

40 357,024,000 00)  NEHHAEK > HEBEA
BRI HE T RE=S FJ +—H 14
A E (—F—JL4 24,810,000 1) &H

iE25(b)) o B BB A AEH H R R By B

AR FER 2 ZEEIBH 25,0008 (ZF— I
1 20,0008 9T) o

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
ANNUAL REPORT 2020 £ #



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
financial year is as follows:

The largest customer wREF

Five largest customers in aggregate EEIDN- IR )
The largest supplier e K AL R

Five largest suppliers in aggregate RN iRy

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors

Chan Wing Fui, Peter

Chan Wing Kee

Chan Wing To

Chan Suk Man

Chan Wing Sun, Samuel

So Ying Woon, Alan

Chan Suk Ling, Shirley (resigned on 16 April 2020)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Choi Ting Ki

So Stephen Hon Cheung

Li Guangming

Lin Keping (resigned on 16 April 2020)

A full list of the names of the directors of the Group’s subsidiaries can be
found in the Company’s website at www.ygm.com.hk under “Investor
Relation/Corporate Governance”.

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) would like to take
this opportunity to express its gratitude to Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley
and Mr. Lin Keping for their valuable contribution to the Company during
their tenure of service.

LEEP R

AR B AR R EBRF R A R A AR S
B EELRBEI M
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Pursuant to Article 105 of the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting (“AGM”), one-third of the Directors for the time being
shall retire from office by rotation. Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter, Mr. Chan
Wing To, and Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung will retire from the Board
by rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
AGM.

The Company confirms that it has received from each of the independent
non-executive directors an annual confirmation of their respective
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) and the Company considers the
independent non-executive directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who offered themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has entered into
any service contract with the Company or any other member of the
Group which is not determinable by the relevant employer within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the directors of the
Company is currently in force and was in force throughout this year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Apart from the connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules as set out amongst other related party transactions in note 28
to the financial statements, no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party,
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of the
directors and their associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFQ”)) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“the Model
Code”) and which were required to be entered in the register kept
by the Company under section 352 of the SFO were as follows:

W2 B B A

(@ M_EFE_FHE=HA=1+—H  AQAFAXHE
5 AR 2 B BN LR AR R BT AT
N (FE RS 2R RO B ) (T8 25 1 ) 56
XV 2 W) 2 By~ A B i 1y 12 {5 7
B A AR W8 IR R ) SEXV IR S 7 X843 ~ b
2% ) S AT @ 05 58 oy AR HE Sy A (A o
TR 2 B & AR o m) e g 2 T 2 HE
it KR (B A5 5 AR R 5 5 A 05 ) B
TE BALAE SR MR B 2 e f SR > R
B R0 AR R R O Ik B 36215 A7 B 2 B R
2t IR T

Number of ordinary shares

W BB % H
Personal Family Corporate Other
interests interests interests interests
Name of director RS I & Fehi AL e A%
Chan Wing Fui, Peter Bk % 486,102 9,153,465 - () & i)
Chan Wing Kee Bk it 8,580,624 319,601 - () & i)
Chan Wing To Bk i 10,073,389 - - () & i)
Chan Wing Sun, Samuel Bk 5 6,089,244 250,000 3,604,415 0]
Chan Suk Ling, Shirley JABMS (= FZFAE
(resigned on 16 April 2020) PA 17 H BT 4,535,816 524,000 = 0]
Chan Suk Man BB 3,438,466 - - () & (i)
So Ying Woon, Alan fie s 12,000 = = =
Lin Keping (resigned on 16 April 2020) MWL (= FZFE
1A 17 HEHE) - - - -
Choi Ting Ki L SiE - - - -
So Stephen Hon Cheung i - - - -
Li Guangming eI - - - -
Notes: Mt it

U

(i)

(i)

48,032,240 shares of the Company were held by Chan Family
Investment Corporation Ltd. (which is owned by Messrs Chan
Wing Kee, Chan Wing To, Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Madam
Chan Suk Ling, Shirley and Madam Chan Suk Man and other
members of the Chan Family) and its subsidiaries.

13,965,280 shares of the Company were held by Mr. Chan
Wing Fui, Peter, the executor of the estate of the late Dr. Chan
Sui Kau.

2,383,500 shares of the Company were held by Super Team
International Limited which is indirectly owned by Messrs Chan
Wing Kee, Chan Wing To, Madam Chan Suk Man and other
members of the Chan Family.

(i)

(ifi)

& 3£48,032,240 /% A< 2 A B 4y T3 H
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(b) Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the
directors or their associates, had, under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO, nor were they taken to or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO, any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) or any
interests which are required to be entered into the register kept by
the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or any interests
which are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Details of the equity-linked agreement subsisting at the end of the year
are set out in the section “Share option scheme” below.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “share option
scheme”) at the Annual General Meeting held on 18 September 2019, for
the purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the growth of the Group’s operations.

According to the share option scheme, the directors of the Company
are authorised, at their discretion, to invite any director (including
executive, non-executive or independent non-executive directors),
employee, customer, supplier, any person or entity that provides
research, development, other technological support to the Group, adviser
or consultant of the Group and the shareholder to take up options to
subscribe for shares of the Company. An offer of the grant of share
options may be accepted within 21 days from the date of offer. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an
option.

The share option scheme became effective on 18 September 2019 and
remains in force for 10 years from that date. The subscription price of
the options shall be a price determined by the directors, but shall not be
less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of the offer
of grant, which must be a business day; (i) the average of the closing
price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
the offer of grant; and (i) the nominal value of the shares. An option may
be exercised in accordance with the terms of the share option scheme at
any time during a period to be determined and notified by the directors to
each grantee, which period may commence on a day after the date upon
which the offer for the grant of options is made but shall end in any event
not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the option subject to the
provisions for early termination thereof. Unless otherwise determined by
the directors of the Company, there is no minimum period required for
the holding of an option before it can be exercised.

The total number of shares available for issue under the share option
scheme as at 31 March 2020 was 20,674,768 shares which represented
10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
adoption of the share option scheme. In respect of the maximum
entitlement of each participant under the share option scheme, the total
number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted to each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1%
of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being.
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During the year, no share options were granted, exercised or cancelled
or lapsed under the share option scheme and no share options were
outstanding as at 31 March 2020.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS

Other than the interests disclosed in the section “Directors’ Interests
In Shares” in respect of the directors, the following shareholder had
interests in 5% or more of the ordinary share of the Company in issue
as at 31 March 2020, according to the register of interests and short
positions required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO:

T A A o A0 A0 T AR O IR
YT T S ) et St =y
= S 0 8 R AT A

ERXY DY TN (PSR -

MRoFFRFE=ZA=+—H BRAELLEIESE
Z By Ag | P 4 BR 2 E 2R Ah > MR 4R R I R 1
SE336MR K E A7 B B HE i KR8 E T AT
AN R A E] B BEAT A BB 5% B L L HE
i 2 R AT BRI

Number of Percentage of

ordinary  ordinary shares

shares held in issue

Capacity BHEHEB  AHCHEL%ER

Name of shareholder JBe 3K 44 A HE 23 V& JBe 4y ¥ H B @ 4 e

Guangzhou Textiles Industry & JBE ) 475 ik T A 3 Beneficial owner 17,806,000 8.61%
Trade Holdings Ltd. EEARAR HIEWAH N (note)
(Bt 7E)

Note: The shares were directly held by Yue Xiu Textiles Co., Ltd., a
100% owned subsidiary of Guangzhou Textiles Industry & Trade
Holdings Ltd.

Save as disclosed above, no other interests required to be recorded in
the register kept under section 336 of the SFO have been notified to the
Company.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules are set out amongst related party transactions in note 28(a) to the
financial statements.

In the opinion of the independent non-executive directors, the connected
transactions were entered into by the Group:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of its business;

(i)  conducted either on normal commercial terms (which expression will
be applied by reference to transactions of a similar nature and to be
made by similar entities) or where there is no available comparison,
on terms that are fair and reasonable so far as the independent
shareholders of the Company are concerned;

@iy in accordance with the terms of the agreements governing the
transactions; and

(iv) in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group, where
applicable.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHES

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his
unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has
been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

There are no other connected transactions which are required to be
disclosed in this report in accordance with the requirements of Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Particulars of the retirement schemes of the Group are set out in note 22
to the financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

To comply with the Code of Best Practice as set out in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules, the Company has set up an audit committee
(the “Committee”) with written terms of reference, for the purposes of
reviewing and providing supervision on the financial reporting process
and internal control of the Group. The Committee comprises four
independent non-executive directors.

FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 127 of the annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this report, there
is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued
shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the Company
is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

By Order of the Board

Chan Wing Fui, Peter
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRSE

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is dedicated to
uphold a high corporate governance standard. The Board firmly believes
that the principles of transparency, accountability and independence are
essential for protecting the interests of the Company and maximizing
shareholder value.

The Company has complied with the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) throughout
the financial year ended 31 March 2020, except for the deviation from
code provision A.4.1 of the Code, pursuant to which the non-executive
directors of the Company should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election. The non-executive directors of Company are not
appointed for a specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election requirements at the annual general meeting of the Company
in accordance with Articles 96 and 105 of the Company’s articles of
association.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is committed to act in good faith in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders. The Board sets the Group’s overall
objectives and strategic directions, monitors and evaluates its operating
and financial performance. It also decides on matters relating to annual
and interim results, audited financial statements, notifiable transactions,
appointment and re-appointment of directors, major acquisitions and
disposals, material contracts, risk management, major financings and
borrowings, accounting and dividends policies. The Board delegates
day-to-day operations of the Company to the management of the Group
and also instructs the management to implement the Board’s decisions
and resolutions. In addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Risk Management Committee.

As at 31 March 2020, the Board comprises seven executive directors
and four independent non-executive directors. Subsequent to the
resignation of Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley and Mr. Lin Keping
with effect from 16 April 2020, the Board comprises six executive
directors and three independent non-executive directors. The number
of independent non-executive directors represents at least one-third
of the Board in accordance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The
independent non-executive directors bring a diverse range of expertise,
skills and experience to provide effective guidance and an outside
perspective to all major decisions of the Group.

Details of backgrounds and qualifications of the directors as well as
relationships between them are set out in the section of “Directors and
Management”.

The Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Risk Management Committee had held 5, 4, 1, 1 and 1
meetings respectively in the year under review.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRSE

The attendance at the Board and respective Board committees meetings
held in the year ended 31 March 2020 are as follows:

EHGAREHRZHONBE _F _FHF=4
= Bk B R P R AT w2 W AT Bk S
W

Risk Annual
Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination ~ Management General
Board  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee Megting
#  FHENE  EMRHA  RAZHA RRTAZNE BOOREAR
Executive directors Y
Chan Wing Fu, Peter bik% 505 N/A 1 11 1 11
Chan Wing Kee Bk 55 NA 17 17 11 11
Chan Wing To Bk 5/ N/A N/A N/A N/A 17
Chan Suk Man Bl 45 N/A N/A N/A 7 01
Chan Wing Sun, Samuel Bk & 55 NA N/A N/A N/A 11
S0 Ying Woon, Alan Bl 5/5 N/A N/A N/A 7 17
Chan Suk Ling, Shirley (resigned on 16 April 2020) Je B 5% 5/ N/A NA NA NA 111
(RoFZFERF AR

Independent non-executive directors eI
Choi Ting Ki Bk 5/5 44 n N N/A 17
S0 Stephen Hon Cheung [ 55 4/4 " 11 N/A 11
Li Guangming =5 i 55 4/4 n 17 N/A 0/
Lin Keping (resigned on 16 Apri 2020) WA ¥ (R=FZFERF AR 55 4/4 " 11 N/A 0/

The 2019 Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) was held on 18 September
2019. The directors’ attendance to the general meeting is listed out as
above. The Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of Audit Committee
and Nomination Committee, the members of Remuneration Committee
and the external auditor of the Company, attended the AGM to answer
questions raised by shareholders. Proceedings of annual general meeting
are reviewed from time to time to ensure that the Company follows
good corporate governance practices. Voting results were posted on the
Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s websites on the day of the AGM.

Each of the independent non-executive directors has confirmed with the
Company in writing his independence from the Company in accordance
with the relevant guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Nomination Committee and the Board considered that all independent
non-executive directors of the Company are independent with reference
to Rule 3.13.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICY AND

The Board is committed to ensure that a good corporate governance
framework and practices are established within the Group. The Board is
responsible for performing the duties on corporate governance functions
as required under code provision D.3.1 of the Code which are set out
below:

(1) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommmendations to the Board;

(2) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(8) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(4) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors;
and

(5) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.

CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR

The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and the
Managing Director of the Company is Mr. Chan Wing Kee. The roles of
the Chairman of the Board and the Managing Director of the Company
are separated, with a clear division of responsibilities. The Chairman
of the Board is responsible for formulating corporate strategies and
overall business development planning. The Managing Director’s duty
is to oversee the execution of daily business activities. The division of
responsibilities at the Board level is to ensure a balance of power and
authority.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to code provision A.6.5 of the Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant. The Company should be
responsible for arranging and funding suitable training, placing an
appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of the directors.
The Company provides tailored induction programme to new director
upon his appointment to equip him with the appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Group and to ensure that he is fully
aware of his responsibilities and obligations under the relevant law and
the Listing Rules.

During the year, the Company organized one in-house seminar to update
the Directors on the new amendments to the corporate governance code
and relevant Listing Rules. The Company circulates materials relating to
the legislative and regulatory environment to the directors on a regular
basis for their information. The Company also encourages Directors to
attend relevant seminars, conferences or forums to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. During the year, all directors participated in
continuous professional development in compliance with code provision
A.6.5 of the Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRSE

DIRECTORS’ INSURANCE

During the year, the Company has arranged for the renewal of an
insurance policy on directors’ and officers’ liability to ensure our directors
and senior management are protected from any liability arising from the
performance of their duties.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management
Committee, each with mandate to oversee particular aspects of the
affairs of the Company. Each of these four Board committees is set up
with written terms of reference. The Board committees are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstance at the
expenses of the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written terms
of reference. As at 31 March 2020, the Audit Committee comprises four
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Lin Keping, Mr. Choi
Ting Ki, Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming. Subsequent
to the resignation of Mr. Lin Keping with effect from 16 April 2020, the
Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive directors,
including, Mr. Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li
Guangming. It is chaired by Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung. The members’
attendance to the Audit Committee meeting is listed out on page 20.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for monitoring the integrity
of the Company’s financial statements, reviewing the Company’s
internal control system and its execution through the review of the work
undertaken by the internal and external auditors, evaluating financial
information and related disclosure, reviewing connected transactions and
considering the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, and
their training programmes and budget.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Audit Committee has, inter
alia, reviewed and discussed with management and the external auditor
the interim and annual results with a view to ensuring that the Group’s
financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. The Audit Committee has
met with external auditor twice a year, in the absence of management,
to discuss any issues arising from the audit and any other matters the
auditor may wish to raise. The Audit Committee has also reviewed the
independence and quality of work of KPMG and has recommended to
the Board to re-appoint KPMG as auditor for the year ending 31 March
2021.

During the year, the Board has not taken any view that is different from
that of the Audit Committee nor rejected any recommendation presented
by the Audit Committee.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRSE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2020, the Remuneration Committee comprises two
executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and Mr. Chan
Wing Kee, and four independent non-executive directors, namely
Mr. Lin Keping, Mr. Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung and
Mr. Li Guangming. It was chaired by Mr. Lin Keping. Subsequent to
the resignation of Mr. Lin Keping with effect from 16 April 2020, the
Remuneration Committee comprises of Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter,
Mr. Chan Wing Kee, Mr. Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung and
Mr. Li Guangming and is chaired by Mr. Li Guangming. The members’
attendance to the Remuneration Committee meeting is listed out on page
20.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring formal
and transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies
and in overseeing remuneration packages of the directors. It makes
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive directors and senior management. It takes into
consideration factors such as salaries and compensation packages paid
by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
directors. It would also take into account whether the emoluments offered
are appropriate given the duties and performance of the respective
individuals concerned and whether such emoluments are competitive and
sufficiently attractive to retain such individuals.

Details of the directors’ emoluments are set out in note 6 to the financial
statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2020, the Nomination Committee comprises two
executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and Mr. Chan
Wing Kee, and four independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Lin
Keping, Mr. Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li
Guangming. Subsequent to the resignation of Mr. Lin Keping with effect
from 16 April 2020, the Nomination Committee comprises of Mr. Chan
Wing Fui, Peter, Mr. Chan Wing Kee, Mr. Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So Stephen
Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming. It is chaired by Mr. Choi Ting Ki. The
members’ attendance to the Nomination Committee meeting is listed out
on page 20.

The roles of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board, identify individuals suitably qualified
to become members of the Board, and assess the independence of
independent non-executive directors and make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and re-election of directors and succession
planning for directors, in particular the chairman and the managing
director. The Nomination Committee will consider the suitability of the
candidate on the basis of his professional qualification, skills, experience
and background.

The Nomination Committee has adopted a Board Diversity Policy
(“Policy”) which sets out a policy of considering a number of factors
when deciding on appointments to the Board and the continuation of
those appointments, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and industry and regional experience. The ultimate decision will be based
on merit and contribution (considering factors like skills, knowledge and
experience) that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRSE

The Board noted that the measurable objectives have been set for
achieving diversity on the Board. In addition, the Board is satisfied that
its composition is appropriate being considered the skills, experience and
attributes of the Directors. The Nomination Committee of the Company
will monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and review
the policy as appropriate.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Nomination Committee
performed the following work:

() reviewed the structure, size, composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) and diversity, and the Board diversity
policy of the Board;

(i) assessed the independence of INEDs;

(i) made recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
re-appointment of Director; and

(iv) reviewed the directors nomination policy of the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Risk Management Committee comprises four executive directors,
namely Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter, Mr. Chan Wing Kee, Ms. Chan Suk
Man and Mr. So Ying Woon, Alan. It is chaired by Mr. Chan Wing Fui,
Peter. The members’ attendance to the Risk Management Committee
meeting is listed out on page 20.

The purpose of the Committee is to oversee the overall design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and the internal
control systems of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) and to advise the Board on the Group’s risk-related matters.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has established a Dividend Policy which was adopted by
the Board to set out the guidelines for the Board to determine (i) whether
dividends are to be declared and paid; and (i) the level of the dividend to
be paid to the shareholders. It is the policy to allow the shareholders to
participate in the Company’s profits whilst to retain adequate reserves for
future growth.

The Board shall consider the following factors before declaring or
recommending dividends:

()  financial results;

(i)  cash flow situation;

(i)  business conditions and strategies;

(iv) future operations and earnings;

(v) capital requirements and expenditure plans;
(vi) interests of shareholders;

(vii) any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

(viii) any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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EXERRSE

The declaration and payment of dividends shall remain to be determined
at the sole discretion of the Board and subject to the Articles of
Association of the Company and all applicable laws and regulations.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves the
right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify
the Dividend Policy at any time. The Dividend Policy shall in no way
constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company that dividends
will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the
Company to declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

EMOLUMENTS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management of the Group comprises 5 individuals. Details of
backgrounds and qualifications of each senior executive are set out in the
section of “Directors and Management”.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the emoluments of the senior
management of the Group fell within the following bands:
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Number of senior executives
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Emoluments 4
HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 07 5t 21,000,000 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 # 5t 22,000,000 7€ 4
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements are
prepared in accordance with all relevant statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards.

The statement of external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities of the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 32 to 38.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, total auditors’ remuneration in relation to statutory audit
work of the Group amounted to HK$1,770,000 (2019: HK$1,832,000),
of which a sum of HK$1,721,000 (2019: HK$1,740,000) was paid or
payable to the Group’s principal auditors, KPMG.

The remunerations paid or payable to the Group’s principal auditor,
KPMG and its affiliated firms, for services rendered in statutory audit and
non-audit were HK$1,721,000 (2019: HK$1,740,000) and HK$434,000
(2019: HK$407,000) respectively. The non-audit services principally
comprise tax and internal control review services provided to the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRSE

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a Securities Dealing Code regarding
director’s securities transactions on terms no less exacting than required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules. All directors have confirmed, upon specific enquiry by
the Company, that they have complied with the required standard set out
in the Model Code and the Securities Dealing Code throughout the year
under review.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has an overall responsibility for the risk management
framework, and for determining the significant risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Company’s objectives. Audit Committee is delegated with
overseeing the effectiveness of internal control and risk management,
while management is responsible for the design, implementation and
monitoring of such systems. The Risk Management Committee is
responsible for coordinating risk management activities, and to report at
least annually to the Board. However, the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Our approach to manage risks involves identification and assessment
of principal risks from the external and internal environments at different
organisation levels. The assessment considers the changes in nature and
extent of significant risks and the Group’s ability to respond to changes
in its business and the external environment. Action plans have been
developed and risk ownership has been assigned for each key principal
risk. The risk owners coordinate the mitigation measures to ensure proper
implementation of these action plans. The process is closely monitored
by the Risk Management Committee.

Taken into consideration the principal risks and mitigation actions, the
Board believes that the Company has the ability to respond to any such
changes in our business and the external environment, and considers
that the Group’s risk management and internal control system was
effective and adequate.

Regarding the disclosure of inside information, the Board had
implemented procedures and internal controls for handling and
dissemination of inside information so that potential inside information
can be promptly identified and escalated up for deciding whether an
announcement should be made in order to ensure compliance with
the continuous obligations under the Listing Rules and the statutory
obligation to disclose information under the SFO.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

During the year under review, the Board has engaged an external
consultant to perform internal audit services. The external consultant has
assisted the Group to perform a review of the effectiveness of internal
controls system for certain selected processes. The assessment results
and proposed improvement opportunities were discussed and agreed
with Management and were reported to the Audit Committee.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and has
day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Company Secretary
is responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman and/or the
Vice Chairman on governance matters and also facilitates the induction
and professional development of directors. The Company Secretary
also keeps proper records of all Board and Committee meetings.
The biography of the Company Secretary is set out on page 31. The
Company Secretary has undertaken no less than 15 hours of professional
training during the year.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting
(“EGM”)

Article 67 of the articles of association of the Company provides that
an extraordinary general meeting shall be convened on requisition, as
provided by the Companies Ordinance. According to section 566 of the
Companies Ordinance, the directors of the Company are required to
call a general meeting if the Company has received requests to do so
from shareholders representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all
shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings of the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at EGM

Pursuant to section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, the request for
a general meeting must state the general nature of the business to be
dealt with at the meeting and may include the text of a resolution that
may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting. The
request may be sent to the Company in hard copy form at the registered
office of the Company or in electronic form at cs_info@ygm.com.hk
and must be authenticated by the requisitionist(s). The directors must
call a general meeting within 21 days after the date of the receipt of the
requests to do so. The meeting called must be held on a date not more
than 28 days after the date of the notice convening the meeting.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board through the
Company Secretary who will direct the enquiries to the Board for
handling. The contact details of the Company Secretary are as follows:

The Company Secretary
Yangtzekiang Garment Limited
22 Tai Yau Street

San Po Kong

Kowloon

Hong Kong

E-Mail: cs_info@ygm.com.hk
Telephone: (852) 2327 5111
Facsimile: (852) 2352 2286

Changes in the Company’s constitutional documents

No amendments are made to the articles of association of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2020.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT
EEREEAE

DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Chan Wing Fui, Peter, MA

Aged 74, Mr. Chan received a Master’s degree in Administrative Science
from Yale University, USA in 1969 and joined the Group in the same
year. He was appointed as Director and Managing Director in 1971 and
1980 respectively and Vice Chairman of the board of directors in 1987.
Mr. Chan is at present the Chairman of the board of directors and has
held directorships in a number of subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Chan
was the Chairman of the board of directors of YGM Trading Limited from
2010 to 2015, and is at present the executive director of YGM Trading
Limited. Mr. Chan has extensive experience in garment manufacturing
and marketing in the Far East and the USA.

Chan Wing Kee, GBM, GBS, OBE, JP

Aged 73, Mr. Chan received a Bachelor’s degree in Industrial Engineering
in 1970 from Purdue University. He has been the Managing Director
of the Company since 1987. He is also an Executive Director of YGM
Trading Limited and an Independent Non-executive Director of Kingboard
Holdings Limited. Mr. Chan had participated in many textile negotiations
with the USA and Europe for Hong Kong and Macau. He used to be a
Standing Committee Member of The 10th, 11th and 12th of The Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference; Deputy of the 8th and 9th
National People’s Congress of China, Ex-member of Commission on
Strategic Development of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region;
Ex-member of Economic Council of Macau Special Administrative
Region; Ex-member of the Textile Advisory Board of Hong Kong; Ex-
Committee Member of the Preparatory Committee for Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region and Ex-Advisor of Hong Kong Affairs.

Chan Wing To, PhD

Aged 69, Mr. Chan joined YGM Singapore in 1978. He was appointed
as Executive Director of the Group in 1983. Mr. Chan was an Executive
Director of YGM Trading Ltd from November 1987 to April 2020.
Mr. Chan received a Doctor of Philosophy degree in economics from the
University of Rochester, USA in 1978. He has extensive experience in the
textile and garment business.

Chan Suk Man, MSc

Aged 72, Ms. Chan received Master of Science Degrees from the
University of Windsor, Canada in 1973 and Case Western Reserve
University USA in 1975. Madam Chan joined the Group in 1976 and was
appointed as Executive Director in 1993.

Bt ok 25

£ R > BRSE A — JL N LA 3R B HE O
BRPR AT BUE PR AR B o IR ] 4F AR
Ml WA —NE—FER—NNTFEEE
ER#ER R ERALH R — UL A
EHGH EN  BELBAEREGER > M
EARELEHBAMEAFNESR - PREEER -F
—RAERE DX TN B EYGME 5 A R A
AERGEN > KBAYGME 5 A RAFZH
FTH# 3 o B SE AR R T A B 3R B 2 AR B S i
e A Bz 2 KEE o

Bt & L

£ =0 BOE A — JL b A R 2R
BTRTRELEN - A —JUNEHFEEIEE
ANFEERGH - IR BYGME 5 A RAF
HOEELEEEBARL A B IFHRITE
oo BRSE A £ R 2 BRSO B IR 2 T 2 BT A
b R o PR AE AR N RICANEN S+
Ft—lm Rt T E e B R R hIE
PNE R L ANE DS pINE R DN PN
AR 5 A R A AT B U SRS 3% & B
ZH ATRMART R ERRE B TR A
TN ST ACERE M Z B e & B A R A
T8 3 % B & B B B e A v
5 A ) o

Bl K i

NI o BEE A TR — LB VRN A I R
VLo 3 — JUN Z AR T AT B AR B AT &
FopEERN—TINLET—HE_F %
PUH M EYGME 5 A RN A BT HEF -
R 5 4 i — Ju B VAR 15 3% B University of
Rochester i 25 46 i 18 1 B2 07 > B o A= % %05 4k o
B A ETS A 1z 2 5B o

) Bl I3

Lt oML ARl R — Lt =R
— JL& HAE #4505 K University of Windsor &
% M Case Western Reserve University # 5} if
B B LR — L ANEMAARER - I
M= NN =R /RATES -

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
ANNUAL REPORT 2020 £ $k



DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT
ESENREEAER

Chan Wing Sun, Samuel

Aged 72, Mr. Chan received a Bachelor's degree from University of
Manchester, the United Kingdom in 1970 and qualified as a Chartered
Accountant in 1973. He was the Company Secretary of the Group from
1974 to 1988 and has been an Executive Director since 1977. Mr. Chan
was the Managing Director of YGM Trading Limited from 1987 to 2006
and the Chief Executive Officer of YGM Trading Limited from 2006 to
2010. He was the Vice Chairman of the board of directors of YGM
Trading Limited from 2010 and was re-designated as the Chairman of
board of directors of YGM Trading Limited in September 2015. Mr. Chan
has been the Chairman of the board of directors of Crater Gold Mining
Limited, whose shares are listed on Australian Securities Exchange, since
2013.

So Ying Woon, Alan

Aged 70, Mr. So received a Bachelor's degree from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 1974. Mr. So joined the Group in 1974 and
was promoted to the position of Sales Manager in 1976. He has been
the General Manager since 1993. Mr. So was appointed as Executive
Director of the Company in 2005.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Choi Ting Ki

Aged 65, is a felow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. In 1978, Mr. Choi graduated from the Department of
Accounting of the Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University). He joined KPMG in the same year and has
held various positions, including Partner of the audit department of KPMG
Hong Kong Office, Managing Partner of KPMG Shanghai Office, Senior
Partner of KPMG Huazhen Shanghai Office as well as Senior Partner
of KPMG Huazhen in Eastern and Western China. Mr. Choi retired
from KPMG Huazhen in April 2010. Mr. Choi has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since December 2012. Mr. Choi
is also an Independent Non-executive Director of YGM Trading Limited.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT
EEREEAE

So Stephen Hon Cheung

Aged 64, has been a director of an accounting firm T.M Ho, So & Leung
CPA Limited since August 2003. Currently, he is the chief financial
officer and company secretary of Ying Kee Tea House Group Limited
(stock code: 8241). He has extensive experience in the commercial
sector of manufacturing, wholesale and trading and in public practice
working for various companies in Hong Kong, China and Canada. He
holds a bachelor’s degree in commerce from the University of British
Columbia, Canada. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada and a member of the Society of Certified
Management Accountants of Canada. Mr. So has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company and YGM Trading Limited (stock
code: 375) since September 2017, Pinestone Capital Limited (stock
code: 804) since May 2015 and PINE Technology Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1079) since September 2002. Mr. So was an independent
non-executive director of Milan Station Holdings Limited (stock code:
1150) from May 2011 to February 2017 and Teamway International
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1239) from August 2017 to June
2019.

Li Guangming

Aged 68, Mr. Li was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in January 2018. He was appointed as deputy
chief of No. 1 Cotton Textile Factory of Wuxi City in July 1984 and chief
of factory in February 1991. He has held various positions in Wuxi City
Guolian Development (Group) Company Limited and its subsidiaries.
Among other things, he was appointed as the general manager of
Wuxi Guolian Textile Group Company Limited (now known as Wuxi
No.1 Cotton Textile Group Company Limited) in October 2005, and
subsequently served as the chairman of its board until December 2014.
He had also held various management roles in Wuxi No. 1 Cotton
Investment Co., Ltd. (a joint venture held as to 49% by the Company) and
its subsidiaries up to June 2015. Mr. Li graduated from Wuxi Professional
University (now known as Jiangnan University) and was a member
of the Standing Committee of Wuxi Municipal People’s Congress of
the People’s Republic of China. He also has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of YGM Trading Limited (stock code: 375) since
January 2018.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT
ESENREEAER

Directors’ relationship with other Directors, senior management,
substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company

Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter, Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel and Madam Chan
Suk Ling, Shirley are siblings.

Mr. Chan Wing Kee, Mr. Chan Wing To and Madam Chan Suk Man are
siblings. They are also the cousins of Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter, Mr. Chan
Wing Sun, Samuel and Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley. Madam Chan
Suk Man is the wife of Mr. Lau Shing Choy.

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors do not have any relationship
with other Directors, senior management, substantial or controlling
Shareholders of the Company.

MANAGEMENT

Lau Shing Choy

Aged 72, Mr. Lau received a Bachelor’'s degree from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 1969, and a Doctor of Philosophy Degree
from Case Western Reserve University, USA in 1978. Mr. Lau joined the
Group in 1978 to develop the China business. He is the Director of Hong
Kong Knitters Limited.

Leung Ming Wai, Alan

Aged 62, Mr. Leung is the General Manager of Sales Department and
obtained the diploma in Management Studies at Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and Master Degree in Business Administration at University of
Macau. He joined the Company as Sales Manager in 1986.

Yung Chor Yin, Margaret

Aged 56, is the General Manager of Sales Department and received
a Bachelor’s degree from RMIT University and a Master’'s degree in
Business Administration from Hong Kong Polytechnic University. She
joined the Company in 1985.

Yip Chung On

Aged 57, Mr. Yip is the General Manager of Sales Department. Mr. Yip
joined the Company in 1982, and was promoted to Sales Manager in
1989. With wide range of both woven and knit experience in garment
sourcing and merchandizing, he was appointed as General Manager in
2005.

Hui Sau Ling

Aged 54, is the Financial Controller and Company Secretary of the
Group. She joined the Group in 2000 and has extensive experience in
auditing, accounting, treasury and company secretarial work. She is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BY % BE RS

KPMG'

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
MEMBERS OF YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yangtzekiang
Garment Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set
out on pages 39 to 125, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2020, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2020 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 3 B BAD R S

ASSESSING IMPAIRMENT OF OTHER PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

WER AR ~ WG B st i 0 WAEL

Refer to note 11(e) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(1).

i B ARG TR A M GE11(e) R & al BAF(I) -

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
LS HE

HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN OUR AUDIT
FRA" v A s 8 B P

In view of the losses sustained by the factories in Guigang,
China and Bangladesh of the Group during the current year,
management considered that indicators of impairment of
other property, plant and equipment existed as at 31 March
2020.

S AR LA B B N L TR AR K Bk A
# é&zﬁgigiﬁ A=+—H  EHERAHMYE -
5 A T RE H BLIEL B 52 -

In assessing whether impairment existed at the reporting
date, management determined the recoverable amounts of
the smallest cash generating units (“CGUs”) to which these
assets were allocated. The recoverable amount of a CGU is
the greater of its value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal of the related assets.

TERPA W B A AE A A T HIRY - 78 g e 5 55 7 0 I
o JE 4 /N B 4 A AL 2 Wi (] S o R A T W [P] E
A EC {060 2 8 {1 Bl A T 85 ) o o SR 2

In order to determine the recoverable amounts of the
CGUs for which indicators of impairment were identified,
management prepared value in use calculations using
discounted cash flow forecasts. Based on the assessments,
the Group recognised impairment losses of HK$14.6 million
for the year ended 31 March 2020.

R DL E I Ry > B LB G A A B 2 TR BB
TEBFH S LA MR - TRl el Wi ] R o ARARRTAS 0 B
EEPREE T RFEZA =+ — H LR BE R 1R
14,600,000 #JC °

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of other
property, plant and equipment included the following:

FAMAE TG A 3 ~ WS BB B o R T AT %
nf*ﬂir~

e challenging the Group’s impairment assessment
model, which included assessing the impairment
indicators identified by management, the
identification of CGUs and the allocation
of assets to the CGUs and assessing the
impairment assessment models with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting

standards;
W B A R AT R AR R B T B RN
MBEIIIMETF S - B AN 2 R R H g

ERTH > U RSE BT EHEN 2 ZORFE  BEE
Z BUERTAGHAY 5

e challenging the key assumptions adopted by
management in the preparation of the discounted
cash flow forecasts by comparing the most
significant inputs in the discounted cash flow
forecasts, including future revenue and cost of
direct materials, staff costs and fixed costs, with
the historical performance of the relevant CGUs
and the most recent financial budgets approved
by the board of directors, industry reports and
other available third party information;

S BT AL A S B B < T T AR e 2 R
& R Sl T BUB i T B P A A B -
TERACH S AR A ~ B AR B R A
SRLBE 4 728 AR 0L 1) R S0 3R B B ol W e MR
SRS TR ~ T3ty MOHAMER =05 ] el AR P

e comparing the key assumptions included in
the discounted cash flow forecast prepared by
management in the prior year with the current year’s
performance to assess the accuracy of the prior year’s
forecast and making enquiries of management as to
the reasons for any significant variations identified and
whether these had been considered in the current
discounted cash flow forecasts;

A LA 47 B2 4 2L sl A 5 S BB < DR TR T A o 2
IR SRR B3 B AR 4 JBE 119 2 B LA L 2 DA A 1 4F BE 19
TR 1 YR > SN A 7B B AT Ar] o K 25 B A% SR LA
B AR 2 OB B SR EHNE R O 5 B ZE R R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 M B BR8] S

ASSESSING IMPAIRMENT OF OTHER PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

WER AR - WP Bt WA (40)

Refer to note 11(e) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(1).

Wi B ARG TR A GE11(e) R & al BAF1(1) -

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
LS

HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN OUR AUDIT
FRAM w4 A o B P

The discounted cash flow forecasts used to assess
impairment were based on a number of assumptions which
required the exercise of significant management judgement,
in particular in estimating future revenue and cost of direct
materials, staff costs and fixed costs and the discount rate
applied.

JH AR S A 9ok (D 10 2 S8 B0 B <6 7 0 0 AR ¢ 3 5 5 10 MR
B o LG 6 A WU ATt R A B o L R R AR B
B BRI AS ~ BT A B[ RE AR DL B 2 i B

We identified assessing impairment of other property, plant
and equipment as a key audit matter because of the potential
significance of any impairment charge to the results of the
Group for the year and because forecasting future cash
flows can be inherently subjective and requires significant
management judgement and estimation which increases the
risk of error or potential management bias.

FAM 7 A AW 2~ RS B SO I R 5 J BR oE E RE
F > B AEE S A WA AR A
R E B I EORARBLE WA TN AR ) 2] e
FeAE BA EBUE R H B R B R A s 3 T g
i BT TE A T i i 1) LR o

e assessing the discount rates applied in the discounted
cash flow forecasts by referencing to available financial
information of other listed companies in the same
industry and considering region and CGU specific risk
premiums;

275 MR AT 200 Ho A b T 2> F) A B A > REAG T
P EL 0 B B < U R B A G BT - 35 R b [ DL % B
<A AR B Y L B v

° performing a sensitivity analysis of the discount rates,
revenue, cost of direct materials and staff costs
growth rates in the discounted cash flow forecasts and
considering the resulting impact on the impairment
charge for the year and whether there were any
indicators of management bias; and

BEHBL S R P R B - A HEAR A
Ko B T A R B AT U E 20 > 1075 58 T 45 & i
A T WA B T AR R B > DL RO A A
SR B R 5 K

e assessing the disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the assessments of impairment
of other property, plant and equipment with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting standards.

ST TSN 2 TR + 005 2 B o B
R SR PR TR WL % -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 3 B BAD R S

ASSESSING POTENTIAL IMPAIRMENT OF INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

WA 5 8 A2 1 TR A WAL

Refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(l).

R E TR M 14K & 7B A (])

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
LS HE

HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN OUR AUDIT
FRA" v A s 8 B P

The carrying value of the Group’s interests in joint ventures
amounted to HK$488,657,000 as at 31 March 2020. The
principal activities of the joint ventures are manufacturing
and sale of garments and textiles. Given the losses suffered
by the joint ventures in the current year, management
considered that indicators of potential impairment of interests
in joint ventures existed as at 31 March 2020.

BECZEZE=ZA=+—H,> HEENGESERIN
R T {H 4% 488,657,000 W IC » S22 FEFEHHR R X
BB UK B Hi Rk o BN A RN BT > R
FoFEZA =+ —H o GRBR LSS R S A W
e

In assessing whether there was any impairment of the
carrying value of the interests in joint ventures, management
determined the recoverable amounts based on the fair value
less costs of disposal model by considering the fair values
of the key underlying assets of the joint ventures, which
included land use rights and buildings.

TE A 588 A 6 B £ 1) JHR T (BLR 5 A7 AE S (ELIR > A 2 25 I
B AN E T B A PR AR > R LA T M A
T A LA TR (A I B A 7 AT i ] 2

Assessing the fair value of these assets involves significant
management judgement, particularly in determining
asset-specific adjustment factors and the choice of market
comparable transactions.

T % 5 L I O TR (B S L 1 TR B - U T
R R R R R SR T A vl LR

We identified assessing potential impairment of interests
in joint ventures as a key audit matter because of its
significance to the consolidated financial statements and
because assessing the key impairment assumptions involves
a significant degree of management judgement which may
affect both the carrying value of the Group’s interests in joint
ventures as well as any impairment charge for the year.

TAMCRPAG & 2 S RE 2 19T TE WL (L8] 2 B SR i w20
Ty OB A PSR I EOC B T LA A S B R
WRARKAZE BB T > bR RERRE
A S A Y PR TR (L DA B AR A B2 114 ol (L R

Our audit procedures to assess the potential impairment of
interests in joint ventures included the following:

AL RPAG & A M TELE BUE RS - SR T LUT st T

e assessing the appropriateness of using the fair
value less costs of disposal model as the basis for
determining the recoverable amounts and evaluating the
mathematical accuracy of the model used to estimate
the fair value less costs of disposal;

RREDASEE Y A9r e S () i E I mE+.
() SE RS L > DA K AT A A P (B B 5 0
B AA WG L R YRR

o involving our internal valuation specialists to compare
the fair values of the joint ventures’ land use rights
and buildings, as assessed by management, with
our independently formed market expectations
with reference to the market transaction prices or
replacement cost for comparable assets adjusted for
certain asset-specific adjustment factors, including
the physical condition of the assets, the dates of the
reference transactions and the anticipated remaining
useful life; and

ZeRCHAM B BT A (A 5K - o B AN A ARG 36 5
A 36 2 M RE R M T A P (o B 2 I
AT L T A oy (B A B B RAS - AR R
FOE R R R AR T R A R RO
2 WRAZ 5y ) 310 T 300 1) ) B ok PRS0 R R T 45 e 19
T SL TG TE I AR HO 5 K

e  assessing the relevant taxation implications in Mainland
China where the joint ventures operate upon disposal of
land use rights and buildings of the joint ventures with
reference to the relevant prevailing tax regulations in
Mainland China.

53 (o o SR Mo B B AR BB T BB 1
A A B A B T 5 B B
B
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BY ZBERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e  FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
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e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’'s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheng Mei Yan Hilary.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

29 June 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

REEER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BHE_Z-TF=HA=+—HILFE (L&)

2020 2019
TR OB ZE A
(Note)
(KtaE)
Note $’000 $’000
it 7 T Tz
Revenue WA 2&10 656,212 717,614
Cost of sales B A (545,142) (585,030)
Gross profit TH 111,070 132,584
Other income FoAb i 2 3 10,994 8,733
Selling and distribution expenses S I s A (43,823) (49,777)
Administrative expenses T (57,721) (61,168)
Other operating expenses HoAth 58 7% 2 (17,154) (14,113)
Profit from operations feg=ary | 3,366 16,259
Finance costs il AR 4(a) (4,248) (3,506)
Share of (losses)/profits of joint ventures JEAG A2 (R, F (24,295) 12,007
Impairment losses on other property, HAbY % - WFE K&
plant and equipment A (B 15 11(e) (14,627) (5,170)
Net valuation (losses)/gains on investment BB EMME (&),
properties TR 11(a) (10,616) 3,361
(Loss)/profit before taxation B BEni (), kAl 4 (50,420) 22,951
Income tax 15 B 5(a) (366) (2,650)
(Loss)/profit for the year AAR P R) B A (50,786) 20,301
Attributable to: M 58 S
Equity shareholders of the Company AN T RREREE A (51,009) 22,062
Non-controlling interests IE i 11 e AR 2 223 (1,761)
(Loss)/profit for the year AAE B (N R) B A (50,786) 20,301
(Loss)/earnings per share BB O i),/ A
Basic and diluted RS K M 9 ($0.25) $0.11

Note:  The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is
not restated. See note 1(c).

Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company
attributable to the year are set out in note 25(b)(i). The notes on pages 45
to 125 form part of these financial statements.

Mgk o AREECH =F - JUFENA — R AR E ETIE ¥
TR YR 1 A U S I TR R S 169 o 4R AT el
Fk s WEERATES - Z2RME1C) -

JEASE AR N ) B R AR A N AR A B R S R A R
B 5E25(b)(i) - SH45H £ 125H [ M 55 i 4 B 7%
Wk — Mo
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REBEaREMEZEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BHE_Z-TF=H=+—HILFE (L&)

2020 2019
TR TR R
(Note)
(KtaE)
Note $°000 $’000
Bt N For
(LossVprofitfortheyear A&EOER) ®WN  (60786) 20,301
Other comprehensive income AR AP B il 2 i B 2%
for the year (after tax and (FBRBEIE B 43 350k e %)
reclassification adjustments)
Items that will not be reclassified AR E W E I HE
subsequently to profit or loss: fHar H9HH -
Equity investments at fair value through 75 308 LAt 4 T WAL A A TAE
other comprehensive income: B A MR Y I RE 385 5 1% 4
net movement in the investment revaluation P& E AL 2 BT OF
reserve (non-recycling) AT ] (44) 1,037
Items that are or may be reclassified FRHE A ] R
subsequently to profit or loss: FEEmIHEA
Exchange differences on translation of: e 58, 22 41
— financial statements of subsidiaries — Y s S A B B A
outside Hong Kong B R 2= (5,034) (6,884)
— share of joint ventures’ net assets - BRI A S EEE
FE (32,673) (36,896)
(37,707) (43,780)
Release of exchange reserve upon B B 2 W IR )
deregistration of subsidiaries ZET I S04 (1,052) -
Release of exchange reserve upon L — i 2 D RE A Iy
disposal of interest in an associate 5% ] 2 551 e o £t i - (55)
Cash flow hedges: net movement in Bla i E i o E R
the hedging reserve BT - 2,255
Other comprehensive income for the year AFREHMb s (38803) (40,543)
Total comprehensive income for the year  Z4F Ji§ 4 Thi Wi 2% 48 %1 (89,589) (20,242)
Attributable to: W 358 B Y
Equity shareholders of the Company Ay F R N (90,270) (18,438)
Non-controlling interests FE 122 1% % AR 4 681 (1,804)
Total comprehensive income for the year 745 B 4 1iij Wit %3 48 %1 (89,589) (20,242)

Note:

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using the modified

retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is

not restated. See note 1(c).

The notes on pages 45 to 125 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BBk &

At 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

MR-B-FE=A=+—8 (L&)

2020 2019
TRORA SR U
(Note)
(Kt it
Note $°000 $’000
Mt it T T
Non-current assets R ) %
Investment properties gL/ E 11 229,989 242 239
Other property, plant and equipment HAbW2E - W7 Bk 11 58,487 54,761
Interest in leasehold land held for own use Pl 8 M 2 AL L s 2 11 1,154 1,292
289,630 298,292
Intangible assets IV EE 12 2,890 2,985
Interests in joint ventures HrE RS 14 488,657 546,154
Other financial assets Hoph 4 fil & 15 19,878 20,011
. 801,055 =~ = 867,442
Current assets Ui B A
Inventories & 16 51,245 69,177
Trade and other receivables JRRE WA R 3 S LAt JRE WALk 17 119,181 98,375
Current tax recoverable AT ] A A o 1E 23(a) 378 347
Cash at bank and in hand SRAT A B 4 18(a) 272,451 323,769
. 443255 491668
Current liabilities Ui ) £1 4
Trade and other payables BB AT TR e LAt JEE A+ 3k 19 73,150 84,690
Contract liabilities H# Ak 20 4,745 4,952
Lease liabilities & A fE 21 4,099 -
Current tax payable JREAST A 1A Aol T 23(a) 7,340 14,709
oo e eeememeceiecceiiceciceceeeeeeeeeeeo.. R 89,334 . 104,351
Netcurrentassets .. We¥&ESs 353921 887317
Total assets less current liabilities B e A B A A 1,154,976 1,254,759

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R 5 BB R O &R

At 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
R-ZB-ZF=A=+—8 (L&)

2020 2019
TR R SR U
(Note)
(K7
Note $’000 $’000
bt 7t T FC
Non-current liabilities R B £1 4%
Provision for long service payments AR S 1Al 24 24,339 23,498
Lease liabilities EN= =i 21 13,864 =
Deferred tax liabilities R SiE ol THL B i 23(b)(ii) 16,035 16,516
T 54,238 .- 40,014
NET ASSETS ¥ e A 1,100,738 1,214,745
CAPITAL AND RESERVES WA B A
Share capital lil&S 25(c) 208,418 208,418
Reserves fitithi 893,148 1,008,228
Total equity attributable to equity W 485 K R A 2 i) D e
shareholders of the Company e ARELR 1,101,566 1,216,646
Non-controlling interests I ¥ B JBe R HE 2% (828) (1,901)
TOTAL EQUITY HE 25 B8 % 1,100,738 1,214,745
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 June #H G N - F “FHEANH Z+ L H Bk L #%

2020.

Chan Wing Fui, Peter
Chairman

Chan Wing Kee
Managing Director

Note:  The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is

not restated. See note 1(c).

The notes on pages 45 to 125 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERB R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BRE-F-TE=A=+—BILTE LUETH)

Investment Land and
Goodwil  revaluation buildings Non-
Share  Exchange arising on reserve  revaluation Hedging Other Retained controlling Total
capital reserve  consolidation (non-recycling) resene reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
BOkER  ThEE  LARET FRRRR
Rk BB REZER CRWHEE)  EREE HWEE O TERE  REEA i B
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
7z 7z 7z 7z r 7 7 7z 7z 7z 7z
Note (note 25(c)  (note 25(0)) (note 25(a)fi)  (note 25(a)fil)  (note 25(cfiy)  (note 25(c)) (note)
W e (W) W50 (RG22 W
Balance at 1 April 2018 REF- M- 2 4k 28418 134434 @174 13429 31670 (2.259) 72% 911263 1262221 1280 1263460
Changes in equity forthe year: 4 T lE& %) :
Proft{oss) for the year KGR/ (BR) - - - - - - - 2,062 2,062 (1,761) 20301
Other comprefensive income A2k 8 - (#3792) - 1087 - 225 - - 40500 (%) {40549
Total comprehensive income Bt - 63792) = 1087 = 225 = 2,062 (18.439) (1,804 20242)
Acquistion of non-controling - MB A R ER
interest of a subsidiary - (440) - - - - - (1,887) 2.3 (1,336) (3,663
Dividends approved in respect HER E AR
tepeiosr BORL_____. S - - - - = SRR T I S B0,
Balance at 31 March 2019 REB-NEZA - N 2AH 28418 VA2 {74 46 31810 - 7% w668 121664 (1901) 1214745
Changes in equity forthe year: %W H%%H :
(Loss)/proft for the year KR (BR) = = = - - - - (51,009 (51,009 20 (50,786)
Other comprehensive income HhamRE 8 - (39217) - 4 - - - - (39.261) 458 38809)
Total comprehensive income AMREAH = (39217) - (4 - - - (51,009 (%0.270) 681 (89,589)
Captal contrbution from FERRAAARA
non-controling inferests - - - - - - - - - 392 392
Diicends approved n respect ML E RS
Oepeiowsyer . o0 . . . . . . U 5L 511 L. k0
Balance at 31 March 2020 REBZREZAZA-1
2k 28418 50985 (#2174 14422 31870 - 2% 8080 1,101,566 (628 1100738
Note:  The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using the modified

retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is

not restated. See note 1(c).

The notes on pages 45 to 125 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

GERTRER

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_ZT-_TF=A=+—HItFE (KB
2020 2019
TR R ZE LA
(Note)
(Bt 7E)
Note $’000 $000
B 7t T Tz
Operating activities BN
Cash (used in)/generated from operations %645 2% (i ) /i f5 3 42 18(b) (9,941) 41,460
Tax paid E AT BLIE (6,891) (3,824)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEWHORH),
__Operating activities ] paRew® ... (esw 87,636
Investing activities B35 W)
Payment for the purchase of other B A 2E - W &
property, plant and equipment BN (4,030) (7,098)
Proceeds from disposals of other A 2E - MR K&
property, plant and equipment S AR T A5 H 50 224
Interest received B FLE 3,250 2,731
Payment for acquisition of 05 Mg — o Je 2 )
non-controlling interest of a subsidiary FE 5 A 25 45 3¢ 13(b) - (3,663)
Capital contribution from non-controlling I A A
interests 392 —
Dividends received from equity securities . Wit AR HE w5 75 2 B 501 776
Decrease in restricted bank deposits Z BRI $RAT A7 3 D 18(a) 112 4,248
Net cash generated from/(used in) BHEBHHE M)
investing activities B & 275 (2,782)
Financing activities Tl 6 3% By
Capital element of lease rentals paid BB 4 2 EA TG 18(c) (4,402) -
Interest element of lease rentals paid B E 4 2 FLE B 18(c) (1,670) -
Interest paid 2T FLE (2,578) (3,158)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders AT AL ] A
of the Company B AR (24,810) (24,810)
Net cash used in financing activities WY REWH (83460 (27,968)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BL& R BLE S (L),
cash equivalents B4 I i3 % (50,017) 6,886
Cash and cash equivalents at R Z B4 K
the beginning of the year BRE%mWM 18(a) 323,657 318,752
Effect of foreign exchange A W 50 3R 5 )
rate changes 28 (1,189) (1,981)
Cash and cash equivalents AR 2B &Rk
at the end of the year BEFRW 18(a) 272,451 323,657

Note:  The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is

MrEE - ALEEC ZF - JUENA — H SRR B TR W
T R A U S s E R BB 1698 o H A

not restated. See note 1(c). Fik o WEE R AR T EI - ZRIMEE1(C) »

HEASE A 25 1t 51 g A S ok 2 — B o

The notes on pages 45 to 125 form part of these financial statements.

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
ANNUAL REPORT 2020 £ $k



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-TFE=A=1+—RILFE L ET)

(b)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”),
which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“the Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c) provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these
financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2020 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred
to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interests in joint ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the following
assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below:

- investment properties, including interests in leasehold land and
buildings held as investment property where the Group is the
registered owner of the property interest (see note 1(h));

— investments in equity securities (see note 1(f)); and
—  derivative financial instruments (see note 1(g)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

(a)

(b)

ERAER
L

A B 3R T 14 BE A o W RO & A T
A8 2 (e i T 5 S o D) (T 38 o B 5
Wty MR ) > LA B A R B AR A A v B
Bk M) - (R E Rt ([ & B aa
Q) R FidARZ aRt A RE
N R R ) 2 B E T A e AR B S R TR
MEEBB GRS A RS R GEZR L
LR (T AR 2 %8 1 5k L E - A
EERA 2 EFEGFBORMZEWT -

o E R A & O R TR AT R A E ET
MBS WAL AT
A AR R T R AR A - A
BUAT B 15 8 w309 ] I 400 8 ) O 4 R %
JE& B 3 S 2 AT AT B R B B B TS MR
S5 P BS R 2 BB IR B EEA(C) ©

YU 5 0 e 1y o RO

BE X -FHEZA =+ —HIFEENLE
GBI - EAGA L A K H S A R (5
TR TASE ] ) AR R A A2 as -

A B 75 i 3 R AR AR JER S AR A R M
O E R R A A PR R T SOk
Z &R BURAMRE QRS

- HEYE GFERFEREYENA
B R ENRER > MAERAY
ERHZZEMEEA AN (2B 1)

- JEHEERERE (Z2BMEE1) s &
- MASBTE (ZBHE1Q) -

2 8 7 i T o AR R0 A S R
TG BRE T A B A S ERLAE OB AR
e AR > w% 5% P~ AR RSO B g
BORIRER > LA B B 2 EE - B
W g K S I B R o B A e A A0 R T
i 2Rk BE R 0 b A R A L A
A1 R 1 JEE St A6 S R AE A BRI D R A A B
(19 At PR 3R A A o PR A5 R T AR B A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE"ZT-ZHF=A=+—BIFE W E&Ti)

(c)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 29.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS, HKFRS 16, Leases, and a
number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the
current accounting period of the Group.

Except for HKFRS 16, Leases, none of the developments have had
a material effect on how the Group’s results and financial position for
the current or prior periods have been prepared or presented. The
Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not
yet effective for the current accounting period.

HKFRS 16, Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17, Leases, and the related
interpretations, HK(IFRIC) 4, Determining whether an arrangement
contains a lease, HK(SIC) 15, Operating leases — incentives, and
HK(SIC) 27, Evaluating the substance of transactions involving the
legal form of a lease. It introduces a single accounting model for
lessees, which requires a lessee to recognise a right-of-use asset
and a lease liability for all leases, except for leases that have a
lease term of 12 months or less (“short-term leases”) and leases of
low-value assets. The lessor accounting requirements are brought
forward from HKAS 17 substantially unchanged.

HKFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the financial
statements to assess the effect that leases have on the financial
position, financial performance and cash flows of an entity.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as from 1 April 2019.
The Group has elected to use the modified retrospective approach.
Comparative information has not been restated and continues to be
reported under HKAS 17.

2 Ayl 8Ok (A1)

(b) S 5 8k o 1y A A o ()

(c)

7% S5 A wt B AR R B & 5 A AR A - B Rt
fili il ok an SR U R A B R
BEAE Al TR TR 0 AR o R X IHE R
fili B B SO B E A DL B AR A
IR 1) 52 2 A B R D4R 0 T e R o

A7 B A B S I P A o B o o ) B P
P T i € 365 I 55 Rk A R R B K
B> DRl ah A mEE R R 2 EE AR Z A
Ay R SR B EE29 o

7t R 52 )

A A o O SR A SR A
G ZHE = RN P T O R
U A ol B O e N et A K
AT T R R T A o

B A B B RS RN SE 1 65% > A EA  M
38 AT e % Jr dhf A 45 ] A S0 ] DA T8 0 ] g
SR R BB AR UL 2 A B2 51 07 U R
OB o AN AR B SIOR PR AT AT A AS o R
) A A5 280 FR) i Y JU) B R o

TR E169E - Bl

A B i TS 6 R AU s Rt
RUSEA79E - 1 SRR iR - Al (B
Bkh e BERE) BB BFELH
ETOFHE - ik (ElIRBELZAEE) &
FEAE169E » AE B — AR XA (R
BRE ) BBE27I > AT R B A
X G2 A% - KRNI AR —&
RIS Sl SRR AH N 8 BT A A e R Al
e E LA M A 1200 A 5K
PUF R (TR A B 1) B IR fiE o 7 A
BRSO - B A A B0 & 5 RLE K2 b A
g e SR 7SR AR RN A o

A s S e R R SR 6 SRR 5 AR AN E
P R E B ER 0K > B E R B R T
# HE 4 5T £ AL BT 3 B IR L~ BB R

BEBRERENZE-

ALEC A F —JUFENA — B i
A 8 B s o R L SR 6 o AN SR IS4
PR KB R 48 91 1% o P R R 4 SIE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_ZZF=-A=1—BIFE (K&

(@)

(b)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to previous
accounting policies and the transition options applied are set out
below:

New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease mainly relates to the concept
of control. HKFRS 16 defines a lease on the basis of whether a
customer controls the use of an identified asset for a period of time,
which may be determined by a defined amount of use. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the use
of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic
benefits from that use.

The Group applies the new definition of a lease in HKFRS 16 only
to contracts that were entered into or changed on or after 1 April
2019. For contracts entered into before 1 April 2019, the Group has
used the transitional practical expedient to grandfather the previous
assessment of which existing arrangements are or contain leases.
Accordingly, contracts that were previously assessed as leases
under HKAS 17 continue to be accounted for as leases under
HKFRS 16 and contracts previously assessed as non-lease service
arrangements continue to be accounted for as executory contracts.

Lessee accounting and transitional impact

HKFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a lessee to classify leases
as either operating leases or finance leases, as was previously
required by HKAS 17. Instead, the Group is required to capitalise
all leases when it is the lessee, including leases previously classified
as operating leases under HKAS 17, other than those short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets which are exempt. As far as
the Group is concerned, these newly capitalised leases are primarily
in relation to other property, plant and equipment as disclosed in
note 27(b). For an explanation of how the Group applies lessee
accounting, see note 1(K(i).

At the date of transition to HKFRS 16 (i.e. 1 April 2019), the Group
determined the length of the remaining lease terms and measured
the lease liabilities for the leases previously classified as operating
leases at the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the relevant incremental borrowing rates at 1 April
2019. The weighted average of the incremental borrowing rates
used for determination of the present value of the remaining lease
payments was 8.1%.

H A OR (481)

(c) FrwhBORSE S (H)

A B B R EOR R B M R D
B 75 1 ) e ) 2 o — B RE R S

(a) BITZH A #

HEER B TR REMEZMEH
B o A BB O E R SEBBE AR IR R P 2
3 — B Ry [H] PR 8 il — JH Ll 7 7 9
AT R R R E) REHE - &
& F IR B AR s O C ki & E 2 g
R A A T A e 86 75 48 K S A3 A 97 ] i 19 1
DU > BB A 1 HE

7 % I B A s S o T R S 1 6 BRI
ZHERBEANR _F —NFENA - ARZ
RATLBERZ G4 - AEBCHR - F
—JUEEDN A — B ATRT 52 2 & 40 5% Ak i
R R L 7 3k A S T R A 2 PR R AL
o f g A B TR 2 AR Al o L - SERTAR 38
HFEGFHELFEATIEFMAHEZ §40%
o B YR S 16 SR A A SR AL B
17 55 il /A 5 JF AH B AR B % P < & 2 AR AR
FUAE AT B4 -

(b) RBIN 7 il 4 B Iy i Je 488 D 3 B

T B 5 e ) 551 e R B A U Rl e
I 5651795 2 i 9T 22 SRR AL LB 0 B A
M SR EENE - MR > REH
R i N i 9 S = < N S )
5 5l A AR 5 A s o I I A5 75 A A R
SHEZHE  MENESE REEEHEE
FEAIER  AREEINT > ZEHEAR
(LA =y S H b 2 ~ R B il (A
Bt 5E27 (o) I B 75 ) = A B A 4 13 f] 1 ) R
& 5HaE E A S0 2B B R (K)() »

R A U 2 7 A VS A YE R S 6B H (B
R —JUENH —H) o A BT
HEEHE M E e M > KRR
SR EAM AR EF REE R A WA
ATE IV A — 2 B A R
AAEAT I BL o JTA R E R B A AT B (E
Z TR Y- 35 0 A SRR R 8. 1% e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B 5

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BHE_Z-TF=H=+—HILFE (L&)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(¢) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

(b) Lessee accounting and transitional impact (continued)

To ease the transition to HKFRS 16, the Group applied the following
recognition exemption and practical expedients at the date of initial

application of HKFRS 16:

()  the Group elected not to apply the requirements of HKFRS 16
in respect of the recognition of lease liabilities and right-of-use
assets to leases for which the remaining lease term ends within
12 months from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, i.e.
where the lease term ends on or before 31 March 2020; and

(i)  when measuring the lease liabilities at the date of initial (i)
application of HKFRS 16, the Group applied a single
discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar
characteristics (such as leases with a similar remaining lease
term for a similar class of underlying asset in a similar economic

environment).

The following table reconciles the operating lease commitments as
disclosed in note 27(b) as at 31 March 2019 to the opening balance

for lease liabilities recognised as at 1 April 2019:

1. B Ak goR (80)

(c) FralBosRsE s (%)
(b) RBIA A7 il 4B BTy % Je 288 0 3 (4)

7 (5 I A U S R R R A 16
7 2 [ A 0 i B ) A ol B S A HE R 2516
SEEH R T 5 R RS A o S R R i

(i) 7 SR BSR4 OR it R 6 A 0T 2 A A U
RS ¥R e I SR 165 M) LA E A B ke
FoME A R E (BN R & %
EZA=Z+—HEZA %S 2HE
1 REL B A R A RE A RE R A U B
GRS 169 2 BLE s &

BT ) 46 TR A A BB i A E R
FA6UEE H 2 ML ARk RS
BAGHMAMFRAEAS (Fln
T 5 D) A8 35 BT T JB J DA Bl
L &R AL AR 2 AL ) M B
Pt o

TRAMEE27(0) T ERR —F — LFE=H
=+ - HREEHEERE R T — LF
WA — H C e a8 B B R 0 00 & B ) B

iR -
$°000
Tz
Operating lease commitments at 31 March 2019 R_E—NHFE=H=1+—HZ
S BRI 2,400
Less: commitments relating to leases exempt from W ERR A A AL i AR B B RS -
capitalisation:
- short-term leases and other leases with — FIERFN —F R
remaining lease term ending on or before A=+ —HeEZHI&E R
31 March 2020 e A B R At A B (51)
- leases of low-value assets — KEEEEME 17)
Add: lease payments for the additional periods where o AREER A ML E A A T
the Group considers it reasonably certain that B RERYEE AU R O LB A 3K
it will not exercise the termination options 25,215
27,547
Less: total future interest expenses W RIFLE S A (5,059)
Present value of remaining lease payments, discounted D% 338 {8 5 R 2 P 355 %) 7 5 AL 0
using the incremental borrowing rates and total lease SCHBUE B —E—JLEMH —H
liabilities recognised at 1 April 2019 Tl 58 1 A B B R AR 22,488
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-THF=RA=+—RILFE L&)

(b)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)
Lessee accounting and transitional impact (continued)

The right-of-use assets in relation to leases previously classified as
operating leases have been recognised at an amount equal to the
amount recognised for the remaining lease liabilities, adjusted by
the amount of any prepaid lease payments relating to that lease
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at
31 March 2019. As such, there is no adjustment to the opening
balance of equity at 1 April 2019.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property in “interest in leasehold land
held for own use” and “other property, plant and equipment” and
presents lease liabilities separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The following table summarises the impacts of the adoption of
HKFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position:

+ et gooR (41)

(c) Frut Bk 5 m) (4)
(b) RBIA 6 il 4B BTy & Je 488 0 3 (&)

IAERER S 8 R B I HEE E DA
S B R A9 L B A AR AERY > e W

HERR _F-NFE=ZA=Zt—-HEaUE
AR L2 1A e 3 09 AE AT T A AR B S A AR
BRI —F —JUEN A — B R HE 3

) 4 GRSl A AR H T R

AL AT SR EY SRR AR
EENATREAENZHE L s &
[H ALY 3 - Ws Kosef ] o 31 AL B R
o Al 2 50 &R A E?h%ﬂiuﬂ%
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Carrying Capitalisation Carrying
amount at of operating amount at
31 March 2019  lease contracts 1 April 2019
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=H=+—H WEHE WH—H
Z AR {H HRERL Z R TE
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For Fr Fir

Line items in the consolidated statement of  $ 447 W W % 31 4% ¥t HY

financial position impacted by the adoption 41645 ¥ & & W%

of HKFRS 16: MWK NIEH 2%
Other property, plant and equipment HAW ¥ -~ BB L 54,761 23,657 78,418
Total non-current assets Fh3 B 4 867,442 23,657 891,099
Trade and other receivables JRE B 2 At BB Wi 3k 98,375 (1,169) 97,206
Total current assets L R A 491,668 (1,169) 490,499
Lease liabilities (current) =AM i E) - 4,383 4,383
Total current liabilities L RER K 104,351 4,383 108,734
Net current assets R 0 A 387,317 (5,552) 381,765
Total assets less current liabilities 0 2 A ) A 1,254,759 18,105 1,272,864
Lease liabilities (non-current) L B (R ) - 18,105 18,105
Total non-current liabilities Jh 000 ) B2 At A 40,014 18,105 58,119
Net assets %R GHE 1,214,745 - 1,214,745
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE"ZT-ZHF=A=+—BIFE W E&Ti)

(c)

(@)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Impact on the financial result, segment results and cash flows of the
Group

After the initial recognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
as at 1 April 2019, the Group as a lessee is required to recognise
interest expense accrued on the outstanding balance of the lease
liability, and the depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of
the previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under
operating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. This
results in a positive impact on the reported profit from operations in
the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss, as compared
to the results if HKAS 17 had been applied during the year.

In the consolidated cash flow statement, the Group as a lessee
is required to split rentals paid under capitalised leases into their
capital element and interest element (see note 18(c)). These
elements are classified as financing cash outflows, similar to how
leases previously classified as finance leases under HKAS 17
were treated, rather than as operating cash outflows, as was the
case for operating leases under HKAS 17. Although total cash
flows are unaffected, the adoption of HKFRS 16 therefore results
in a significant change in presentation of cash flows within the
consolidated cash flow statement (see note 18(d)).

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. When assessing whether
the Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and
other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions
and cash flows, and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect
of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

(c)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-TFE=A=1+—RILFE L ET)

(e)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling
interests and the equity shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions,
whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and
non-controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 1(f)) or, when
appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in joint
venture (see note 1(g)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 1(l)).

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group and other
parties contractually agree to share control of the arrangement, and
have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements under the equity method and is initially recorded
at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the
acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net assets
over the cost of the investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment
is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of
the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to the
investment (see note 1()). Any acquisition-date excess over cost,
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the
investees and any impairment losses for the year are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other
comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE-2-BF=A=T-BLEE WETIH)

®

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Joint ventures (continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the joint
venture, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the
carrying amount of the investment under the equity method together
with the Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part of
the Group’s net investment in the joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the investee, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which
case they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate or vice versa, retained interest is not remeasured. Instead,
the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity
method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have joint control over
a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the date
when joint control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset
(see note 1(f)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in joint
ventures are stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 1())).

Investments in equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in equity securities, other than
investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, are set out below:

Investments in equity securities are recognised/derecognised on
the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the investment. The
investments are initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments measured at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) for which transaction costs
are recognised directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of how
the Group determines fair value of financial instruments, see note
26(f). These investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_ZZF=-A=1—BIFE (K&

(69]

(h)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments in equity securities (continued)

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL unless the
equity investment is not held for trading purposes and on initial
recognition of the investment the Group makes an election to
designate the investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”) (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes
in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but
may only be made if the investment meets the definition of equity
from the issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is made, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the
investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) until the investment
is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in
the investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
retained earnings. It is not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends
from an investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as
other income in accordance with the policy set out in note 1(v)(iv).

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value.
At the end of each reporting period the fair value is remeasured.
The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, except where the derivatives qualify
for cash flow hedge accounting, in which case recognition of any
resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the item being
hedged.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned
or held under a leasehold interest (see note 1(k)) to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held
for a currently undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment properties.

Investment properties are stated at fair values, unless they are still
in the course of construction or development at the end of the
reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at
that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or from
the retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognised
in profit or loss. Rental income from investment properties is
accounted for as described in note 1(v)(iii).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE-2-BF=A=T-BLEE WETIH)

54

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1. EEEEHER (5)
....... (O e ) e e
(i) Other property, plant and equipment ONEX(X/ERE -3 &%

The following items of other property, plant and equipment are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see note 1())):

—  interests in leasehold land and buildings where the Group is the
registered owner of the property interest (see note 1(k));

— right-of-use assets arising from leases underlying properties
where the Group is not the registered owner of the property
interest; and

—  items of plant and equipment.

When an owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property carried at fair value, the property is revalued at the date
of transfer. Any resulting decrease in the carrying amount of the
property is recognised in profit or loss and any resulting increase in
carrying amount is recognised in other comprehensive income and
increase in the land and buildings revaluation reserve.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement
or disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is transferred from the
land and buildings revaluation reserve to retained profits and is not
reclassified to profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using
the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

— leasehold land is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
remaining term of the lease;

—  the Group’s interests in buildings situated on leasehold land are
depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term of the lease
and the buildings’ estimated useful lives, being no more than
60 years after the date of completion;

—  plant and machinery between 4 to 10 years; and

—  other assets between 3 to 5 years.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a
reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if
any, are reviewed annually.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_ZZF=-A=1—BIFE (K&

(k)

(@)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful
life is finite) and impairment losses (see note 1(l)). Amortisation of
intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged to profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives. Both the
period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are
assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful life of
an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine
whether events and circumstances continue to support the indefinite
useful life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for
prospectively from the date of change and in accordance with the
policy for amortisation of intangible assets with finite lives as set out
above.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the use
of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic
benefits from that use.

As a lessee
(A)  Policy applicable from 1 April 2019

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and
leases of low-value assets. When the Group enters into a
lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a systematic
basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE-2-BF=A=T-BLEE WETIH)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leased assets (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

A

B

Policy applicable from 1 April 2019 (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised
is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets
also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, discounted to their present value,
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses (see notes 1() and 1(|)(ii)), except for
right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment
property are carried at fair value in accordance with note 1(h).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease
liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment
is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property in “interest in leasehold land
held for own use” and “other property, plant and equipment”
and presents lease liabilities separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2019

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, was or contained a lease if the Group determined
that the arrangement conveyed a right to use a specific asset
or assets for an agreed period of time in return for a payment
or a series of payments. Such a determination was made
based on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement
and was regardless of whether the arrangement took the legal
form of a lease.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_ZZF=-A=1—BIFE (K&

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1.
(continued)

F ROk (8)

(k) AT ¥R (8)
(i) fEZERBA (4)
ZE—FEP A — H FE 2 B

(k) Leased assets (continued)
(i) As alessee (continued)

(B) Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2019 (continued) (B)

(i)

Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that were held by the Group under leases which
transferred to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership were classified as being held under finance
leases. Leases which did not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the Group were classified as
operating leases, with the following exceptions:

— property held under operating leases that would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property was classified as investment property on a
property-by-property basis and, if classified as investment
property, was accounted for as if held under a finance
lease; and

— land held for own use under an operating lease, the
fair value of which could not be measured separately
from the fair value of a building situated thereon at the
inception of the lease, was accounted for as being held
under a finance lease, unless the building was also clearly
held under an operating lease. For these purposes, the
inception of the lease was the time that the lease was
first entered into by the Group, or taken over from the
previous lessee.

Operating lease charges

Where the Group had the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases were charged to
profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods
covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis
was more representative of the pattern of benefits to be
derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives received were
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate
net lease payments made.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease
was amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease term except where the property was classified as an
investment property.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE-2-BF=A=T-BLEE WETIH)

(U]
(@)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leased assets (continued)
As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception
whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to the ownership of an underlying assets
to the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified as an
operating lease.

The rental income from operating leases is recognised in
accordance with note 1(v)(iii).

Credit losses and impairment of assets
Credit losses from financial instruments and lease receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) on the following items:

— financial assets measured at amortised cost (including cash
and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables); and

— lease receivables.

Financial assets measured at fair value, including equity securities
designated at FVOCI (non-recycling) and derivative financial assets,
are not subject to the ECL assessment.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit
losses are measured as the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive).

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result
from possible default events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from
all possible default events over the expected lives of the items
to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and lease receivables are
always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the
current and forecast general economic conditions at the reporting
date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_ZTZF=-A=1T—BIFE (UET:)

(i)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease receivables
(continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of the financial instrument since
initial recognition, in which case the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date with any changes
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in the profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial instruments
through a loss allowance account.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or lease receivable
is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the
Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources
of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off
are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period to identify indications that the following
assets may be impaired or an impairment loss previously recognised
no longer exists or may have decreased:

—  other property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets (other than investment properties carried at revalued
amounts);

- intangible assets; and

— investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. In addition, for intangible assets that have indefinite useful
lives, the recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or not
there is any indication of impairment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B 5

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-TF=A=+—HILFE (L&)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

Impairment of other assets (continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e.
a cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated
to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying
value of an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories
is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related
revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories
to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as
an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in
the period in which the reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment
of that consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before
the Group has an unconditional right to receive the consideration,
the account is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less allowance for credit losses (see note 1(1)(i)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised and redemption
value being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable, using the
effective interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and
are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see note 1(v)). A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised
(see note 1(n)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE"ZT-ZHF=A=+—BIFE W E&Ti)

s
(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL in
accordance with the policy set out in note 1())().

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary
benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred
and the effect would be material, these amounts are stated at their
present values.

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligations in respect of long service payments
are the amounts of future benefits that employees have earned in
return for their services in the current and prior periods, calculated in
accordance with the relevant laws.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised
as an employee cost with a corresponding increase in a capital
reserve within equity. The fair value is measured at grant date
using the binomial lattice model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted. Where the
employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total estimated fair value
of the options is spread over the vesting period, taking into account
the probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited to
profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the original employee
expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number
of options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting
conditions that relate to the market price of the Company’s shares.
The equity amount is recognised in the capital reserve until either the
option is exercised (when it is included in the amount recognised in
share capital for the shares issued) or the option expires (when it is
released directly to retained profits).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of these benefits and when it
recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of termination
benefits.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_Z-TF=HA=+—HILFE (L&)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1.
....... (continued) s
(t) Income tax (t)

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and
all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be
utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those differences relate
to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining whether
existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that
is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit (provided they are not part of a business combination),
and temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries
to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in
the future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE-2-BF=A=T-BLEE WETIH)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(h), the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax rates
that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying value at
the reporting date unless the property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the property over time,
rather than through sale. In all other cases, the amount of deferred
tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends
are recognised when the liability to pay the related dividends is
recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Group
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

()

(U]

(i)

T-TFE=ZA=+—RHILEFE L ETH)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and
a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the
sale of goods, the provision of services or the use by others of the
Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is
transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the right to use the
asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which the Group
is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered at the customers’
premises or when goods are shipped on board, depending on the
terms agreed with customers, which is taken to be the point in
time when the customer has accepted the goods and obtained the
control of the goods.

Processing service income, management fee income and commission
income

Processing service income, management fee income and
commission income are recognised when the relevant services are
rendered.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE

(iv)

)

i)

(w)

TE=HA=1+—BILFE (L&)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue and other income (continued)
Property rental income

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss in equal instalments over the periods covered by the
lease term, except where an alternative basis is more representative
of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the leased
asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as
an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are
earned.

Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the
shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial
position initially when there is reasonable assurance that they will
be received and that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
pbasis in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred.

Translation of foreign currencies

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates the fair value was measured.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_ZZF=-A=1—BIFE (K&

(x)

(\2)]

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement
of financial position items are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in the
exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

Related parties

(1) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  bhas significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(v  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (1).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B 5

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-F-TE=A=t—BLLTE LUETH)

(z)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(vi) A person identified in (1)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(vii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

REVENUE

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and sale of
garments and textiles, provision of processing services and rental of
properties.

Revenue represents the invoiced value of goods supplied to
customers, processing service income and rental income.
Disaggregation of revenue by category is analysed as follows:

1. B Ak goR (80)

(y) BEAL (H0)

(2) — M E WA S AL TS RAE - 8
RAERAEBMZBENL  (8)

(vii) b 3C(1)() BT R B9 AR BNt
BAEREE N AZEN (8
HEHAR) FEEHMABNRAZ
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MR

2020 2019
TR TR SR
$°000 $000
PN Fr
Under the scope of HKFRS 15, Revenue T 7 V05 S 55 it 385 ofi B 41 598 -
from contracts with customers: FHEPGHZBAMHRE :
— Manufacture and sale of garments — B T B AR 600,227 663,951
— Manufacture and sale of textiles — B KB B A Ak 7,080 22 285
— Processing service income — I TR i 4 42,801 25262
e 650,108 711,498
Under the scope of HKFRS 16/HKAS 17, HEYE 7 v B85 98 3 i ) S 1658
Leases: B G SR E179%
BEWREE N -
. Gross rentals from investment properties _______: S SR 6104 . 6,116
656,212 717,614
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-THF=RA=+—RILFE L&)

2. REVENUE (continued) 2.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
geographic markets is disclosed in note 10(c).

The Group’s customer base is diversified. For the year ended
31 March 2020, revenues of approximately $121,266,000 and
$105,830,000 (2019: $124,337,000 and $76,273,000) are
derived from two external customers with whom transactions
have exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue. These revenues are
attributable to the sales of garments. Details of the concentrations of
credit risk arising from the customers are set out in note 26(a).

The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of
HKFRS 15 and does not disclose information about revenue that the
Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance
obligations arising from contracts with customers in existence at the
reporting date that had an original expected duration of one year or

WA (#1)

T [T 35 8 2 B 5 A KA 5 BT % 5
B EE10(C) °

AEBMZEFEREZEZ TN - K &2
FOEE=ZHA=Z+—HIEFEE H
121,266,0007C &%105,830,0007C ( &
— JU4FE 1 124,337,0007C K 76,273,0007C)
BIWATIE AW BN ET > mZERD
1Y 85 B AR A M AR L ER A 2 10% o B 5E
AR LA EE - HZEFEF M5z
{5 2B 1) 48 FP I DL E A 571 BA AE B RE26 () ©

A% M R A v I i T R B 1 55 A
121 B2 A AT REE O % > N oK B 78 A 4E 3
TEEAT B B A R A4 E A B #
B RTRFAEEAHETNRAZE
K> A A0 IR G TE I BR 2y — AR SR

less.
3. OTHERINCOME o 3 JCfBMCR
2020 2019
TR R SR
$°000 $000
T FiC
Interest income Bk #5 3,250 2,731
Scrap income BERL IR 25 1,918 2,131
Net gain on forward foreign exchange contracts % 1] 4 FE & 47 i 43 75 %8 1,352 130
Net exchange gain T 58, 05 2 V3 1,267 946
Government grants R Al B 875 757
Management fee income LN 804 804
Write-off of aged payables LB AT 3 T 563 1
Dividend income from equity securities il e P =N e 501 776
Net gain on disposals of other property, HEH ALY 2E -~ R K&
plant and equipment A AL A 1 RE 24 181
Net claim expenses e AE 52 AR (1,937) (1,572)
Sundry income HoAh i £5 2,377 1,848
10,994 8,733
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 M =F

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE_Z-_TE=A=1+—HILFE &)

4. (LOSSYPROFIT BEFORE TAXATION = 4. BRBLE OB8) J@#. ..
(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): MBLRT (1R AT g (5FA) -
2020 2019
TROFRE CE U
(Note)
(Bt7E)
$°000 $'000
T Fr
(a) Finance costs (@) A
Interest on bank advances FRAT ORI E
(including bank charges) (ELI5ER1T &) 2,578 3,158
Interest on lease liabilities (note 18(c)) MEaE AL (Kit18c) 1,670 =
Cash flow hedges: B4 i B
reclassified from equity (note 8(b)) TERE 25 o 58 o0 88 (B 7E8(b)) - 348
4,248 3,506

WAL - ARSR T PR AN RS RT A0 W T T VB T A

B S e I BB 16 o i MU B 5 ik o L

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated.

70

See note 1(c). BB R TR - 2 BIH (o) -
2020 2019
ZRORAE QU
$°000 $000
T Fr
(b) Staff costs* (b) H T A
Salaries, wages and other benefits M & K HAAE A 154,537 155,490
Contributions to defined contribution B AU FORRET B 4 5
retirement schemes 9,867 11,235
Provision for long service payments, net 12 W IR T 4 At v
(note 24) (M it24) 2,331 2,293
166,735 169,018
(c) Other items (c) JHfbxH
Cost of inventories* 17 8 A 545,142 585,030
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 12) ITY B BN (Mt 12) 95 95
Amortisation of pre-paid interests in T AR A i T 4 s
leasehold land* (note 11) (Ktat11) - 56
Depreciation charge’ (note 11) et (ffat11)
— owned property, plant and equipment —HEWE - W7 KA 1,406 4,437
— right-of-use assets* — (G 7,315 -
Net loss on cash flow hedging instruments PERE RS P B JE 0 B & i
reclassified from equity (note 8(b)) P LR 1R A (B8 (b) - 1,389
Impairment losses on trade receivables R MSC R ik (1 R 4
(note 26(a)) (Htzt26(a)) 3,040 -
Recovery of receivables written off WA I LA A T 2 T AR
in prior years 998 4
Auditors’ remuneration 127 T M <
- audit services — T IR 1,770 1,832
— other services — HAb MR 502 473
Total minimum lease payments for leases MR8 T A s w e I 51 79
of properties previously classified as DL EYERER
operating leases under HKAS 17*# T AIGAHE B A5 ik e - 6,088
Rentals receivable from investment Erd-L/EY Atk A S
properties less direct outgoings of 1,449,00070 (=% — JL4F:
$1,449,000 (2019: $1,441,000) 1,441,0007T) (4,656) (4,675)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B 5

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-THF=RA=+—RILFE L&)

4. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 4. BRBLW OB de A (&)

....... (oMU | s e
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective e AEHD R -F—ENH — HEMEBETT
approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to B W VE B UCER T A s B A R AE 16 5E &
recognise right-of-use assets relating to leases which were previously W R ) 4% i DA T R B U o R R B BE A 7 R
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. After initial recognition of TEN S A 43 4 0 48 LR A R R R G T
right-of-use assets at 1 April 2019, the Group as a lessee is required to WEEE - EER _FE—L4ENA —H
recognise the depreciation of right-of-use assets, instead of the previous R MERR A% - AR G T AE S R RN 28 e RR T
policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under operating leases WE B R RO AT RE  imn JE AR A ST T Y B DL AR
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Under this approach, the DR E AR S A EE ARSI
comparative information is not restated. See note 1(). WRART L RIRERATLUES - 23

Bt 31 (c) »
Cost of inventories includes $95,766,000 (2019: $91,741,000) relating to # TTERABRE TRA - 8 e &
staff costs, depreciation and amortisation expenses, and lease expenses, FEMERM > A WKIEI95,766,0000C (=
which amount is also included in the respective total amounts disclosed E—JL4F £ 91,741,00070) » A WSO FT
separately above or in note 4(b) for each of these types of expenses. AAE & 3CH B BT B 5% 2 4% A B A A Y AR
B EE4(b) o

5. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 5. & AR 3 P o i P 43 BL

....... STATEMENT OF PROFITORLOSS o .

(a) Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents: BAHEBEEMAWPIBRE

2020 2019
SRR FJUE
$°000 $°000
i Tz
Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax A AR BLIE — T R 1B
Provision for the year A AR Rl TE 15 A 1,016 5,079
Under-provision in respect of prior years DLAEAE B R 69 26
1,085 5 ,_1_9_5_ )
Current tax — Overseas AAEBLIH — Bi4b
Credit for the year AR S @1 (1,858)
Deferred tax B HE LI
Origination and reversal of T IRF 2 BL1Y 8 2E B )
_ temporary differences ... 102 (697).
366 2,650

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2020 is calculated at
16.5% (2019: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the
year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying

corporation under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime.

For this subsidiary, the first $2 million of assessable profits are taxed
at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%.
The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for this subsidiary was

calculated at the same basis in 2019.

Taxation for subsidiaries outside Hong Kong is charged at the
appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries.

T TR A P A B A A R R A AR
ZAG R RERERL 5 A LA 16.5% (& — JUAE ¢
16.5%) MBLRFHE > MRS IS B 4% il
A 0 A S [ — RS S mBR A e

B M A AT o M B W R
2,000,0007C#48.25% 2 Bi 5t 5 K ik~ &
LBt 1 H:16.5% 2 B R 0 o 3% W M 24
Al 2 5 R 0 B AR 4k — LA B
EE S -

A s 5 SN B > w2 B TE AU LLAR B B K
M2 BATB ARG -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 M =F

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BT THF=RA=t+—R.LFE L&)

5. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 5. HEHBERII AP BE(8)
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting (loss)/profit at b) REEZ WM OBR) R 5% p R &

72

applicable tax rates: S EIR -
2020 2019
ZRIRAE —FUE
$°000 $000
T For
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRBLET (E548) i A (50,420) 22,951
Notional tax on (loss)/profit before taxation, iR B 1B % 2 R (Rs 18 1l 2
calculated at the rates applicable to (losses)/ BERFIEBRBLR Ok548) A Y
profits in the countries concerned H 3 IH (10,632) 5,040
Tax effect of share of losses/(profits) of JEAG 5 8 A 2 ks 18,7 G A1) 1)
joint ventures Tl T 5 22 6,074 (3,002)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses ST ek 57 o 1 Bl T s 2 17,874 5,671
Tax effect of non-taxable income HEZEFHRLOA 1) Bl T 5 28 (13,549) (6,806)
Tax effect of previously unrecognised AR A B AF i R fEFR AT HE 40
deductible temporary differences BT R 22 B B E B 2
utilised this year (503) (373)
Tax effect of deductible temporary o A R AT SR R 22 S
differences not recognised ) ol JEL 5 8 542 -
Tax effect of unused tax losses not A e FR A B BUES e 4R
recognised ) ol JEL 5 8 395 2,130
Tax effect of undistributed profits of B A R A T s
joint ventures ) i T e 2 - 15
Under-provision in respect of prior years DAAEAF BE 3R 2 69 26
Others HAth 96 (51)
Actual tax expense B BLIE S 366 2,650
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-THF=RA=+—RILFE L&)

6.. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS . ... 6 W¥FME
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the MR 7 1 AR 55 383(1) 15 M (A /] (3
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies 5 # FF fn R BB 52K 2 K A i 4
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are RZEHEMESW T -
as follows:

Salaries, allowances Retirement scheme
Directors’ fees and benefitsinkind ~ Discretionary bonuses contributions Total
e a o W R SR Fitites FSE 1T it

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
CRORE CTONE CR0RE CT0F CR0%E CT0F CR0RE TR SF0RE CER
$000 $000 §000 $000 $1000 $000 $000 $000 $1000 $000
i 7z i I i 7z i Fi i i

Executive directors bri s

M. Chan Wing Fu, Peter WkERE 60 60 1911 1911 - 500 - = 1971 2471
Mr. Chan Wing Kee Bk 60 60 1911 1911 - 500 - - 197 2471
Mr. Chan Wing To BRkiREE 60 60 - - - - - - 60 60
Ms. Chan Suk Man Bkt 60 60 1,165 1,165 - 300 - = 1,205 152
Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel ~ BiAk& L4 60 60 - - - - - = 60 60
Ms. Chan Suk Ling, Shirey* IR & 4 60 60 - - - - - = 60 60
M. So Ying Woon, Alan il 60 60 1,498 1472 350 500 - = 1,908 2,032

Independent non-executive B FEHATE

directors

Mr. Lin Keping* IS 150 150 - - - - - - 150 150

Mr. Choi Ting Ki B 150 150 - - - - - - 150 150

Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung BRI 150 150 - - - - - - 150 150

Mr. Li Guangming SRMEE 110 110 - - - - - - 110 110

980 980 6,485 6,459 350 1,800 - - 7815 9,239

* Ms. Chan Suk Ling, Shirley has resigned as executive director of the * FABR S i & T AR A IS H BT
Company on 16 April 2020. AN FHATER

¢ Mr. Lin Keping has resigned as independent non-executive director of the # MTE S A L AR H AN B BT A
Company on 16 April 2020. ATV IFRATE S -

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 M =F

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BT THF=RA=t+—R.LFE L&)

7. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 7.
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2019:
three) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 6. The
emoluments of the two individuals (2019: two individuals) for the
year ended 31 March 2020 are as follows:

S K N

TEH (e B2 AL S (CE R
6 =) B A1 B S N I e
B ME_F FE=H=+—HILF
BERRLA L (ZB— U ¢ A L) 2
EF

2020 2019

TR R SR

$°000 $000

i T7C

Salaries and other emoluments 4 K H A 4 2,585 2,481
Discretionary bonuses LR R (AN 1,120 1,100
Retirement scheme contributions FE N R 117 112
3,822 3,693

The emoluments of the two individuals (2019: two individuals) with
the highest emoluments are within the following band:

WA e B N b (ZF— U - WA
+) BB A T 8 ]

2020 2019
SECRE CF K

$1,500,001 to $2,000,000 1,500,0017¢ %.2,000,00070 2 2
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B 5

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-P-TF=A=T—ALLFE GETH)

8. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME = 8. Jifb&wmidcss . ...
(a) Tax effects relating to each component of other comprehensive (a)  FCfib 2 v R 2 119 45 AL 106308 03 1) BE 5 5% 4
income
2020 2019
itk 23 ZE-NE
Before-tax Net-of-tax ~ Before-tax Net-of-tax
amount  Tax effect amount amount Tax effect amount
BEAR  BERE RAEKAE RENeE  HERE  REKeE
$'000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Fi Fi T Fr Fi FiL
Exchange differences on translation of: [ 3. 2% :
— financial statements of subsidiaries - BB BRI A
outside Hong Kong BT (5,034) - (5,034) (6,884) = (6,854)
~ share of joint ventures’ net assets - B RE A A%
BRI (32,673) - (32,673) (36,896) = (36,896)
(37,707) - (37,707) (43,780) - (43,780)
Release of exchange reserve uopon 8 2 W e
deregistration of subsidlaries I 5 b (1,052) - (1,052) = = =
Release of exchange reserve upon B — T g
disposal of interest in an associate ST KRt - = = (69) = (65)
Equity investments at FVOCI: BRI A ATHEE
net movement in the investment MR R R 4 G
revaluation reserve (non-recycling) BEE LR
SEEE R (44) - (44) 1,037 - 1,037
Net movement in the hedging reserve i ikl 8 i 4 - - - 2,701 (446) 2,255
Other comprehensive income Hb A (38,803) - (38,803) (40,097) (446) (40,543)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B 5

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_Z-TF=A=+—HIFE GET)

8. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 8. b 2w W 42 (A)
....... (COMUNUEA) | s e
(b) Components of other comprehensive income, including (b) il 4 i YBC 2% ¥F AL 3 B (4 65 7587 4> B0l
reclassification adjustments #)
2020 2019
TR R ZE N
$°000 $000
Fr T
Cash flow hedges: B
Effective portion of changes in FRERRE W LR
fair value of hedging instruments A R4 B T8 {1 5
recognised during the year - 964
Reclassification adjustments for gk
amounts transferred to profit or loss: [N =E e ok - I
- revenue - A - 1,389
— finance costs — A& A - 348
Net deferred tax charged to other 3008 02 30 T Vo A7 LAt 4 T Wi 4 R
comprehensive income NS - (446)
Net movement in the hedging reserve 4 (A7 ji Al 4 18 iz 45 74
during the year recognised in il w2 1 2 o Aot e 5 ) 4 A
other comprehensive income - 2,255
Equity investments measured at DA 3 308 il 2 i B 2 4% A PR
FVOCI: N T ed L Fie T
Changes in fair value recognised AN HERR AT (E (52 5)
during the year (44) 1,087
Net movement in the investment A TR A S At 4 T A 5 AE R 1Y
revaluation reserve (non-recycling) & EAL A O mT )
during the year recognised in other 5 ) 1 AR
comprehensive income (44) 1,037
9. (LOSS/EARNINGSPERSHARE 9. BB OES) JHEA
(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share (a) WA OBR) BMN

(b)

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on the
loss attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company
of $51,009,000 (2019: profit of $22,062,000) and the weighted
average number of 206,748,000 (2019: 206,748,000) ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (b)

The diluted (loss)/earnings per share is the same as the basic (loss)/
earnings per share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary
shares in existence during the years ended 31 March 2020 and

2019.

A A (B H) & A TR E B
B AR 4y A R B RE R ON AL
#§51,009,0007C (=& — L4 : ¥ A
22,062,00070) K AF N 347 % 4 ik 2
HEF ¥4 $7206,748,000/% (—F — JL4F -
206,748,000/%) 515 -

)5 B8 O 81) 7 #8A)

BE_F_FFEL-F-NLF=H=1+—
H Lk 4F BE - 20 ) SIf 46 A ¥ A 00 A
B WO A (B4R A B
IR (k5 1R) B AR -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-THF=RA=+—RILFE L&)

10. SEGMENT REPORTING . . . .. ... | 10 AHBE
The Group manages its business by divisions. In a manner AKE [ DA 4y ER RS B L ZE RS o AHE [ DA )
consistent with the way in which information is reported internally to AEHKSITHERN BN ERER (5
the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes o3 P & IR K EE A R B — B i LR B
of resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group has N =ARE T 2T o A & [H 0 4 AT ]
presented the following three reportable segments. No operating g AF LR R N FIE T 2|
segments have been aggregated to form the following reportable
segments:

- Manufacture and sale of garments and textiles: this segment - R REERK KA -
covers the manufacture and sale of garment and textile i B BB LA I T AR o B fR
products, and provision of garment processing services. A B A i TR S

— Interests in joint ventures: the Group’s joint ventures engage in - BN AERLSELCERTE
the manufacture and sale of textile yarn products. A B SR AP B E S -

- Property leasing: this segment leases commercial and industrial - WZEME : gbor ARG K T
premises to generate rental income. T LA BOH 4 i 4 o

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (a) A4 HERKAM
For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating By WRAL 0 0 2R B R 4 B 4 EB A TR > AN 4E
resources between segments, the Group’s senior executive FEARATEUE MO B DL N M R H T
management monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable BTSRRI L - EE KA
to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Manufacture and sale of garments and textiles and property leasing UG T 5 B k4 Je 35 5k iy e W) X R 15 4 7F

segments

Segment assets include all assets with the exception of intangible NIEEMNEAEE  HEAREEEE

assets, other financial assets, deferred tax assets, current tax FE o Al E B - IR BLIE B E - vk

recoverable and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities include WA B e Hfh 8 - i AakaE

all liabilittes managed directly by the segments with the exception AT EHEEMENIE&E > B

of current tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other corporate JRE AF A 3 B T~ R 0 B IR R K At A 2

liabilities. =

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments 43 T 2 AT R A R SE R LS B

with reference to revenue generated by those segments and the 430 T E AR i A D 3 B TR S 4B 2 43 R

expenses incurred by those segments or which otherwise arise A A B Y T R AR Y S T E e

from the depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to those

segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit/loss is “adjusted AR BWR o muEr Rz sE LR

EBITDA” i.e. “adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation [REEINBR A - BLIE ~ P78 SRS AT 2

and amortisation”, where “interest” is regarded as including AL TRLE A 2 6045 B & i £ & Rl & AR

investment income and finance cost and “depreciation and A e L A ERE EE

amortisation” is regarded as including impairment losses on W (B s 18 o AERHE TR AR AR - B

non-current assets. To arrive at adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s T~ Pres A e A B A Ry o AR et

earnings are further adjusted for items not specifically attributed S 48 B i B R A e dR 2 JE B (B W E

to individual segments, such as net valuation gains on investment W SE A (E 0 A R A% S T < R At AR

properties, auditors’ remuneration and other head office or = A FEAT BN AR ) M — 20 SRR B -
corporate administration costs.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning adjusted MRIEAS A B [ Fupr A ~ BidE - T8 K&

EBITDA, management is provided with segment information BB AT R B 2 Ay AR AN > B E O

concerning revenue (including inter-segment sales), interest income BAARBA (B2 iBEFMEE) - H

and finance costs from cash balances and borrowings managed OB B L B AR R M A a2 A Bl

directly by the segments, depreciation, amortisation and impairment 25 SR AR - YT e - R SO S 1R

losses and additions to non-current segment assets used by the 43 BB i 2 IR B o TR A

segments in their operations. Inter-segment sales are priced with BE o o I &1 B 1 EAE T 2% HoAth AN TE A

reference to prices charged to external parties for similar orders. + 2 FEAL B T A A o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 M =F

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE_Z-_TE=A=1+—HILFE &)

10. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) . . = 10. M/l (B
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) (a) L EHa kAl (H)
Interests in joint ventures CR-EEY ]
The Group’s interests in joint ventures are accounted for in the AL 2 G E MRS MBS IR
consolidated financial statements under the equity method, and R T FHEAR s WL — T 2W
presented as a separate reportable segment. The Group’s senior Iy BB R o A S ] S AR AT BUE N B B
executive management reviews the post-tax result of the interests GEMCERGNRBIEZEH  HAFEMW
in joint ventures, which is defined as the reportable segment Iy B FT E B R T R WM T AR o
profit/loss for this particular segment. Reportable segment assets HTEWMHEENRREIENGEMCE
represent the Group’s share of net assets of the joint ventures. BEEFEH BRAEMEHITHRERAS
Revenue of joint ventures is not presented as reportable segment REZHESCEHEEURAEER Y
revenue because it is not reviewed by the Group’s senior executive fic > 85 B A 0 R N JH T 2 W SR Ik A B
management for resource allocation purposes. TN o
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided BE X FER_FE—-NF=Z=H=1+—
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes H k4R > A 42 3 2 16 7 A% 48 3 A e 47 I
of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance for N B AR &R 4 Tl A0 4 0 2% BLET AL 1)
the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 is set out below: HT 2 FHER W
Manufacture and sale of Interests in
garments and textiles joint ventures (Note () Property leasing Total
T B K
REiSH RRERMEE ) BTN it
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
CEORE CF-0F ZRCE CEZAF Z20RE CF-NF 2202 SF-uf
(Note (i) (Note (i)
() ity

$000 $000 $000 $000 $1000 $000 $000 $000
i Tz i T i i i T

Revenue from external customers A SMAZ F R A 650,108 711,498 - - 6,104 6,116 656,212 717614
Inter-segment revenue VR ESTETION - - - - 1,088 1316 1,088 1316
Reportable segment revenue PRI BRA 650,108 711,498 - - 7192 7432 657,300 718,930

Reportable segment (loss)/profit %72 H A (BH),/

(adjusted EBITDA) Rl (HREmRAR
VRN §
#H) 7599 15,556 (24,295) 12,007 6,690 6,79 (10,006) 34,358
Interest income FE g 3,250 2731 - - - - 3,250 2731
Finance costs HEHE (4,248) (3,506) - - - - (4,248) (3,506)
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH (8.816) (4,589) - - - - 8,816) (4,589
Impairment losses on other HE - BE Rt
property, plant and equipment WEER (14,627) (5,170) - - - - (14,627) (5,170)
Impaiment losses on trade BRSO R
receivables (3,040) - - - - - (3,040) -
Reportable segment assets AT RRM ARG E 501,518 546,456 488,657 546,154 300429 306867 1,200604 1399477
Addtions to non-curent segment  FERHEFHE
assets during the year HEE 4411 7098 - - - - 4411 7,008
Reportable segment liabiities P # M A £ 65 117,466 108,908 - - - - 117,466 108,908
Notes: //717‘ ﬁ:f R
()  Other financial information regarding the interests in joint ventures is () A A ZERE Y H A I A RO B 14k
disclosed in note 14. R o
(i)  The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective (i) AR T PRAN AAE R DR R T A
approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated. B e A 2E169E o R MBAR T HIKE
See note 1(c). BB T B o %M 31 (o) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% ¥R 2 MY =F

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BRE-F-TE=A=+—BILTE LUETH)

10. 73 #8 9 o (#)

(b) AT RS WBCOA ~ B R - B

10. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets

and liabilities B f1 8 2 H Ik
2020 2019
TR R TR
(Note)
(Bt 7E)
$°000 $'000
T Tz
Revenue WA
Reportable segment revenue JHT 2 EBl A 657,300 718,930
Elimination of inter-segment revenue 43 FBZEHS 1WA A B 8 (1,088) (1,316)
Consolidated revenue HAEWA 656,212 717,614
(Loss)/profit O 1), i A
Reportable segment (loss)/profit derived KEEESINAKFWHET
from the Group’s external customers B4 s 1), A
(adjusted EBITDA) (WARE OB PG - BiIE
18 B 89 I 14 282 1)) (10,006) 34,358
Finance costs Tl AR (4,248) (3,506)
Interest income EipsN @ 3,250 2,731
Depreciation and amortisation P8 K g (8,816) (4,588)
Impairment losses on other property, plant and HAt 2 - WE S i
equipment RIEN <EiE} (14,627) (5,170)
Net valuation (losses)/gains on investment BEWEMNE (EiH)
properties Wi 4 V5 R (10,616) 3,361
Unallocated head office and corporate expenses KO FH AR S A 22 T (5,357) (4,235)
Consolidated (loss)/profit before taxation AR A BRBLRT VB 18) s A (50,420) 22,951
Assets ¥R
Reportable segment assets JHT 2 BB 1,290,604 1,399,477
Elimination of inter-segment assets 3 Bl SE T ] A A 3 B (70,439) (64,628)
1,220,165 1,334,849
Intangible assets eI G 2,890 2,985
Other financial assets HoAth 4 il 19,878 20,011
Current tax recoverable AL ] A B I 378 347
Unallocated head office and corporate assets R BH M A G 999 918
Consolidated total assets S AR 1,244,310 1,359,110
Liabilities £
Reportable segment liabilities JHT 2 T8 A 117,466 108,908
Current tax payable JRE A4St A 1A o T 7,340 14,709
Deferred tax liabilities 0 S TH 4 A 16,035 16,516
Unallocated head office and corporate liabilities FRAr JE AR B A 2 A A 2,731 4,232
Consolidated total liabilities B B 143,572 144,365

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective

approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated.

See note 1(c).

Wit -

A% SR BB AN S A R I W 0E 1 OB T T i
P A e R SE169E o SR BRA B ik o 1
BERATES - 2B M E1(C) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 M =F

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE_Z-_TE=A=1+—HILFE &)

10. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

10. 7 7 W o (41)

(c) 3o I 23 3 &

TR A B () A F 2 B AN R E S R
A5 R()AEEBEYE - HAWE - B
ek il AR B 2 A8 s an - dRTE
HEkoEMEER (FREFRBEE]
(¥ M [ 73 38 R o BT AE 4 2 AR S
Bk B M R T AE o 4 E JF U B B P
B HALY 3 - WS KB B R A
A 2 RS - b HE 2 T 7E MR AR 98 R
WAz BT E 5 TR A T ) Y R
Ho BT SE 5 A A SEE AR T AE b B 4 B
B T B 2

(¢) Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external customers and
(i) the Group’s investment properties, other property, plant and
equipment and interest in leasehold land held for own use, intangible
assets and interests in joint ventures (“specified non-current
assets”). The geographical location of customers is based on
the location at which the services were provided or the goods
delivered. The geographical location of the specified non-current
assets is based on the physical location of the asset, in the case
of investment properties, other property, plant and equipment
and interest in leasehold land held for own use, the location of
the operation to which they are allocated, in the case of intangible
assets, and the location of operations, in the case of interests in joint

o

80

ventures.
Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
KHAMRE P B W s e U )
2020 2019 2020 2019
ZRORAE XU SROREE T NUAF
(Note)
(Bt 7t
$’000 $°000 $°000 $°000
T 77T T T
Hong Kong (place of domicile) T (RSB o e ) 43,323 36,860 244,727 257,593
Europe el
— United Kingdom - e 76,073 77,665 - -
— Italy - BKA 133,504 141,038 - -
— Spain - FaE T 50,158 58,342 = -
- Germany - s 106,702 112,434 = -
— Other European countries — At JER M B K 17,933 29,090 = -
Mainland China Hp R K 41,131 36,510 524,856 584,898
North America Jb M
- United States - EH 105,830 135,645 - -
- Canada ) E- PN 12,350 7,658 - -
Others HoAth 69,208 82,372 11,594 4,940
R 612,889 . 680,754 . 536,450 . 589,838
656,212 717,614 781,177 847,431

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated.
See note 1(c).

AL PR A ACAE ST E B s R T A i
U i Y R A 6HE o R AT B U s o I
BHRATES - 2B 1)

Wi -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B 5

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_ZZF=-A=1—BIFE (K&

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, OTHER

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND fii e AL L
....... LEASEHOL D L AND e e
Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) M i 41 38 J
Ownership
interests in
land and Other Interest in
buildings properties leasehold
held for leased for Plant and Other Investment land held
own use owWn use machinery assets Sub-total properties  for own use Total
#EANZ fEANZ
THEMEn  REANE iNER ]
WA R Mg BRARS Jeb% it fEHE s it
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T Tr I i i I T Tr
Cost or valuation: A A :
At 1 April 2018 R-Z—EmA—H 103,075 - 73,708 91,563 268,346 240,556 2974 511,876
Bxchange adustments B A% 2213 - (3329 (2,704) (8,246) (1678 (187) (10,111)
Additions HE - - 3,712 3,386 7,098 - - 7,098
Disposals 4 - - (1,166) (1,947) (3,113 - - (3,119
Fairvale adustment A TEERY = = = = = 3,361 = 3361
ASIMach 2019 R-FCARSASTOR foose . . Y| A | 2BEy | W
Representing: R
Cost S 77,006 - 729% 90,208 240,319 = 2787 243106
Valuation - 1988 fhE—— AN 23,766 - - - 23,766 - - 23766
Valuation - 2019 fhE-ZZ- 1% - - - - - 242,239 - 242,239
100,862 - 72925 90,298 264,085 242,239 2,787 509,111
Cost or valuation: A A :
At 31 March 2019 REZ-NFEZA=Z1—H 100,862 - 72925 90,298 264,085 242,239 2,787 509,111
Impact on nital BWERABAT RS

application of HKFRS 5168 7 &

16 (Not) i) - 23,657 - - 23,657 - - 23,657
Alhpdool9  RECARRACH foge2_ 2 L. 028 | A w29 2067 | 53266 |
Bxchange adustments TS % 2,17) (620) (3442) (2,770) (8903 (1,634) (184) (10,721)
Addttions HE - 381 1,453 2,577 4411 - - 4411
Disposals e - (20 - (626) (646) - - (646)
Fai value acjustment ~ ATEEA%E - - - - - (10,616) - (10,616)
At 31 March 2020 RoEFEZAS R 98,691 23498 70936 89479 282,604 229,989 2,608 515,196
Representing: R#%:

Cost [ 74,925 23498 70,936 89,479 268,838 - 2,603 261,441
Valuation - 1988 fhE——ANE 23766 - - - 23766 - - 23766
Valuation - 2020 e e <4 - - - - - 229989 - 229,989

98,691 23498 70,936 89.479 282,604 229989 2603 515,196

11. W ~ b3k - BB Kt
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 M =F

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-Z-TF=A=T—ALLFE WETH)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, OTHER 11. BeEWE - AW E - BE K
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND fi5 B B 3 (B%)
....... LEASEHOLD LAND (continued) e
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued) (a) MR i 48 3 R (480)
Ownership
interests in
land and Other Interest in
buildings properties leasehold
held for leased for Plant and Other Investment land held
own use own use machinery assets Sub-total properties  for own use Total
N2 N2
LR AN i L]
WAEES  ABE RRRBE kR Nk BEEE {44 wit
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
i i i T Tr i i i
Accumulated SR 9T R -
amortisation,
depreciation and
impairment:
At 1 April 2018 RoZ-\EmA—H 51,342 - 70,881 87,900 210,123 - 1,536 211,659
Bxchange adjustments TS % (1,446) - (3,240) (2,650) (7,336) - @7 (7,433
Charge for the year RGBSR 2582 - 656 1199 4437 = 56 4493
Witten back on R
disposals - - (1,166) (1,904) (3,070) - - (3070
Impairment loss WiEER - - 3902 1178 5170 - = 5170
MBiMach20t9 ROECAFZASTOR 848 T s 81238 | . 0934 | . L. D 210819 |
At 1 April 2019 RZE— M —H 52478 - 7,128 85,728 209,324 - 1495 210,819
Bxchange adustments St % (1472) (366) (3.361) (2,683 (7.882) - (99) (7.981)
Charge for the year KGRI 2544 4718 37 1034 8,668 - 5 8721
Written back on i E R R
disposals - - - (620) (620) - - 620)
Impairment loss WiEER - 12,804 1205 43 14,627 - - 14627
MBIMach2020 BOFFESASTOH | BE0 246 ¢ 00429 8389 | LA 1M 225566 |
Net book value: R ¥4
At 31 March 2020 REEZZE=R=1—H 45,141 6,252 1,507 5,587 58,487 229,989 1,164 289,630
At31 March 2019 S 3 I 48,331 - 1802 4575 54761 242.239 1292 298292 |
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective et o AR OB A RS TR WA 1 R R &

WA O E SR 60E > A a R = L
AEVUH — H OB A R o LA R ST HTAR B8
i kYR B 1 7 BE A U R A IS A I
i T HE R E o 2 B RE (o)

method and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise
right-of-use assets relating to leases which were previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17. See note 1(c).

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% ¥R 2 MY =F

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-P-TF=A=T—ALLFE GETH)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, OTHER 11.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND

LEASEHOLD LAND (continued)

Fair value measurement of properties (b)

Fair value hierarchy )

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s properties
measured at the end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in
HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair
value measurement is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs
i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs
for which market data are not available

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs

L/ RAR R R
4T 1 Jid

AR A G2 R TR MR A H R
EEF R > WARER CFr s BB i e
Q) 551358 [ 28 /& (5 71 % | B ¢ 52 )
T B 0 U = A SR o B (E R R
BRI 22 40 T $Al (EL 7 i b B T iR 2 WD
TBL 2 M o o B T 7 E

- BRI AN (A RO SE — AR B
9% > BIAA ] B o A R R H RS
B LA WRE AR eFH R A
P (E

- AN R E AR B
VR REAF & 50 — SR A w8 g
HASR A ERA BB ARG AL
FEAE - AT BUE SR B R AR
55 6Ok BB

- S (E - R E RN T LA B
A EH A EE

Fair value at
31 March Fair value measurements as at
2020 31 March 2020 categorised into
RO R
ZH=Z+—H WoZ_FEE=HA=1+—H
Z AP A V-] 2 388 DL R SO0
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
WM 3N W40
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
T T T T
Recurring fair value FRH AP A B
measurements
Investment properties: BEYE
— Mainland China — R K 23,413 - - 23,413
- Hong Kong - Uk 206,576 - - 206,576
Fair value at
31 March Fair value measurements as at
2019 31 March 2019 categorised into
W F— U
—“HA=+—H ATE—JUE=H =1 —H
2N FEE O AR B 5 LT S
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
55— 5 55 8 55 =5
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
T 7T T T7T T7T
Recurring fair value FEHPEA T A ] R
measurements
Investment properties: e =C/E
— Mainland China — K 24,667 - - 24,667
- Hong Kong - 217,672 - - 217,572

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RATHRKA A 5
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B 5

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-F-TE=A=t—BLLTE LUETH)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, OTHER

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
LEASEHOLD LAND (continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of properties (continued) (b) %My A7 EF A (580
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (continued) (i) 2P % (4)
During the year ended 31 March 2020, there were no transfers BMEFZ-ERFE"H =T —HIEFEH
between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3 — BLES 4R B 2 I R dEOEE  i AR = AR B
(2019: nil). The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between O A B (T JUAE ) o AR
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in 9 ) B 2 A 45 5 B R T B A A TH{E
which they occur. B8 SR 2 A% -
All of the Group’s investment properties were revalued as at 31 REHFEHREMEN _—FE _FFE=H
March 2020. The valuations of investment properties located in = HEATEAN o 7 F U Kb K B
Hong Kong and Mainland China were carried out by independent Z &Y 25y B b 8 ST B 2 R AT A A by
firms of surveyors, Knight Frank Petty Limited and RHL Appraisal WEHRRAT A R 2 7 Kok FAT 318 R A FR
Limited respectively, who have among their staff Fellows of the NEIERAGE > ZENERMITZKE A F
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in the e AT Er VR B BT I E Y
location and category of property being valued. The Group’s 2 b B R R B R o NS H
management have discussion with the surveyors on the valuation HEATAG (AR 45 [ B O B R A AT R
assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is performed i A7 (B R B B Ak M 45 o1 -
at the end of the reporting period.
(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (i) B 5 = 55 A T 7l 2 1 &
Valuation Unobservable Weighted
techniques inputs Range average
M) AvTBLSEN R Loy JnHE - 35 3
Investment properties ~ #¥& W%
— Mainland China - PN Market Adjusted RMB28,000 RMB29,200
comparison price per to RMB30,000 (2019:
approach sQg. m. (2019: RMB28,709)
T35 L Ik RMB27,735
PHEEE  to RMB29,611)
- Hong Kong - s Market Adjusted  $2,630 to $9,180 $2,712
comparison price per (2019: $2,790 (2019: $2,871)
approach sq. ft. to $9,290)
i B P ITRZ
R A
Income Average $8.8 $8.8
capitalisation market rent (2019: $9.3) (2019: $9.3)
approach per sq. ft.
W sk EAAL per month
FHE ¥ H g
J7 W (A A 42
Capitalisation 4% 4%
rate (2019: 4%) (2019: 4%)
HEAL L&
YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED L& 4 R A #

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 &%k



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-THF=RA=+—RILFE L&)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, OTHER

(i)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
LEASEHOLD LAND (continued)

Fair value measurement of properties (continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (continued)

The fair value of investment properties located in Mainland China
and certain investment properties located in Hong Kong is
determined using market comparison approach by reference to
recent actual sales and/or asking price of comparable properties
on a price per square meter and square feet basis respectively,
adjusted for quality and location of the buildings and income
potential. Higher the value of adjusted price will result in a higher fair
value measurement.

The fair value of certain investment properties located in Hong Kong
is determined using income capitalisation approach by capitalising
the rent derived from the existing tenancies with reference to market
rent and the provision for any reversionary income potential. The
capitalisation rate used in income capitalisation approach has been
adjusted for the expected market rental growth, occupancy rate and
quality and location of the buildings. The fair value measurement is
positively correlated to the market rent and negatively correlated to
the risk-adjusted capitalisation rate.

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is recognised in the
line item “net valuation (losses)/gains on investment properties” on
the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Exchange adjustment of investment properties is recognised in other
comprehensive income in “exchange reserve”.

All the losses recognised in profit or loss for the year arise from the
properties held at the end of the reporting period.

11.

i B AL1E - 3k (&)

o 3% 0 2 1 e B ()

(ii) A W5 =8B 2 VA it 2 1 56 4 ()

(Y SEHE PNEJUECS S 7/E P& 2 B 9 A
B 15 B M) € B 2 P E(EL S BR T i 5 Ll ek
i E o Sl Al 275 AT 3t B ) 6T W iR A
7 K R g O W H RS R sy
B ROBHET I E B LR - R
it Y 7 A R o e (A R R R A N
EHO A EER R

AT L A SR S AP EE T IR
Ml g B AL I L B 2 - R OT IR A
BAMAKHES R EAL > L2 RTTHE
4B > DA B Rt A % S A A0 309 1% AT RE
B e 2 W o TR EAL 5% P T
F B A AL B R TR RS2 M T 10 T 3 T
MR o A A0 M T 09 B 3t B 4
B3R A ) o o A P8 (i R R B (R A
SIE B > BB o R AR B AL L
RERLHRE -

B W) 26 09 08 7 (E (O R R R R AR A 4R
R L BB AL E (R 1R) s 1%
e

BB W) 36 1 BE S0 9 B il O L At 4 AT W i
N2 [l 5 fat A ) o

A AE T 4H A o R R I BT A R HR B AR A R
HHAANYE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 M =F

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BT THF=RA=t+—R.LFE L&)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, OTHER 11. B EYE - Kb - B K
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND i B AL 43 (&)
....... LEASEHOLD LAND (continued) e
(¢) Right-of-use assets (c) 1 P& A
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of i AH B EE A KRG R A A Y B T O (E
underlying asset is as follows: AT -
31 March 1 April
2020 2019
R SR JUAE
Z=H=+—H WH—H
Notes $°000 $°000
Bt # T N

Ownership interests in leasehold land and A & # 5 1E B i 2 L&

buildings held for own use, R R Y B RE
carried at depreciated cost in Hong WE 4 (BT 8 AR B AR
Kong, with remaining lease term 114 7 ik A B I BR 2 1
between 10 and 50 years ENTHF 35,776 37,764
Ownership interests in buildings held for A& #EEIIMEEEH T 2
own use, carried at depreciated cost M1 B RERE 25
outside Hong Kong, with remaining (F T 85 A SR 1)
lease term between 10 and 50 years FIHBEHRA T2
A 9,365 10,620
(i) 45141 48,384
Interest in leasehold land held for FEARZHE
own use b £ (ii) 1,154 1,292
Other properties leased for own use, Hih\a Az HEYEN
carried at depreciated cost BE 2 (F 3T 85 A5 R (i) 6,252 23,657
e 52547 .. 73,333
Ownership interests in leasehold GENEid L/ EA:hE =g
investment property, carried at BE 4 (3T E(E 5 HR)
fair value, with remaining lease term 1) 7 i A B I BR -+ &
between 10 and 50 years Fi i 229,989 242 239
282,536 315,572

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% ¥R 2 MY =F

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BRE-F-TE=A=+—BILTE LUETH)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, OTHER

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
LEASEHOLD LAND (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued) (c)

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in
profit or loss is as follows:

11.

i B AL1E - 3k (&)

A I 4 28 2 (B0)

T 18 i N il B 2 LB B 2 B S OE B 2 A
LU

2020 2019
TR TR SR
(Note)
(Kt 7E)
$°000 $'000
T Foc
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets iR B 7 8N &) 4 Y
by class of underlying asset: ARG EITEE R -
Ownership interests in leasehold land FEE R ME LK
and buildings PR 1) A RERE 4 2,544 2,582
Interest in leasehold land held for own use Fife B 2 L8 L fiE 2 53 56
Other properties leased for own use Hib g A HEYE 4,718 =
7,315 2,638
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets R B W 1R 12,984 =
Interest on lease liabilities (note 4(a)) HEAE N E W (it4a@) 1,670 =
Expense relating to short-term leases and B g S AH B R At AH B
other leases with remaining lease term (fF AN —F RFE=A
ending on or before 31 March 2020 Z b — B 82 R ) AR 2
# 572 -
Expense relating to leases of low-value BREEEEHEAR 2 M
assets, excluding short-term leases of (A 5 AL 168 1 6 119 6 0 L B
low-value assets 94 -
Total minimum lease payments for leases SRR A s G 5T e R 251798
previously classified as operating leases A REHENHEY
under HKAS 17 o AR 5 A5 o AL BE - 6,088

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to
recognise right-of-use assets relating to leases which were previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. After initial recognition of
right-of-use assets at 1 April 2019, the Group as a lessee is required to
recognise the depreciation of right-of-use assets, instead of the previous
policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under operating leases
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Under this approach, the
comparative information is not restated. See note 1(c).

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were $381,000.
This amount primarily related to the capitalised lease payments
payable under new tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases, the maturity analysis of
lease liabilities and the future cash outflows arising from leases that
are not yet commenced are set out in notes 18(d), 21 and 27(a),
respectively.

Mgk : ALEOH % JUEMH — H IR
THE W UCER T A s B o R RS 16
S8 % A R B L e B s e
FATHRH N ERT A BUA R E A ENHER
B E - AT AR %L
EDH - HOE KRR > A EAE R R A
N ZE ik (8 R O Y BT R T AN R S I
Y B SR DL B A R A B A o R A
AR B ST o R B B T ik HOEE R
ATEI] - 2BIMFE(C) -

AR (A REE E R IN381,0000C > A KA
= B AR 5 S P R A B AR AL R
T A B -

FRMER &A% 1S a8 RS
B R it o BR 4 A0 FH S 2 A 0 R AR 3 & T
FEA 43 B R B EE18(d) ~ 21 &27(a) ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B 5

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE_Z-_TE=A=1+—HILFE &)

11.

(i)

(iii)

(@)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, OTHER
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
LEASEHOLD LAND (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)
Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings held for own use

The Group holds several industrial and commercial buildings
as administrative offices, staff quarters and factories where its
manufacturing facilities are primarily located. The Group is the
registered owner of these property interests, including the whole or
part of undivided share in the underlying land. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire these property interests from their
previous registered owners, and there are no ongoing payments to
be made under the terms of the land lease.

Interest in leasehold land held for own use

The Group was granted with land use rights for a period of 50 years
on leasehold lands located in the PRC. The Group is the registered
user of these lands. Lump sum payments were made upfront to
acquire the land use rights from the government authorities and
there are no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of the
lease.

Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other properties as its
factories and staff quarters through tenancy agreements. The leases
typically run for an initial period of two to ten years. Lease payments
are usually increased every two to five years to reflect market
rentals.

Investment properties leased out under operating leases

The Group leases out investment properties under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of one to three years,
with an option to renew the lease after that date at which time all
terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes variable lease
payments.

The Group’s total future undiscounted lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows:

11.

(i)

BEREY K - ALY K~ W5 K
il B AT 1 3 (40)

e 0 ()

H A 1 0BT L S e B 19 7 A

ALEEBEAZ M TREMMEERTIELH
FEEAEERMTERNER - B THE R
T o A B B % 55 ) SE R 4 10 ok T B
& o AR AR B 2 R AE 2 F B9 AR BR L
i o ) FL A A T B A AR o S S A
HII J1 0 TE A % S ) SE M 4 - ARYE T AR
B A I R A Y RROE S B S A

(i) FF1E H Al 6 LA pE i

A S5 B 7 o R G A B st i R 2 B 04F
(9 - o i RE o AR SR I Z a% S T Rd R A
FrA N > B SO — 238 A 3O > LA B
IR Je B (P RE AR AR R Rl
5 0 09 AR E W A e

dii) H A H B &Y ¥

(d)

A 45 ) 97 iR AH A0 1 ok U Ho At € A
FAHE > R H TR B T4 & > WEME
BRI R W AR R AR o B S
MAEETAE EJ > IR 5 -

e BAITZ Al B X

45 B D)4 LK 45 40 o LB R 3 o AL
AR EII — My — R % = I H
5 A 0 400 T A T B T LA O
T b ko AR A A 3R 4 T
S35 70 3 -

A S T AR 98 S T B 0 RO AL S A9 7E H
75 WAL 1A oA 2 R AT B A AR AR AN T

2020 2019

TR R ZE U

$°000 $000

T Tt

Within 1 year —AERLA 2,654 4,944
After 1 year but within 2 years — AR AR AE W AR A TR 2,472 -
After 2 year but within 3 years [ PIN 2,472 -
7,598 4,944
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-THF=RA=+—RILFE L&)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, OTHER

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
LEASEHOLD LAND (continued)

Impairment losses

The Group has two garment manufacturing plants in Guigang,
China and Bangladesh which suffered operating losses during the
year ended 31 March 2020. Each of them constituted a single cash
generating unit (“CGU”) of the Group.

The Group assessed the recoverable amounts of the other property,
plant and equipment of each CGU as at 31 March 2020 based on
the value-in-use calculations and as a result, the carrying amounts
of the other property, plant and equipment of both CGUs were
fully written down. Accordingly, an impairment loss of $14,627,000
(2019: $5,170,000) was recognised in profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2020. The estimates of recoverable amounts were
based on value-in-use calculations which adopted discount rates
of 19.4% and 11.0% (2019: 16.9%). The discount rates used are
pre-tax and reflect specific risks of respective CGUSs.

Impairment losses on other property, plant and equipment is
recognised in the line item “impairment losses on other property,
plant and equipment” on the face of the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

A F TE W B o i B o R R P A
HRRKREZ THRBE _F _FF=H
=t —HILFEREREREE - HEXA
MRAEBR Bl eEERA ([BlaEEs
fir]) e

A AE R A E BRI &H E E
AT A R KRR
THE=ZH =+ — B AT | &5 - Bk
% T B 4 R R 0 HA ) 2 BRI
R 0 W 1 (R UMY o B AR
FOoE EFBEZH=+—HILEEHEE
A Tl 58 8 (E 5 1H14,627,0000C (& — L
4 1 5,170,00070) ° A YL B 4 B 2 Al 5T Y
MR i (R Bk 2 IE RO A3 R
19.4% K 11.0% (= F — JL4E 1 16.9%) it
TG BL o {8 F 2 B B 32 0 B i B e e 45 3
ESEAEMNS AEA N ER -

ot ¥ 3 ~ WS Be M ok (8 M 18 e SR R
FRaiRan R LT A 3 - BT B B
HiEHE] -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 M =F

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_ZT_THF=-A=1+—BLFE (X&)

12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 12. f % 5

Club debentures

£
$000
FIr
Cost: WA
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019, 1 April 2019 RZE—/FEOH—H ~ ZF—JUFE
and 31 March 2020 “H=1t—H - ZF—FENA—H K
S —F_FF=A=t+—H 3,309
Accumulated amortisation: BAHay -
At 1 April 2018 W oFE—NFEWNH—H 229
Charge for the year A B 95
At8iMarch20t9 . . REF-NE=A=VH 324
At 1 April 2019 AZE—JUAEMN A —H 324
Charge for the year AT B 95
At8tMarch2o20 _ REF-EF¥=A=FT-H 419
Net book value: Y i ¥ ¢
At 31 March 2020 WNoE-THFE-H =1+—H 2,890
At 31 March 2019 WoE—NFE=H=+—H 2,985

The amortisation charge for the year is included in “other operating ZIKEF B HNEFIAGSEBEENTH
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. th £8& & H | IA -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_ZZF=-A=1—BIFE (K&

13. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(@)

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group at 31
March 2020. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise
stated.

13. BE)E A

(@) TR#EHMR _-F_FHE=A=+—H H
AEBES EERABEAERVEZE
T E A F Z WA o BR A GE WAL - P
A2 Bty 3% 1 8 L o

Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of Group’s
establishment issued and effective
Name of company and business paid up capital interest Principal activities
[ Vg A A CHET R ABH
kL U3 iS5 Sl e A ] B FHEEH
Hong Kong Knitters Limited Hong Kong 3,000,000 shares 100% Garment
FWAE A RA A it 3,000,000/ manufacturing and
investment holding
RGP
Exquisite Knitters (Guangzhou) Limited The People’s Republic HK$75,600,000 100% Knitting and dyeing
AR (R A7 R A | of China (“the PRC”) of fabrics and
w2 manufacturing
of garments
i kot ~ B
B A
Whampoa Garment Manufacturing The PRC HK$18,000,000 100% Garment
(Guigang) Co., Ltd e manufacturing
HO LR () A PR A ) AR 3
Lavender Garment Limited Bangladesh Taka35,511,050 100% Garment
Y IET manufacturing
Vestis Limited United Kingdom GBP2 100%  Garment wholesaling
e BEAHE
Dagon Talent Garment Limited Myanmar USD1,200,000 75% Garment
A manufacturing
# The English translation of the names is for reference only. The official names # ZESEH LR AWM XN Z

of these entities are in Chinese. These are also wholly-owned foreign
investment enterprises registered in the PRC.

The subsidiaries of the Group do not have material non-controlling
interests.

On 20 September 2018, the Company, through a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, entered into equity transfer agreements
to acquire 31% equity interests in Lavender Garment Limited
(“Lavender”) from the non-controlling equity holders of Lavender
at a consideration of USD467,000 (equivalent to $3,663,000).
Upon completion of the above acquisition, Lavender became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

FHEMSH o 3250 F B i b Gk ks 2
BRI EE AR -

A S [ 14 B R 2 D Sl 2 AR ORI I AR
FHE 4 o

) HZF—NFEJLAZTH > ARAFEHR
AL — 2 KA M E A A RT o RE
T Wk 0 DL {E467,0003 6 (M
#3,663,0007C) M Lavender Garment
Limited ([ Lavender J) 3k #¢ % 45 55 A5 A
Wil Lavenderf31 % I 0 fE 25 o 58 % bk
W% > Lavender & AEMM 2 GBS
B 5 23 W) o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 M =F

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE_Z-_TE=A=1+—HILFE &)

14. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES = . 4. B EEMS
2020 2019
TR TR TE— A
$’000 $’000
i Fo
Share of net assets JRE A ¥ FE 488,657 546,154

Details of the Group’s interests in joint ventures, which is accounted
for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements,
are as follows:

A G2 [ LLHE 2 3% AR A B OGRS IR 2
BhERE ZFER/FMT

Group’s
effective
interest  Principal activities

AR TR R

Place of
establishment

Name of joint venture and business

TREELM DL B B8

Wuxi No. 1 Cotton Investment Co., Ltd. (Note 1) The PRC

IS5 — M EBCE A R A F (M FET) i

Taizhou Changxin Textile (Xinghua) Co., Ltd. The PRC

N A% (BLAL) A BR 2wl H

Allied Textiles Co., Ltd. The PRC

S T B 575 A PR ] GHlEY

Wuxi YGM Textile Co., Ltd. The PRC

I 85 [ VLK B 9 A B ml i

Dongtai NAA Textiles Co., Ltd. The PRC

B TR 4 A BR A =+ i

Wuxi Shenxin Import and Export Co., Ltd. The PRC

S5 HOBTHE O A R i

GYT (HK) International Development Limited* Hong Kong
GRS

GYTA (Cayman) Investment Co., Ltd* Cayman Islands
BH & B I

GYTB (BVI) Investment Co., Ltd* British Virgin Island

([lBVl”)

B B LR

GYTC (BVI) Development Co., Ltd* BVI
B B LR

Wuxi Number One Cotton Ethiopia Textile PLC* Ethiopia
BRIEM R

92

49%  Investment holding
Eita< gLl

49%  Manufacturing of
textile products

By ity B

49%  Inactive
R

49%  Manufacture and
sale of textiles

B 2 844 B AR

49%  Inactive
R

49%  Trading
=&

49%  Investment holding
Eita< gLl

49%  Investment holding
Eita< gLl

49%  Investment holding
Eita< gLl

49%  Inactive
R

49%  Integrated
manufacturing of yarn,
fabric and garment

AP ER AR AR R
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

T-TFE=ZA=+—RHILEFE L ETH)

Wholly owned subsidiaries of Wuxi No. 1 Cotton Investment Co., Ltd.

L These joint ventures are sino-foreign equity joint ventures established in
the PRC. The English translation of the names of the joint ventures is for
reference only. The official names of these entities are in Chinese.

BN (8)

8 — AR A PR W 2 A A B A

% SF AR AR S R R R B L 2 A R
KA o ZE M EH L P MR
PSRN LTSS % -

Note 1: Wuxi No. 1 Cotton Investment Co., Ltd. is established by the Group Mttt - M — KA B A PR R £ AR 4R [ B A &
and other joint venture partners in Wuxi. It holds the above mentioned P S ST 2 A2 o HHEA LT
subsidiaries which are mainly engaged in the production of medium Mz MEAF > FERFEAEPHEEEY
range to high graded compact yamn, special textile products and garment NG G40~ P B AR A AR EE e
products.

All the joint ventures in which the Group participates are unlisted KEFHZHEPFASESEE WHEETS

corporate entities whose quoted market prices are not available.

WM LA AR -

Summarised financial information of Wuxi No.1 Cotton Investment 4 5 — A B A BR A T M LB R A F ] B
Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries, and a reconciliation to the carrying BRI, RSB RETEREZ
amount in the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed BERWHHENT
below:
2020 2019
ZRRAE TR
(Note 2)
(Ht7t2)
$°000 $'000
T F
Gross amounts of joint ventures ff-ge 3 L
Non-current assets T E) 1,473,331 1,081,007
Current assets B E 802,143 845,479
Non-current liabilities FE ) & (456,482) (54,707)
Current liabilities i) & (821,733) (757,178)
Equity 2 (997,259) (1,114,601)
Included in the above assets and liabilities: BLFEAE Bl i B K ALl
Cash and cash equivalents B4R 4% EY 155,779 159,062
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and i Bl 4 fil & {5 (4 £ 4% FE A1 R 3k
other payables and provisions) T HoAth JE AT 3 B 438 44 (340,974) (471,433)
Non-current financial liabilities (excluding trade  JE i@ 4 @l & {E (B35 REAT R X
and other payables and provisions) e LAt A R B A (441,004) (41,269)
Revenue e A 1,049,647 1,347,940
Adjusted EBITDA R R A S ~ BIIE - AT
e 4 T 1) 2 ) 24,322 97,884
(Loss)/profit from continuing operations FR A 26T (ks 1R) i A (49,581) 24,505
Other comprehensive income HoAth 4 Tk 4 5,707 (801)
Dividends received [SRq¥s - -
Included in the above profit: AL G AE b3l i) 35 A1)
Depreciation and amortisation e K 8 (61,654) (55,192)
Interest income B 4 1,078 1,165
Interest expense R (17,833) (12,629)
Income tax credit/(expense) T BLAE %, (2 ) 3,876 (6,723)
Reconciled to the Group’s interests AHE A A SR AR 2 R
in the joint ventures
Gross amounts of net assets of HESEEE T
the joint ventures 997,259 1,114,601
Group's effective interest A A 1 B R R g 49% 49%
Carrying amount in the consolidated &R AT R R MR
financial statements 488,657 546,154

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RATHRKA A 5
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 M =F

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE_Z-_TE=A=1+—HILFE &)

14. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Note 2: The joint ventures have initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and reclassified the net carrying amount of lease
prepayments for the land use rights as right-of-use assets at 1 April
2019. Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated.

BN (8)

MFE2 « & B A 2K T R A B RT B WA R T
T B HE RS8R - R —F — JUAE
P9 A — H o o R AL TR A RO T
T3 (8 T 2 U O R M o R R B
%o WIRE R TES

15. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS . ... . 15 b Z@BEE
2020 2019
SRR ZE— U
$°000 $000
F FT
Equity securities designated at FVOCI 3 52 9 3 U b 2 B 2 9% A 1R i
(non-recycling) N R 1 JBE R o 2 A W) o )
— Unlisted equity securities - Ik LT ICRERE S5 17,791 16,906
— Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong — Fris BE b LT B R R 2,087 3,105
19,878 20,011

The Group designated the following investments in equity securities
at FVOCI (non-recycling) as the investments are held for strategic
purposes:

(@ Companhia de Electricidade de Macau (C.E.M.) SARL, a
company incorporated in Macau and engaged in transmitting,
distributing and selling of electricity in Macau. The fair value of
the investment is $11,262,000 as at 31 March 2020 (2019:
$10,403,000). Dividends of $501,000 were received on this
investment during the year (2019: $533,000);

World Trade Centre Macau Co. Limited, a company
incorporated in Macau and engaged in development
and promotion of international trade. The fair value of the
investment is $6,529,000 as at 31 March 2020 (2019:
$6,503,000). No dividends were received on this investment
during the year (2019: $243,000);

(c) Toyota Tsusho Corporation, a company incorporated
and listed in Japan and engaged in general trading and
manufacturing. The fair value of the investment is $494,000
as at 31 March 2020 (2019: $689,000). No dividends were
received on this investment during the year (2019: $nil);

Travelite Holdings Limited, a company incorporated and listed
in Singapore and engaged in investment holding and provision
of management services. The fair value of the investment is
$1,593,000 as at 31 March 2020 (2019: $2,416,000). No
dividends were received on this investment during the year
(2019: $nil).

A S5 R A LAT 45 E 725 R L Ath 4 T i g 9%
TR B BR B R HE B 5 (O mT [l ) AR 5K
X CRENIVE S < gk

(@) R TE H7 M0 A BR A A — R R
S S VA /AT | A ¢ W 1
W M EET o I ZF F
E=ZH=Z+—H1t  ZHENHAF
8514 %11,262,00000 (=& — L& :
10,403,00070) ° A% 4% B 4 3k b I8 4%
%2 W B501,0000C il E (W F — L
4£ 1 533,0007C)

= 7 A ST (e sl /A P o
— [H R P R AR ST Y A D I AE
ERMEEBRBEYE S @ik —F =
FHEZAZT—HIE > ZHENA T
& £6,529,0007C (% — L& :
6,503,0007%) o 74 B (A Sl 40 50 1 IH
BEPHUB B (—F — JL4F 1 248,000

JT)

LRI W S el 1 A SN
Mgt sr K BBy A AR — R
V& SE S KR - o
AH=Z=+—Hi > ZHEHAVFEHE
5494,0007C (=% — JL4E : 689,000
JC) o ARAFRE A S0 0 S 0k TE 5 i
B E—JUAE )

Travelite Holdings Limited#& — [
BB a0 AR AR G s i /A | A
WGP MRV E RS - 1k =%
CEFZA=ZF—HIE BBRENA
18 {H £1,593,00000 (& — JLAF ¢
2,416,00070) ° 45 A Sif 4 5 it 16
WE BB E (. F—JLF : IE) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% ¥R 2 MY =F

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BRE-F-TE=A=+—BILTE LUETH)

16. INVENTORIES 18- R
(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position (a) HFERAEEMBERAFLE
comprise:
2020 2019
TR TR ZE A
$°000 $000
T T7C
Raw materials SR R 7,701 15,439
Work in progress TE RS 37,649 48,940
Finished goods R 5,895 4,798
51,245 69,177
(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense (b) RSB AE i B A 55 3% W 2 A
and included in profit or loss is as follows: WmE :
2020 2019
BRI TR
$°000 $000
T N
Carrying amount of inventories sold 7B E R (E 542,405 584,877
Write-down of inventories A7 B o 3,782 578
Reversal of write-down of inventories A7 B2 Bl 3 (1,045) (425)
545,142 585,030
The reversal of write-down of inventories made in prior years arose WA AR B 1 B RO ] Y MR B A EE
due to an increase in the net realisable value of garment products by AN B A R AR I B T B
reference to the sales made during the year and subsequent to the S E W T 5 BV (R 04 A EE RS i o E o
year end.
17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES = = | 17, HEWCR K S S0 fb ek
2020 2019
TR TR ZE A
(Note)
(K7E)
$°000 $000
T N
Trade debtors JRE i R K 57,954 55,984
Bills receivable R Wi S 48,075 28,606
Less: loss allowance (note 26(a)) W R (M F26(a) (6,586) (3,546)
99,443 81,044
Deposits, prepayments and other debtors T4 TEAST R S CH: A R Wik 17,404 15,284
Amounts due from related companies JRE Wiz 8 73 2 ] IR
(note 28(c)) (M i#28(c)) 982 1,991
Derivative financial instruments i 4 T H 1,352 56
119,181 98,375
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 M =F

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BT THF=RA=t+—R.LFE L&)

Note: On the date of transition to HKFRS 16, prepaid lease payments of st o AR UE R A BB R MR RIS 1698 E H
$1,169,000 previously included in “Deposits, prepayments and other SeHl Rt A TRT A > TEAT B S Al RE i i
debtors” were adjusted to right-of-use assets recognised at 1 April 2019. R A S AT 1,169,000 0 B S E it —
See note 1(c). F—JUFEMA —HERNEAEEE - 2

Bl B 581 (c) -

Substantially all of the Group’s trade and other receivables are 7R 45 [ 2 48 R 5 T i B B HC A T i 3k

expected to be recovered or recognised as an expense within one Y4 FE W — AR TR i ] R R A S o

year.

The amounts due from related companies are unsecured, B THIERE GRS T2 S » JE

interest-free and recoverable on demand except for those trade B E N B IE R AR - AR A

related items under normal trade terms. S 5 422 30 0 R BRE A R o

Ageing analysis Wk 8% 2 Bt

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade REEEH - R IEEE I H W) 0B R R

debtors and bills receivable (which are included in trade and other 15 04 T A HR R T R i SR B (2 FE A B IR

receivables), based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is R B EL A E S ) B R A A AT R

as follows:

2020 2019

R R TR =LA
$°000 $000

T FC

Within 1 month — & H LA 46,335 38,472

Over 1 month but within 2 months — 1 H L E{E i A AR 24,278 18,669

Over 2 months but within 3 months k(DN =X DE ] 17,331 7,142

Over 3 months but within 4 months =8 A DL EAE T A PAA 6,297 8,801

Over 4 months PIEEPERY 5,202 7,960

99,443 81,044

Trade debtors and bills receivable are due between 0 to 330 days JE Wi B K M R U 228 AR B B H £ 0330

from the date of biling. Further details on the Group’s credit policy H BB o A BE A 42 B 10 15 80 BRI I

are set out in note 26(a). =R B 5E26(a) -

18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER 18. Bl & R B &% Y X Bl &
....... CASH FLOW INFORMATION . CHER
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) BERBASEEY A :
2020 2019
ZRBAE R
$°000 $°000
T Tz
Cash at bank and in hand SRAT A7 AR X B 4 272,451 323,769
Less: Restricted bank deposits W 22 PR ERAT A7 K = (112)

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated A %GB &M B ENH & &

cash flow statement &% EY 272,451 323,657
Restricted bank deposits represented guarantee deposit placed at 2 R 1 SR AT A7 B AT Y SR AT A HE 0 R M R
bank for importing raw materials into Mainland China for custom ) v B oK e 1 g R R 4 o
purpose.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-THF=RA=+—RILFE L&)

. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER 18.

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before taxation to cash (used in)/

(b) BRBERHT O dR) %A SLAR 588 (T ) 7

YR (A1)

generated from operations:

Fifd Bl a2 BIK :

approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities relating to leases which were
previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. Previously,
cash payments under operating leases made by the Group as a lessee
of $6,088,000 were classified as operating activities in the consolidated
cash flow statement. Under HKFRS 16, except for short-term lease
payments and payments for leases of low-value assets not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities, all other rentals paid on leases are now split
into capital element and interest element (see note 18(c)) and classified as
financing cash outflows. Under the modified retrospective approach, the

comparative information is not restated. Further details on the impact of the

transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in note 1(c).

2020 2019
TR TR
(Note)
(Bt 7E)
Note $’000 $’000
Bt it T FIT
(Loss)/profit before taxation Bian (k548) T Al (50,420) 22,951
Adjustments for: %
Dividend income from equity securities REAE RS I 2 B Bl g 3 (501) (776)
Interest income FLE Wz 3 (3,250) (2,731)
Gain on disposal of interest in an associate & — i 4%/ FHE 5 0 45 - (55)
Net gain on disposals of other property, A A 2~ W &
plant and equipment R A TR 3 (24) (181)
Finance costs Bl & LA 4(a) 4,248 3,506
Amortisation of pre-paid interests in TA AR 1 3K
leasehold land 114 4 514 4(c) - 56
Amortisation of intangible assets IV 6 7 B 4(c) 95 95
Depreciation Ires 4(0) 8,721 4,437
Impairment losses on trade receivables R A R R Uk s 48 4(0) 3,040 =
Impairment losses on other property, plant — H A3 - M= M w i
and equipment IORIEN, ZFic| 11(e) 14,627 5,170
Share of losses/(profits) of joint ventures JEAL & A 2R E,
(325 1) 24,295 (12,007)
Net valuation losses/(gains) on investment £ &4 A5 E K18,
properties (W £ ) 548 11(a) 10,616 (3,361)
Provision for long service payments 12 WA IR 4 13l 24 2,331 2,293
Foreign exchange gain i 5,15 4 (6,131) (4,469)
Changes in working capital: SR ) -
Decrease/(increase) in inventories R,/ 8 17,932 (491)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and JIRE A PR S A R A 3k
other receivables (3 hm) /w b (23,719) 21,681
(Decrease)/increase in trade and JHRE A5 TR e LAt JE A5 K
other payables () B (11,540) 636
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities HHIAE () s (207) 4,952
Payment of long service payments W55 < =2 (54) (246)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations #4265 (B ) /i G 8l 4 (9,941) 41,460
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective Mt s REBER -F—JUENH —HRMEE

FTIE W5 1 OKCBR R U B A A
1655 K 1 B 010 &5 6F DL T AR B R I & gt
e QS 7HRTE T S A A B A A R
A B T ME S R B e LR
SE R 2 R U S8 LR N 1 BL A AT K
6,088,0007C i &5 A Bl 4 i B R 5 A 5
TE B o MR s IS O HE R 2B 1695 0 R
S TR A A A4 A
HoAt B R A AR 4 B A B AR T A A
4y (2B M sE18(c)) » S 2 J5 B Al & B &
T e AR AERTIE L > HIRER AT
A o 3P S ME RS 16 R
Y B RO B EE ()
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B 5

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE_Z-_TE=A=1+—HILFE &)

18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing
activities.

18. Bl B Bl & 5 W K oAb BL &3
OB (A1)

(c) 6 ) A A A 2 IR

AR RE A A A RS ) TS B R S B
(EEBR SRR EET) - MEEH G
BB & B SOR AR B & R AR A SR
M A5 B4 U B R R A O ) T A
BEhE -

Lease liabilities

iINERER
$'000
Fr
(Note 21)
(Kt##21)
At 31 March 2019 R -EZA=Z1T—H —
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 16 (Note) T U T A s A RS ISR e
B (Mfat) 22,488
At1Apri2ot9  REF-AEMA-R 22,488
Changes from financing cash flows: WEBR RS -
Capital element of lease rentals paid BT E M 4 2 E AT (4,402)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BT L L 4 2 B B &84 (1,670)
Total changes from financing cash flows BESE#REZEHAE (6,072)
Exchange adjustments [ 53, W 3 (504)
Other changes: oAb 5 ) -
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into 9N BT S A EE A )RR AR
new leases during the period 381
Interest expenses (note 4(a)) B W (ftata(a) 1,670
Totalotherchanges . . . .. ... ... MAbseses . .2081_
At 31 March 2020 WoR_RE=ZA=Z1T—H 17,963

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
method and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise
lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17. See notes 1(c) and 18(b).

Mtar o AREEEH ZF—UFENH — H IR E
HTHE W TR PR P A s B S A e RIS 1 6
% N R RS ) 4 DA TE R B s & S e
SEATHRIA T SRR A B B AL R A
B AL B B o (BB EE1(c) X 18(D)) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% ¥R 2 MY =F

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BRE-F-TE=A=+—BILTE LUETH)

18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER 18. B4 EB 4% R KB £

....... CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)  ~ B¥ERL(E) ...
(d) Total cash outflow for leases d) REHLEHMMEH
Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow statement for HemeXtHENSFEURFEM T&HE
leases comprise the following:
2020 2019
TR TR =R =L
(Note)
(Kt 7E)
$°000 $’000
T To
Within operating cash flows JBS A B8 B A U i 666 6,088
Within financing cash flows JE I T B 4 U = 6,072 -
6,738 6,088
Note: As explained in the note to note 18(b), the adoption of HKFRS 16 Mk © A B EE18(b) BT Al > BF A ik A RS i 1 e
introduces a change in classification of cash flows of certain rentals paid on Hl%E1e98 s THEC /T4 M B 40
leases. The comparative amounts have not been restated. BB - RGN EED -
19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES = = = . 19, MEAT WX B ICfb e AF kL
2020 2019
TR R TR
$°000 $000
T Fi
Trade creditors JREAST B 20 40,406 43,776
Bills payable AT B 708 1,127
41,114 44,903
Accrued charges and other creditors JE ST 2 R R JE Al A+ 3k 31,799 38,941
Amounts due to related companies JREAST B ) 3 E
(note 28(c)) (Kt7#28(c)) 224 198
Amounts due to joint ventures (note 28(c)) JEAT G 8 A 2 IE (M 728 () 13 648
73,150 84,690
All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled or FIT AT M AF H% 3 e JEL At R A5F 33K 7 30050 i — 4F
recognised as income within one year or are repayable on demand. A8 75 e 52 25 i A B 4 78 B IR R o
The amounts due to related companies and joint ventures are W THEIEEE SRR T EIT 2585
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand except for those A5 BRI N | K A A S TR WA I
trade related items under normal trade terms. AN RE s SN 7 4 A B AR R -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 M =F

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BT THF=RA=t+—R.LFE L&)

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
creditors and bills payable (which are included in trade and other
payables), based on the invoice date, is as follows:

AT B 7K B L A M A 5k (81)

TRESEH o ARREE ST H A R A R K e R
FFE4R (2 FE AR AT Bk B H At 1B A+ 300 B9
WRBe AT T -

2020 2019
TR TR ZE A
$°000 $000
T N
Within 1 month — i H LAY 24,823 21,396
Over 1 month but within 2 months —{8 A LA L EmAE A LA 4,741 10,268
Over 2 months but within 3 months A A DL EAE = A8 H LA 4,023 9,491
Over 3 months =AML 7,527 3,748
41,114 44 903

20. CONTRACT LIABILITIES  20.@#@6
2020 2019
TR TR ZE A
$°000 $000
i Fr
Receipts in advance from customers &5 TEAT K 4,745 4,952

The Group receives advances from customers before the delivery
of goods, this will give rise to contract liabilities upon receipt of
payment. Revenue recognised when the related goods are sold to
the customers. The payment arrangement is negotiated on a case
by case basis with customers.

WA AR B AT B W AT i B & T R A AR
Ao AR W A MR R E R A B
W A AR B B A T RS R RERD o 1K
PR AR R EL R DS B 7 T E

2020 2019
Movements in contract liabilities AR AR TR TR TR U
$°000 $000
i Fr
Balance at 1 April A —H 2 &5 4,952 3,524
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of & &) & & [F4F K #E R R W 5 A
recognising revenue during the year that G H) B A Z AT D
was included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the period (3,558) (2,130)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of & &) & & [F 8 £ A W3 1 n
receipts in advance of performance 3735i 3,558
Balance at 31 March W=TH—H 2k 4,745 4,952

The amount of receipts in advance of performance expected to
be recognised as income after more than one year is $nil (2019:
$1,394,000).

TE )7 R — AT 1% W R B A 1Y B A Rk
e R EE L (—F— JU4F 1 1,394,000

JC) e
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For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-THF=RA=+—RILFE L&)

21. LEASE LIABILITIES  2LWLBAE
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the N FE Y AL F R AR OR i E &
Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the current reporting period and s BB s ME HI SE e H 2 & A &
at the date of transition to HKFRS 16: HO B T & %9 E 3 D

31 March 2020 1 April 2019 (Note)
R CEE=ZA=1—H ZEZ—NEMNA—HB (Bt
Present value of Present value of
the minimum  Total minimum the minimum Total minimum

lease payments lease payments  lease payments  lease payments

BRI, BMGAEEANR  REMEMK REREMK

B A% Bl Fiik)
$°000 $°000 $'000 $000
T i T T
Withindyear TRMA wihe ) i I Gsh
After 1 year but within 2 years — R H AR LA 4,185 5,157 4,086 5,382
After 2 years but within 5 years (R RN 9,679 10,795 12,283 14,269
After 5 years TR - - 1,736 1,846
e 13864 . 15952 18105 . 21497
17,963 21,342 22,488 27,547
Less: total future interest expenses I : &4 F B 37 H 424 (3,379) (5,059)
Present value of lease liabiities 1 & £ & 17,963 22,488
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective Mfat : AREEMBER F—ILFENA—HEH&E
approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise FTHE W0 WK R T A M A e RIS 16
lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified as 5% K o R W ) &5 B DR R B A o 6 w1 e
operating leases under HKAS 17. Comparative information as at 31 March SEATHRIE R T M A REHE SR
2019 has not been restated. Further details on the impact of the transition B EaE . 22— NLE=H=1+—H
to HKFRS 16 are set out in note 1(c). Lo RS T E B o U A RS IR

HE I 251 655 A9 52 28 A9 SR 1% SR B RE1(c) ©

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RATHRKA A 5
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B 5

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE_Z-_TE=A=1+—HILFE &)

22,

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the
MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of $30,000. The employer's contributions to the MPF
scheme vest immediately.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Exempted
ORSO Scheme in Hong Kong for those employees who were
eligible to participate in the scheme. This scheme is operated in
a way similar to the MPF scheme, except that when an employee
leaves the scheme prior to his/her interest in the Group’s employee
contributions vesting fully, the ongoing contributions payable by the
Group are reduced by the relevant amount of forfeited employer’s
contributions or refunded to the employer.

The employees of subsidiaries of the Group established in the PRC
are members of a state-sponsored retirement scheme organised
by the local government in the PRC. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute, based on a certain percentage of payroll, to the
retirement scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to these retirement schemes is to make the
required contributions under the terms of the scheme.

. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position
represents:

22. @ BB KA

A AR [ e R P A A T e 40 A AR
P8 A& s COE 0 1 190D B8 0 2 IR B 5% A i il
HAMERE (REESFE ] - mAEEF
B 2 B HEFORIKER B > B 5 e
oo AR PR A T H o R KR B YA
HEZFHIZ IR B A B2 A Z5%1E
oo MEH A A B A 2 EBRZ30,00070 °
g = 1) o A < T AR 2 A R I B R R
E o

AW - AL BTN B G 2 B R
O T 4 O R T SE AR IR R B 2 A B ST
wt B o w%at I DAL o A B a2 O XA
HOMERARTSER YU EAAELEN
1 B T B > 3 i A E 8 RO
PRI AR SR 1 B AR 2 Rk SUR 2 B & -

A SR T A v B RS 2 B o ) 2 A B TS R
180 5 4 O AH 4 < T A 2 2 IR B
ZINE o AW E A R R TR
T o3 Lo AR B R E # fE3K o A S Bt R
PR & B R 4 2 ME — B AR R S R R B
EZ PR -

23. &5k 45 W5 IR OL 3% Bt s 9 o 74 Bt

(a) 554 W B 5K B 3 BT 7 1 A 91 BE X 2y

2020 2019
e St 272 TR =LA

$’000 $’000

T T

Current tax recoverable AT [ A B I (378) (347)
Current tax payable JREASS AR 1 o T 7,340 14,709
6,962 14,362

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BRE-F-TE=A=+—BILTE LUETH)

23. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 23. 554 W B IR B 3% B s 1 B 7 B
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (%)
....... (oMt e e
(b) Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised: (b) CHEREBERE (KR A :
(i) The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised in the (i) CHEHEHYBEWRLELEZBIELREHE (F
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements during BE) A 5 1 ALk B8 A A AE BE 1 %2 5B
the year are as follows: F:
Depreciation
allowances in
Revaluation  excess of the Provision for  Undistributed
of investment related ~ Provision for  long service profits of Cash flow
properties  depreciation  inventories payments jointventures  Tax losses hedge Total
% WEHRIE 2] ahhE iERTE S
WEER  2EARE i B AARRN iR h] it
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
i i T i i i i i

Deferred tax arising from: - E&RFHE :

At1 April 2018 REZ—N\ELA—H 5972 6,905 (192) (3,537) 8,040 - (446) 16,742

Bchange adustments  [ESAE (376) 67 12 222 - - - 79)
(Creditedycharged to profit  RME &R (GHA) /1

or loss (123 (190 81) (218 15 - - (597)

Charged to resenves feRetimi - - - - = = 446 44

At 31 March 2019 REF-NE=A=1—H 5473 6,782 (261) (3533 8,055 - - 16,516

At1 April 2019 REZ—fENA—H 5473 6,782 (261) (3,533) 8,055 - - 16,616

Exchange adjustments [ .70 (369) 57 19 236 (630) - - (583)
Charged/(credited) to profit B AR /(3T A)

or loss 47 186 (78) (142) - (291) - 102

At 31 March 2020 REEZREZR=1-H 5,53 7,005 (320 (3,439) 7525 (291) - 16,035

(ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial position (ii) 3% 5 Y 5k 0 76 Y e

2020 2019

TR TR TR =L

$°000 $000

T T

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the TE 55 G BATS IR 2R Al R Y
consolidated statement of financial position TEAEBLIE A BT E 16,035 16,516
YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED E i ® &4 R A 7 103
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B 5

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_Z-TF=A=+—HIFE GET)

23. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

23.

Fs 45 W B IR DL 3 Bt s g B 4 Bt

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (%)
....... (COMENUed) | e
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised: (c) AR Wi 0y 3B o BE W ¥ i -
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(t), AR RS B B ()P € BT SR > AR 4B [
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of A2 T BB A | A w] HE 0 ks RERR
cumulative tax losses of $14,827,000 (2019: $15,531,000) and R 11 4R AC B TH ¥ 7 S #014,827,0007C (—
other deductible temporary differences of $13,866,000 (2019: E—JL4F 1 15,5631,00000) K H Ath m] & 10
$14,448,000) as it is not probable that future taxable profits against WL 25 1 13,866,00070 (=& — JL4E ¢
which the temporary differences can be utilised will be available in 14,448,0007C) > i 76 A BH B 8 2 B %5
the relevant tax jurisdiction of the entities. Tax losses amounting to ANEREIRIN F > A o BB 2 IR 2 B
$5,316,000 (2019: $5,316,000) do not expire under the relevant HE B oK A BB s A 2 AT BE MEAR A o MR 4E
current tax legislation, while the remaining tax losses amounting to FRBATBE LG RBIBNBFER S
$9,511,000 (2019: $10,215,000) incurred by the PRC subsidiaries 3:5,316,0007C (& — JU4F : 5,316,000
will expire before 2025, in five years after they are incurred. J6) o T AR 0 B P R JE A A EE A B
518 A 3£9,511,00000 (= F — L4 -
10,215,0007C) #% i &% 5 48 & 4= #1142 1
o R FE R -
24. PROVISION FOR LONG SERVICE PAYMENTS 24 MR85 &80 ...
2020 2019
TR R ZEUE
$°000 $°000
T FC
At the beginning of the year i l] 23,498 22,728
Exchange adjustments [ifE b, 3% (1,436) (1,277)
Provision made (note 4(b)) N B (FEE4b)) 2,331 2,293
Payments during the year N AT K (54) (246)
At the end of the year JAF# 24,339 23,498

Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group is obliged
to make lump sum payments on cessation of employment in certain
circumstances to employees who have completed at least five years
of service with the Group. The amount payable is dependent on
the employees’ final salary and years of service, and is reduced by
entitements accrued under the retirement schemes of the Group
that are attributable to contributions made by the Group.

Under the PRC Labour Contract Law,
make lump sum payments on cessation

the Group is obliged to
of employment in certain

circumstances to employees. The amount payable is dependent on
the employees’ final salary and years of service.

The Group does not set aside any assets to fund the above

remaining obligations.

R A s CHR B 1)) - A SR B A B0 AE 1l il
W5 AF B AR B A BT AE A T4 0L 45 1k
208 B BT S B o BT ST Y
SRR B B0 58 A L R B AR
i E o Sl AT R R B fE AR AR R AR R #) T
alHE A PR 42 T O 2 OH -

WA 58 SRk - AEEARERN
TE A T BT 452 1k 2 1 B0 4R B AT — e
W& o BT SIS I AR IR B B 1 iR
i M iR B A O 7 E

A AR 0 Sl 9 45 AT ] A DA RE A b ot R B
ST
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% ¥R 2 MY =F

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BRE-F-TE=A=+—BILTE LUETH)

25. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 25.

(a) Movements in components of equity (a)

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes

BEA i A e Je
i 25 AL 36 B 2 5 )

254 1 55 W 2 5 AL 4 40 40 90 LA
Ao 0 B R M 2 S D o o A8 R
251 AL L0 9 O 44 T A 2 SR Y R A

in the Company’s individual components of equity between the wr
beginning and the end of the year are set out below:
Investment Land and
revaluation buildings
Share reserve revaluation Hedging Retained
capital ~ (non-recycling) reserve reserve profits Total
BHRGRE  LARRY )
Bk CRW#E) L] S G RE A it
Note $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Mt Tz Tz Tz Tz Tz Tz
Balance at 1 April 2018 e SYIL
e WAHeAR (L [ N dss Wy WY B
Changes in equity for the year: AEERERSED
Loss for the year AEEER - - - - (5,250) (5,250)
Other comprenensive income Hib A = 1,087 = 1,008 = 2043
Tod comperershencome fortreveer | APEEEMEAR - ] LS - 20n
Divicends approved in respect of RERRAERR
epeiovsyer R UL - S SO ... N 24810
Balance at 31 March 2019 i Y|
ESRliPa i 208418 14,468 41,762 - 706,984 971,630
Balance at 31 March 2019 RZZ-WE=)
IR Shonesk 2648 e we T Toes | 9Tew
Changes in equity for the year: AR :

Loss for the year N - - - - (17,986) (17.986)
Qther comprehensive income Eib2 i - 44 5,809 - - 5,765
Tod compebershenoome fortrevesr | KREEEREAR - I L .

Dividends approved i respect of KR ER
epeiovsyer R L S O .-l 24810
Balance at 31 March 2020 i e 2 ;|

BSR4 ] 208418 14,422 47571 - 664,188 934,599
Note: The Group, including the Company, has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 Mgt - AREHE GFEARAAF > B ZF - LFEN

April 2019 using the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach,
comparative information is not restated and there is no net effect on the
opening balance of the Company’s equity as at 1 April 2019. See notes 1(c)
and 31.

H— R AN AE T I8 W) 35 0 YO T A i
5 E 1608 o R A B T ik iR
ERR T E A R AR R
Ho— 2 BV HE 6 45 B WM 7 kv R

Z B EET(c) )31 o

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RATHRKA A 5
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 M =F

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE_Z-_TE=A=1+—HILFE &)

25. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 25. JBeAS ~ Gk i B OB B (%)
....... (COMENUed) | e
(b) Dividends (b) A&
(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable (i) KEAAR 2 vl )R BE 15 A5 A A AF JE I
to the year
2020 2019
TR ZE LA
$°000 $'000
T T7C
Final dividend proposed after the end of the AT R AR TR R A R
reporting period of $nil (2019 $0.12) per B I B & e (B — JUAE
ordinary share 0.127t8) - 24,810
The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period has &S H R R TR B R R E R 4
not been recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period. BHBERHAME-
(ii) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable (i) MEN KL al B HEF5 45 N g it | — 3 B 4
to the previous financial year, approved and paid during the year JE 5 5l R A PE o B SE AT 19 R B
2020 2019
TR R ZE U
$°000 $000
T T
Final dividend in respect of the previous JEIA b — BB SR A A
financial year, approved and paid during A% UE B SCAS A A 1 JE B M
the year of $0.12 (2019: $0.12) W B0 1200 (. F — L4
per ordinary share 0.127t) 24,810 24,810
(c) Issued share capital (c) CEATBEA
2020 2019
TR ZEJUE
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
Bty ¥ H Eog | & 53 B B ol
’000 $°000 ’000 $000
T T T T7T

Ordinary shares, issued and  ©%47 & U 8 & ¥ 78 Bt

fully paid:
At the beginning and W] B AE#

the end of the year 206,748 208,418 206,748 208,418
In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies M5 A s S B B 55 13516 » A & [ 48
Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the Company do not have a par % SIf Y AT ZEh(H o
value.
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as W AR A RE RO R E R R
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share A H A REAE AN R R R & &% IR i —
at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with TR L) 22 B 22 o B A AW AR AR N )
regard to the Company’s residual assets. T EE LY AR R -

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RATHRKABA A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

25.

(U]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

T-TFE=ZA=+—RHILEFE L ETH)

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)

Nature and purpose of reserves
Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of operations
outside Hong Kong. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 1(w).

Investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling)

The investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) comprises
the cumulative net change in the fair value of equity investments
designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 that are held at the end of the
reporting period (see note 1(f)).

The investment revaluation reserve is not available for distribution to
equity shareholders of the Company.

Land and buildings revaluation reserve

The land and buildings revaluation reserve has been set up and is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for land
and buildings set out in note 1(j).

The land and buildings revaluation reserve is not available for
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company.

Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve comprised the effective portion of the
cumulative net change in the fair value of hedging instruments used
in cash flow hedges pending subsequent recognition of the hedged
cash flow in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
cash flow hedges. The Group ceased to apply hedge accounting for
the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020.

Other reserve

Other reserve represents a statutory reserve fund. According to the
articles of association of the subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC,
the subsidiaries are required to transfer at least 10% of their net
profit, as determined in accordance with the PRC accounting rules
and regulations applicable to enterprises with foreign investment,
to the statutory reserve fund until the reserve balance reaches 50%
of the registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made
before distribution of a dividend.

YANGTZEKIAN

(d)
(i)

(ii)

JBeAR ~ i i B B 2 (%)

ik 5 199 P e T 9

HE 56 ik

BEE 50, {5 €0 975 IR 46 55 A o 5 O SE 5 2 T 5
SR A A 2 B AR S 22 B o W% AR TS R
15 B S (w) B 2 & R BOR R PR

BB AN ikt 45 (A 7T 1] )

AR A s A A YR R SR O0E o 5 A ok

5 O mT B [a] ) 60 55 A 3t H IR 048 2
75 4l L At 2 T AT 45 40 08 ST (8 A IR A R
RESEE N REEE A (BB EE1) -

P& A A A AT 0 IR T AR B
PN

(iii) 7 Jib B B 5 L A% ik

/N RN VAR o DR - Al R R R K
AR - b % M T BT BRSO B R () B B R
5 i P o

-+ R A B A A RS T B R T AR A F
IEHEREA A -

(iv) B fif i

SF b fott A 60 2 B P B4 A S ) 3 b
LTRZAEMB A TEERFFED
M 5% B 45 Uik i 3 Db A 1R RS AR AR 95 B 0k i
ERUINDR i 6 SR 7 S N S A =
E-NFERZEZEFE=ZA =+ HILME
A JE 45 11 R ) v &t o

(v) A fif g

A fot 485 7% 125 G 2 < o AR IR AS SR R
B B s R 2 A AR AR A R B A
) ZE A]J ) AR R T R AN E A 2 2
kAR e B e 2 MR 2 D 10% 2
MRS H R ML RER R E
A 250% % 1k o 1] i Gl i BT 7F w458 [m] 6 28
A 73 B B S T A o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B 5

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE-F-TF=A=t-ALEE LETH)

25. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 25.
....... (comtinued) e
(e) Capital management (e)

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholders
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a net
debt-to-adjusted-capital ratio. For this purpose the Group defines
net debt as total debt (which includes interest-bearing loans and
borrowings) plus unaccrued proposed dividends less cash and cash
equivalents (which excluded pledged deposits). Adjusted capital
comprises all components of equity, less unaccrued proposed
dividends.

During the current financial year, the Group’s strategy, which was
unchanged from the previous financial year, was to maintain the
net debt-to-adjusted-capital ratio at a reasonable level. In order to
maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to
shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had outstanding interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

JBeAR ~ i i B B 2 (%)

A4 B

A SR M BB AR ) B A0 A e AR AR T RE
R GRAC R > 0 1 R BELJE B K - A R Y
B i B R R AR B DA B A L AR
17T FIE F55 451 170 Jse SRR 436 [k B i) HC A AR R A
R A A -

AR B AR L e A e R BB AR
1 > 5 R A 1R A5 8K O KO AR DL P
iy o WG B K P AT RE T A R S R (] i
17T V5 B4 AR IR D B B A o A 4R AR
PR A8 3751 WO S A T B AR SRR AR R

A S [ 42 IR 5 T S A O R AR L R
BRI E AL MW > AL EE
RS 1 R 5 E M BB AR (B B K
FeA3K) > n b Ik 2 IR A S B 4 R B
EHEEY (FEFRMEH) > KHEEAR
645 RE 2 1 BT A AL L 0 98 JF R R B UR Ik
B oo

A B4R JE A 5 B T R 4 i
2R 4 (TS VB B A
BT o AR S T A
S 1O A 35U IR 001 L 8 £ o
P AT IR - 1R R VA
O L 2t LR
BoEFERE-E=A S
L A28 B AT Ao W2 34 4 7
$E A -

AR ) S FLAT: Ao B JE 2 R 3 A 2 AT A 13
9 A B E T R ]

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RATHRKABA A

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 &%k



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_ZZF=-A=1—BIFE (K&

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(a)

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arise
in the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group is also
exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity investments in
other entities. The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial
risk management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The
Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables. The
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and bank balances
and derivative financial assets is limited because the counterparties
are banks and financial institutions with sound credit ratings and the
Group does not expect any significant credit risk. The Group does
not provide any other guarantees which would expose the Group to
credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than the
industry or country in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the
Group has significant exposure to individual customers. At the end
of the reporting period, 33.1% (2019: 25.0%) and 55.7% (2019:
48.9%) of the total trade debtors and bills receivable was due
from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively within the manufacture and sale of garments and
textiles segment.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount and for all new customers.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer operates. Trade
receivables are due between 0 to 330 days from the date of billing.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.

26. VU 75 L W B e 4 T L 2 A P
e

(a)

AEHEEEREEREDHBEGEE R
B B A A0SR B o AR 4R B R R %
A B At B AR A 2R 45 R B o A
VT 3B 2 A T B B A R B A B
J g 22 B s g A B IR S B ) R A

1 £ o &

e 85 L g 45 35 T 05 o 72 & 40 3R B TR
A 4 A T TR AR o AR 4R B A 15 B R B
= 2 R M AR K o A 2 I T B Y B
Do SRAT &5 BR P 1T AR B B 71 B £ A
B A BR o T3 i T 2 B A AR AR R ARG
|AT KN > BAEBAENAFEML
ol TR {5 B JEL g o A 2 I 7 U AT T L
At 5t € 3 HOA 42 BUR Z A5 B R 2 AR o

MR

ARAEMAERZHGFEERR FEZ & MK
F AR A B T RS 8 Wik IR AR B & F T
MEWMATERTENBE R > W AL
A AZ AR A &5 R R B IR o i A
LG E R - REE R > BEURIRR R
JEU E PR AP > 383.1% (—F— JLA -
25.0%) }55.7% (- F—JL4E : 48.9%) /3
A S R B B A T T Ak E
FRHRREFTMARKRKET -

ALEME T AERER - EFERSFNE
F R BT B & PO AT R A SRR AN o 5% SE
FEAR 4R v P A R T ) IR Y 2 K
ROk X B R KEE T > W E BRI NS
FEE R DA K R T s T R AR T B - B
I % 3 B H B 510% 330 H 1A B HA 3¢
fTeo—MmiaE > AEEAEREFEEHR
T

7 S [ (1 958 R0 et 0 BEL R A7 A 0
VERERSY FECVVER gy 1 =2 4] 7F
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For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BT THF=RA=t+—R.LFE L&)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26. MBS LB T H2Z A

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 5 4F (%)
....... (oMU | s e
(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) A BCH B (1)
Trade receivables (continued) JEE I % (4)
The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure TEREINABRK T _EZFE=H=1+—H
to credit risk and ECLs for trade debtors and bills receivable as at A B E] 1 i AT B R R R R 2 S B R B X T
31 March 2020: WS SR G
2020
TR
Gross carrying Provision on Net carrying
amount individual basis amount
VR T A A A e 3 e i ¥ L
$°000 $’000 $°000
T T T
Current (not past due) R (26 1) 89,365 (816) 88,549
Less than 61 days past due w61 H 8,525 (395) 8,130
61 to 90 days past due wiie1 H £90H 963 (842) 121
More than 90 days past due @90 H LA |k 7,176 (4,533) 2,643
106,029 (6,586) 99,443
2019
RN
Gross carrying Provision on Net carrying
amount individual basis amount
MR AR (B 422 1 I 55 v i % 1 5 (1
$000 $000 $000
T Tr T T
Current (not past due) R (R @) 66,757 - 66,757
Less than 61 days past due w61 H 7,724 - 7,724
61 to 90 days past due wiie1 H £90H 3,229 - 3,229
More than 90 days past due o0 A LA b 6,880 (3,546) 3,334
84,590 (3,546) 81,044
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the TH W) s 1 R 40 54 1Y B B S 1R BB ST
past 5 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences between B o IS LG S8 Ay R i A O A B A T A
economic conditions during the period over which the historic data NS =R SR E T /N N AL E o
has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of S FE BA TE R Y Ry AR I 2 B R s T LA
economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables. L
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For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-THF=RA=+—RILFE L&)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(b)

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade debtors
and bills receivable during the year is as follows:

26.

B8 L A PR e A TR 2 AT
fei i ()

15 £% W BE (%)

MW IS (4 )

AF A T SRR T B B S < s 1R
ZEBFEUWRIMT

2020 2019

TR TR

$°000 $000

F FT

As at 1 April A H—H 3,546 3,546

Impairment losses recognised during the year 4 (A ffé 52 Ja (EL 5 18 3,040 =

As at 31 March HW=H=+—H 6,586 3,546
Liquidity risk (b) W HE 4 B

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their
own cash management including the short-term investment of cash
surpluses. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and readily realisable marketable securities and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the end of each reporting period to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows. The cash flow requirements
for derivative financial instrument arising from forward foreign
exchange contracts are separately provided as the contractual
maturities are essential for the understanding of the timing of the
cash flows.

AEBMAZMASEEBAATARES
ZBEEH QAR ENRE -
A 45 ) 2 BUR 7y 2 1 DS H AT R 2 R
B BT DUREOR LA R A B A
Lo m] By s B2 bR g KOk A R
PN 2 TR0 R ol e PR - DAURE A g

TRMALENSHTH 2R ema
B2 1 B 5 A SRR A R i R AT AR
B B AR AR B 2 B AL AR AT - R A
Jr 4 % 2 e AT AR B Bl Bl
oo WMWSMNE & A P 2 AT AR e TR B
EWBCOHES - Wa KT H TR
TR B U R 2 IR T N B o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 M =F

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_Z-TF=A=+—HIFE GET)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

26. Mﬁﬂ@ﬁﬁ%ﬂ&%ﬁmiﬂzz\ﬂé

(b) Ui B 2 4 B B (48)

2020 Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
TR R A ERMBLA B A
More than More than
Within 1 year 1year but 2 years but Carrying
or on less than less than amount at
demand 2 years 5 years Total 31 March
)= |
—4EW —AER WifE% =+—H
B % R MR AE N MTAEN gy 2 W i L
$’000 $’000 $°000 $°000 $°000
T Fi T T Fr
Lease liabilities GEN- =R a0/
(note) 5,390 5,157 10,795 21,342 17,963
Trade and other  MEAHE K M
payables Al A 73,150 - - 73,150 73,150
78,540 5,157 10,795 94,492 91,113
2019 Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ZE-JUE B # AR B A B 4 O
More than More than
Within 1 year 1 year but 2 years but Carrying
oron less than less than amount at
demand 2 years 5 years Total 31 March
W=H
— 4R — AR AR A% =+—H
SR E R B 4 A B4R A G Z MR H
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Tz Tz T 7T 77T T
Trade and other AT HEZK &
payables At 1 AT 3K 84,690 - - 84,690 84,690
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective Mat . AEBMCR -F—JUENA — H KR LE

approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise

lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified as

operating leases under HKAS 17. Lease liabilities include amounts

recognised at the date of transition to HKFRS 16 in respect of leases

previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17 and amounts

relating to new leases entered into during the year. Under this approach, the

comparative information is not restated. See note 1(c).

All the Group’s forward foreign exchange contracts outstanding at
31 March 2019 and 2020 are gross settlement contracts. Contracts
due to settle within 12 months require undiscounted contractual
cash inflows of $29,752,000 and outflows of $28,400,000 (2019:
inflows of $3,587,000 and outflows of $3,531,000).

T B UV T UK BR T A U B RS O RIS e
% K R RS ) 4 AT R B s o S e
SEATHEIE T AT M A A B R LR
FAIE AR HEafaEmRNaEss
B IV 5 A e LB e BBl o AR B
B s FTUE RSB 7SR B A S IR 2
TR A o DA S BRAR N T R A B
ZEHEBEOWBMABY L LBRERATE
51 o 5 Z B M EE(0)

AEEH F-NNER T FE=A
=t - B R E W INE SRS

DL A8

M AMHBEZEH - ZMWAN

HAEZAHAMTEZ R AN ERA
29,752,0007C & # 4 i 1128,400,0007C
(=& —Ju: H 4 A3,587,0007C K Bl 4
%t #3,531,0007T) °
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(a)

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from lease liabilities.
Lease liabilities are with fixed interest rates. The effective interest
rates of the Group’s lease liabilities as at 31 March 2020 is 8.1%
(2019: nil).

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales
and purchases which give rise to receivables, payables and
cash balances that are denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to which the transactions
relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily Euros,
United States dollars (“USD”), Pounds Sterling, Hong Kong dollars
(*HKD”) and Renminbi.

As the HKD is pegged to the USD, the Group does not expect
any significant movements in the USD/HKD exchange rate.
However, management acknowledges that the Group is exposed to
fluctuations in the exchange rates for other currencies.

The Group uses forward exchange contracts to hedge its currency
risk arising from committed future sales denominated in Euro and
Pounds Sterling. The Group ceased to apply hedge accounting for
the years ended 2019 and 2020. At 31 March 2020, the Group
had forward exchange contracts with a net fair value of $1,352,000
(assets) (2019: $56,000 (assets)), recognised as derivative financial
instruments (see note 17).

26. 85 W A 9 ek L 2 AP

(d)

i (%)

ALEMAFRE I ERAMHEAMS - HE
BERAEE R R FFIE A
St —HARLEENHEABZ TEBENRE
8.1% (& — JUIF : &) -

11 W B B

A G W R B R B E R A A B e
it ¥ K By 6E £ W LA AN 6 A M T E
HH 25 T A A Y R SOIR K R A HR R K
Bl &% o 51 Bt TE R B i B0 T R K
BE o FoU - B TR ARM -

F A T B S T AR R T,
T HE A A & A R H) o R A
R A o A% A R T St L b R BEE R A B A
JE B o

A £ [ F) T 7 ) A1 TE 4 4 3B 3 DR DA R OT
HEBE AR R R A8 B T E A Y BN L
Mo REBB _F—NFER T _FFHY
EUAF A I FE A B G5t o R A
“HZ=1T—H REHZEBIMNES L Z
INFEA(E 4 A1,352,0000C (G E) (—F
— JLAF 1 56,0000t (& 7)) i C 8 & AT
AL THE (2HME17) -
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For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BT THF=RA=t+—R.LFE L&)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26. MBS LB T H2Z A

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS i fE (%)

....... (COMEMUEA) e

(d) Currency risk (continued) (d) £ % m B (&)

(i) Exposure to currency risk (i) RZZEHMEE
The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the TR FEYI AL E A4S H TR % 2 & JE
reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised assets B > 5% % B R B T R T v E i 2 B RERR
or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional EENABDZEBYREERUIZ &K
currency of the entity to which they relate. For presentation FEE T E AL o AT B JEL B R IE 22 &R T 1R
purposes, the amounts of the exposure are shown in Hong Kong AEESH Z B FE SRR A A A E 2 2 A -

dollars, translated using the spot rate at the year end date.

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

TRE AR (D iit)
2020 2019
i 4 -0
United Hong United Hong
Pounds States Kong  Pounds States Kong

Sterng ~ Dollars Euros  Renminbi  Dollars  Sterling Dollars Euos  Renminbi Dollars
by £ BE ARK i 5% i1 HE AR B
$000  s000  $000 SO0  S000 o0 $oOO  $0o0 SO0 000
7 7 T T 7r 7 7 7 7 7

Trade and other receivables TEURS R LBl 5 7643 492 9,382 - 8 53929 4307 12450 3
Cash and cash equivaents RARHL5EN 3462 3414 0419 4091 560 0 %07 4508 2268 560
Trade and other payables Rt L 3t (315)  (23557) (321) (#19) - 62n  (2808) (904) 0] -
Amounts cue rom{tc] group comparies I/ () /A 7 58 - o - (14 - 3064 123 - (-t

Net exposure arising fom recognised KB AR KA
assets and libilies MR 3204 90470 6,374 5,601 560 250 94294 791 14303 45,140
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26.

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

Currency risk (continued) (d)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the
Group’s (loss)/profit after tax (and retained profits) that would arise if
foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure
at the end of the reporting period had changed at that date,
assuming all other risk variables remained constant. In this respect,
it is assumed that the pegged rate between the HKD and the USD
would be materially unaffected by any changes in movement in
value of the USD against other currencies.

A 0 o I Y B R B T2 AP
e i (%1)

1 W BB (f)

(i) SEIE

TRIURAEEZ BRBAE B R) i A
(S P B i A1) DR 4 5 L BE & 2 5 BT B
5 Bl (A% 45 ) ZEUAE G 38 ) /R 52 2R LB ) T
A 2 BIVIRE S B o Sl IR A At L B B
ANEE o LT E > AR 4R B (BRE W D B3R T
2 W R ME RO g R 3 O S H At B i 2 BE R
AR B R

2020 2019
—RRE “F
(Decrease)/

Increase/ increase in Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) loss after tax (decrease) (decrease) in

in foreign and (increase)/ in foreign profit after

exchange decrease in exchange tax and

rates retained profits rates retained profits

B BL A% s

(WA),/ B B B 152 v 1

B B AR B B FE % B AR B v A1

7t CFE) (), W& LA/ CFER) #m,/ ()

% $°000 % $000

HA K T F It TIC

Pounds Sterling igh 10% (268) 10% 211
(10)% 268 (10)% (211)

Euros ek 2 10% (532) 10% 661
(10)% 532 (10)% (661)

Renminbi N 8% (374) 8% 955
(8)% 374 8)% (955)

Hong Kong Dollars o 8% (34) 8% 2,708
(8)% 34 8)% (2,708)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent
an aggregation of the instantaneous effects on each of the Group
entities’ (loss)/profit after tax and equity measured in the respective
functional currencies, translated into HKD at the exchange rate
ruling at the end of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange
rates had been applied to re-measure those financial instruments
held by the Group which expose the Group to currency risk at the
end of the reporting period, including inter-company payables and
receivables within the Group which are denominated in a currency
other than the functional currencies of the lender or the borrower.
The analysis excludes differences that would result from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations into the
Group’s presentation currency. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2019.

B R FRBN IR G0 M 2 55 RACSR B A £ B RN
A B 25 T 0 A B R BN R &5 0 F
B AR T T DU B2 50 22 R BR AR
(K5 48) th F) o HE 7 2 BV IF 5 2B A3 -

TR 7 A 0 Ml 3 5 5 ) B Y S LA A
B R 45 B R A S T 3 A1 I TR B A < R
TH o R A S AR A W [ AR o 0H
JE WSO I > % S I DL O 3R U5 9 D e
B AN B W EHE o 5200 BT S AR h i A
SEHE B B R T A AR [ B R R
MY ER « U % — JLEZH
[l K HESEAT o
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from certain
equity investments held for long-term strategic purposes measured
at FVOCI (see note 15).

The Group’s listed equity investments have been chosen based
on their longer-term growth potential and are monitored regularly
for performance against expectations. They are listed on overseas
stock exchanges and are valued at the quoted market prices at the
end of each reporting period.

One of the Group’s unlisted equity investments is measured
at market comparison approach with reference to the market
capitalisation of comparable listed companies. It is assessed at
least bi-annually against performance of similar listed entities, based
on the limited information available to the Group, together with an
assessment of its relevance to the Group’s long-term strategic
plans.

At 31 March 2020, it is estimated that an increase/decrease of
10% (2019: 10%) in the relevant stock market index (for listed
investments), the market capitalisation of comparable listed
companies (for the unlisted equity security measured at market
comparison approach), with all other variables held constant,
would have increased/decreased the Group’s other components of
consolidated equity as follows:

26. S 5 e I 4 P e 4k 1L 2 AP

i (%)

A S5 7R 32 35 T2 8 L At 2 i 2 % F
HAE A MR & 2 F5 1F = 00 R s P35 A 1
e W s 2 5 2 M A B R B (2 B B R
18) e

AR 2 b T R RS R B T AR R R
BRI wEE > i 2 ) B g H R B
BHEMOEW - MR EIESRLZ S B E
o AR R A S AR -

A G W — i JE b T B R B 2 TG 4%
W ka3 2 8 ] L b A A
W o HR BLET A 2= D — ST Wk
TR ML LR KRB AL A
At O % T A 3 AR 4R G R 0 5 s A
ERiDRE g

R EEREZH A —H o Bk H A s
WA R R A A BB EE T ( ﬁﬁﬁutfﬁ
R RS S 1K) Fe o W 10% (%
— L 10%) > AJ EL#g b2 |l B T AE
(s ¥ i1 35 b ek 51 &= 0 9 b i I A
#) o AGwEHE RN D A B S E
HoAth 40 B EB W

2020 2019
TRORE —E -
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in other in other
components components
of equity of equity
i b 1 43 HoAt
ST 4 AR
Bm,/ (¥4) (W), s
% $°000 % $000
Al i F It TC
Change in relevant #1515 4 b
equity price risk SEH 2 AT
variable:
Increase i 10% 1,147 10% 1,101
Decrease Wb (10)% (1,147) (10)% (1,101)
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

®
@

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

Equity price risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change in other
components of consolidated equity that would arise assuming
that the changes in the stock market index or other relevant risk
variables had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to equity price risk at the end of the
reporting period. It is assumed that the fair values of the Group’s
equity investments would change in accordance with the historical
correlation with the relevant stock market index or other relevant risk
variables, and that all other variables remain constant.

Fair value measurement
Financial instruments measured at fair value
Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial
instruments measured at the end of the reporting period on a
recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.

26. 85 W A 9 ek L 2 AP

()
(i)

i (%)

JB A5 B (#8)

TR o T B > BRI T 4 B B B
HACAB R B F M #HO NG HEHE
B WEBAREN A EAEETHAZ
ML AR > MZ%E LASAEERLEH
R % M B R B > B A 4R B 2 AR AR 1Y
HL A AL S 3 4 2 A 2 B IR S 2 o TR
A SR [ B HE RS R R 2 A E A AR R
SL i i 4 B H A A R L B 2 A B 2 R
A EL R AR T AR > L F B IR R AN A o

AT
B 2V M AL 2 1
LT 38

R BN A G A R A R B RS
EEFH R ST H IR G B i)
e ) SE135E [ 20 (5 At 42 | BT S E )
O VAR (8 FE SR B = R AR A -

Fair value at Fair value measurements as at Fair value at Fair value measurements as at
31 March 2020 31 March 2020 categorised into 31 March 2019 31 March 2019 categorised info
REZ-RE e Sy
SR RERSREERE ZHZ4-A BRIt
AR TR SR T M 2ZAVEE ATFEE AL TR
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
B-g HomN A= g-gh0 F2aH B=80
$000 $1000 $1000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
i Tz iz i T Tz 7z T
Recurring fair value measurements & & AT 17 &
Assets: 8
- Non-trading isted equty ~55 b i
securities Figis 2,087 2,087 - - 3,106 3,106 - -
- Unlisted equity securities - Lt 17,791 - - 17,791 16,00 - - 16,90
- Derivative financial instruments i 4B TH 1,352 - 1,352 - 5 - 5 -

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 or transfers into or out of
Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels
of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which
they occur.

WE_F _LTHER T -NFE=A=1+—
H Ok 4F BEA > 3R A <6 b T H A8 5 — 80
SHLEE 80 2 AR RS - s A = A
AN B o AR 2 R A EE
A B A R R A HOH T LAY o
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR  26. 0 % B B 45 P ). 4 ik T H. 2 A F
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 5 4F (%)

....... (COMEMUEA) e

(f) Fair value measurement (continued) () A VEESE (8)

(i) Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued) (i) &2 T i TR ()
Valuation technique and inputs used in Level 2 fair value R 2 B B 28 T8 (8 72 1915 1 T 7%
measurements VYV C
The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts in Level 2 is 7= M ANRE & )N A5 (55 4k Al JhRE R
marked to market by discounting the contractual forward price and A& A AE - A A B R BLAT 0
deducting the forward rate at the end of the reporting period. The HIER - QR R TI 2 NG H H B AT %
discount rate used is derived from the prevailing market interest rate | 2] 5 7 o
at the end of the reporting period.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements =R FAE M 7 E
Significant
Valuation unobservable
techniques inputs Range
RN R AW B R il
Unlisted equity securities ~ FF I Ti7 A o8 25 Adjusted net Discount for lack of 30%
assets value marketability (2019: 30%)
KPR EEFE S WHRENITi R
Minority discount 30%
D BRE £ T 0 R (2019: 30%)
Market-comparable Discount for lack 30%
approach of marketability (2019: 30%)
[ERZR5 A 87 S 7 S VB R TR IR o1 B
The fair value of unlisted equity investments is determined using: I b T ME R S 0 N R (R DA B
(i) the net assets value adjusted for lack of marketability discount T 85 U 4 P I 2R K b O 25 I I S
and minority discount; (i) the price/earnings and enterprise value/ EERE 5 ()R e b A R AE R
EBITDA ratios of comparable listed companies adjusted for lack of e i A A SEAE (E EBITDALL 2 3f7 i % i =
marketability discount. The fair value is negatively correlated to the TR REETE o A EEE RS
discount for lack of marketability and minority discount. T 55 0 48 P BT 0 R R0 A SORE 25 B 40 R
] A B B o
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26.

(ii)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)
Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (continued)

It is estimated that an increase/decrease of 5% in each of the
unobservable inputs, with all other variables held constant, would
have increased/decreased the Group’s other comprehensive
income as follows:

26. B % B
15

(F) 2Bt (8)
(i) %A T i 50y £ i 1T (4)
=R L 7] B ()

Bt BLF 4 IR AT 95 MR B
5% » Hfl 58 MR 5 58 -

6 3B 7 A T A

2 T 25 D IR

2020 2019
SRR —E— N
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in  Effect on other (decrease) in Effect on other
unobservable comprehensive unobservable  Comprehensive
inputs income inputs Income
A BLgE Wk JC i 2 i VNGIR ik Ci oA A T
B, (W4) W 5 B #am, (8b) i i 5 288
% $°000 % $'000
A’ T F o b T C
Discount for lack of it = T 35 i 4 1
marketability Prinx 5 (1,271) 5 (1,208)
(5) 1,271 5) 1,208
Minority discount D BUORE 2 B 1R 5 (466) 5 (465)
(5) 466 5) 465

The movements during the period in the balance of these Level 3 fair

595 = A 25 (AT A B P )

value measurements are as follows: o
2020 2019
TR TR ZE A
$°000 $000
T T
Unlisted equity securities: I b R RERE S5
At 1 April A H—H 16,906 15,348
Net unrealised gains recognised in other A PR R B B A A T R A LAt
comprehensive income during the period A THI A i R E R 885 1,558
At 31 March W=ZH=1—H 17,791 16,906

Any gain or loss arising from the remeasurement of the Group’s
unlisted equity securities held for strategic purposes are recognised
in the investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) in other
comprehensive income. Upon disposal of the equity securities, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income is transferred
directly to retained earnings.

Fair value of financial instruments carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried
at cost or amortised cost are not materially different from their fair

A% AR T AR A SR WS R Ak 10 JF b T RO HE R R 2
B A A AT T A A e 1R At 2
T Wi i 5 A AR (S AT ) o RERR o
T o S M O 4R I L b A T i AR 2 B

Al R A R R B A

(i) DI A VMRS £l TR AT

AEER F FERLFNE=A
= H DA B B A B MR 1Y <

values as at 31 March 2020 and 2019.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 M =F

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE_Z-_TE=A=1+—HILFE &)

27. COMMITMENTS e 2LRIE e
(a) Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March 2020 not provided for (a) A~ F “F4E=ZH=+—H » M RELHEH
in the consolidated financial statements are as follows: WMHEBRFAEBBHZ2EARARLEDNT :
2020 2019
TR TR ZE A
$°000 $000
T T7C
The Group’s capital commitments: NLE [ 1) E AR
Contracted for ER#) 58 562
Authorised but not contracted for ERHEERTTL - 77,323
58 77,885
In addition, the Group was committed at 31 March 2020 to enter o MFZFE=ZA=+—H » K&

into leases of one to two years that is not yet commenced, the lease
payments under which amounted to $67,000 per annum.

B LR o7 A% 39— 4 2 W AR E B R B 4 2

& A4 567,0007T o

2020 2019
TR R ZE A
$°000 $000
T F
The Group’s share of the capital KL B JE
commitments of joint ventures: BN B AR -
Contracted for EHA) - 188,052

At 31 March 2019, the total future minimum lease payments in
respect of properties of the Group under non-cancellable operating
leases were payable as follows:

(b)

() REZ-EZHA=Z4—H o ABEHE

A W it B 0 R RIS S A0 AE 0RO REAY

161 SR AL B A Sk AT -

2019
E U
$’000
FIE

Within 1 year —4ERLA

After 1 year but within 2 years

— AR B AE LA

2,344
56

2,400

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties held
under leases which were previously classified as operating leases
under HKAS 17. The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the Group
adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise lease
liabilities relating to these leases (see note 1(c)). From 1 April 2019
onwards, future lease payments are recognised as lease liabilities
in the consolidated statement of financial position in accordance
with the policies set out in note 1(k), and the details regarding the
Group’s future lease payments are disclosed in note 21.

A% B ] 1 S A AR A s I R AE 1 7 8R4
HageMExMEBEHTITMNEGZETY
EZIRMA o AL LERTRIIEY
PR A B s S TS MR ISR 698 o kIR
BT AEFEPEE - - LENHA —H
M &SR AR ZEMNEZHEA
B (2B 1) - B ZF—JU4FIM A —H
> ARPER R ()R 2 BOUR > R A A & A
BRI RER B EAMG LA RAR
£ B R AR B A 3k 2 REAE A B AR B R o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-THF=RA=+—RILFE L&)

28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 28.

(a)

(b)

TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere
in these financial statements, the Group entered into the following
material related party transactions:

BLBMANLZHERES

Wk E A% B 5 ik 2% L Ath 3y B B R 2 28 5 K
FEERAN s AREEF L N E KB E AL
5

Transactions with YGM Trading Limited and its subsidiaries (a) BYGME A WRAAG LEWE A A
(“YGMT Group”) (TYGMT#H ) 2% %

2020 2019
ZRTRAE =LA
$°000 $000
T T
Sales of garment products S AR E 11,166 16,241
Rental income received and receivable B e FE e ) 26 4 i 4 6,000 6,009
Management fee received and receivable . e B M i 7 3 2 804 804
Building management fee received and receivable £ it K ME Wi 48 45 FE 4% 180 180

As certain directors and their associates are collectively the
controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of YGMT
Group and the Group, the related party transactions in respect
of sales of garment products to YGMT Group and rental income
received and receivable from YGMT Group above constitute the
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Other transactions with YGMT Group are exempt from
the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are
provided in the section “Connected transactions” in the Directors’
Report.

FrTER R A E 2 HEA LFRERYGMTAE
W Je AR S 1 2 PERE R OR (38 L BT AR -
Ry B 14A% » DL ERYGMTA H
B B EE S~ B U B B YGMT4E [E Al
S i 2 BN 32 5 B s G - B
YGMTEE [ 2 HoAth 38 5y 7 4 5 o A 78 3% 1]
ETR A 4ATE 2 E T U ERE - LT
FRU S5 AATE T K 58 19 4% 8 = JE S #E R
Gk (s S | — o

Transactions with other related parties (b) HALBWEAL2ZRS
2020 2019
R R TR =LA
$°000 $000
T T7T
Wuxi YGM Textile Co., Ltd. J0e 53 4% VOKT 9 B Al A LA )
Purchases of raw materials I A R 2,557 7,070

Wuxi YGM Textile Co., Ltd. is a wholly owned subsidiary of Wuxi
No. 1 Cotton Investment Co., Ltd., a joint venture of the Group. The
purchases of raw materials from a joint venture are not connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EH R EBARA A BAER &
BB - MBEEARAFAZEEHA
BB 23 m o 4 — & A 3 R BB IE A
J& 7 bR RN B AN BT 81 2 B A e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 7% 3R 2 M =F

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE_Z-_TE=A=1+—HILFE &)

28.

(@)

(a)

(b)

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 28.

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

BB N 2 K AR5 (8

Balances due from/(to) related companies and joint ventures: (c) MEMC, (MEAT) WA RSB AFEXH :
2020 2019

SRORE F U

Note $°000 $000

Wit T 7T

Amount due from YGMT Group JEE WY GMT 42 8 3 T 982 1,991

Amount due to WTCO7 Holdings JEAFWTCO7 Holdings Pte Ltd.

Pte Ltd. A (i) (224) (198)

Amount due to Allied Textiles JRRE AT B0 e L 457 4k A R > ) 3K TH

Co., Ltd. (i) (13) (13)

Amount due to Wuxi YGM Textile JRE AT 4 85 1= VRS 5 %17 ik

Co., Ltd. A IR /] IH (i) - (635)

Notes: ks

()  WTCO7 Holdings Pte Ltd. is related to the Group as it is held by a director (i)  WTCO7 Holdings Pte Ltd.H 74 4 [ — i 3 45
of the Group. #EAH o HIL > WTCO7 Holdings Pte Ltd. % 4

EEZBENL -

(i) Allied Textiles Co., Ltd. and Wuxi YGM Textile Co., Ltd. are wholly owned (i) HHHUGHAERAF LEGSRIEEAGAE
subsidiaries of Wuxi No.1 Cotton Investment Co., Ltd., a joint venture of the RAF AAREEZ AEMCEEY —HMTES
Group. FRAFZ 2 EHEAMEAF -

Transactions with key management personnel d FESMABWNRS

All members of key management personnel are the directors of the
Company, and their emoluments are disclosed in note 6.

. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 29.

ESTIMATES

The Group believes the following critical accounting policies
involve the most significant judgements and estimates used in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

Write-down of inventories (a)

The Group performs regular reviews of the carrying amounts of
inventories with reference to aged inventories analyses, projections
of expected future saleability of goods and, management experience
and judgment. Based on this review, a write-down of inventories
will be made when the estimated net realisable value of inventories
decline below their carrying amount. Due to changes in customers’
preferences, actual saleability of goods may be different from
estimations and profit or loss in future accounting periods could be
affected by differences in these estimations. The write-down and
reversal of write-down of inventories are disclosed in note 16.

Impairment (b)

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of other property, plant
and equipment at the end of each reporting period to determine
whether there is objective evidence of impairment. When indication
of impairment is identified, management assesses the differences
between the carrying amounts and recoverable amounts and makes
provision for impairment loss. Any change in the assumptions
adopted in calculating the recoverable amount would increase or
decrease the provision for impairment loss and affect the Group’s
profit or loss in future years.

VRGeS 15 VN LV EVNES S
o5 2 O W 68 5% -

1wl A B e A it

A B A A TE MR A A IR R > LT
T ) A E B R W e M R )
G FE -

A7 5280 R

A5 W 275 17 AR o AT~ R R BB
S 5 10 T D AR 0 A B Y A8 B B ) B ok
A 8 0 B T (A b E AR BY o AN AE B
fili w AT 5 B (8 Bk 2 AR AR T (E - A
B2 ] g AR U A B RO AN R T A B 1
e BREFIFFTRES A > TR
B Wy B AT RE SELAL R R TR o DA % S A
wH A [ T RE R BB OR A & wt ) A9 4R 4 e
e 88 OIS A7 B DB 4B (] T B R BB R

WA

A AR A — A H 2 g B M ) 2
B B B e i 2 R T (B DL R GE R T A % B
A5 4R BT B o I (B B T
JE IRF > A TR T b R T (B B AT i ] R
] B0 25 B 0 R4 A s 1R A o RO AT
W [m] < BT PR 2 AR S A AR AT SR B > Er
B 2D W e IR A 0 IR B AR SR
RAAEJE 2 H 2

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RATHRKABA A

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 &%k



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_ZZF=-A=1—BIFE (K&

(c)

(@)

(e)

. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES (continued)

Impairment (continued)

The Group estimates the loss allowances for trade debtors and bills
receivable by assessing the ECLs. This requires the use of estimates
and judgements. ECLs are based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
and an assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the end of reporting period. Where the
estimation is different from the original estimate, such difference
will affect the carrying amounts of accounts receivable and bills
receivable and thus the impairment loss in the period in which such
estimate is changed. The Group keeps assessing the expected
credit loss of trade debtors and bills receivable during their expected
lives.

Valuation of investment properties

The valuation of investment properties requires various assumptions
and factors relevant to the valuation. The Group engages
independent professional qualified valuers to conduct an annual
revaluation of the Group’s investment properties based on
assumptions agreed between the Group and the valuers prior to
adoption. The details of valuation of investment properties are
disclosed in note 11(b).

Provision for long service payments

As explained in note 24, the Group makes provision for lump sum
payments on cessation of employment in certain circumstances to
employees in both Hong Kong and the PRC. The payments due are
dependent on future events and recent payment experience may
not be indicative of future payments. Any increase or decrease in the
provision would affect the profit or loss in future years. The details of
long service payments are disclosed in note 24.

Determining the lease term

As explained in policy note 1(k), the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable over
the lease term. In determining the lease term at the commencement
date for leases that include renewal options exercisable by the
Group, the Group evaluates the likelihood of exercising the renewal
options taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances that
create an economic incentive for the Group to exercise the option,
including favourable terms, leasehold improvements undertaken and
the importance of that underlying asset to the Group’s operation.
The lease term is reassessed when there is a significant event or
significant change in circumstance that is within the Group’s control.
Any increase or decrease in the lease term would affect the amount
of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised in future years.

. IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING

At 31 March 2020, the directors consider the immediate and
ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Chan Family Investment
Corporation Ltd, which is incorporated in the Cayman Islands.

29.

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

1 5k A B B Al wt (40
ﬁﬁ(%) ..............................................

A S5 (1A W A0 R I > A R T AL AR
B 5 5% it A0 R AR A MR i SR 2 s 1R 9
fii - FHIEEEARERAER 2 BERFE
KA > WARSR B A A 2 IR EAT
o EE o DL R it FO 2 e T R
HEE A IR UL AEE AT WA o ik T U SRR B 0
CHIENCIRE B Y2 3 2 e
W 5 9 2 R T MR > A T R B A R A B
] 2 (B4R K o A 4% [ % 950w 8 i 30 ] ok
i 2 T il AR o % i B R 2 TS B
k-

B PSR AN i

B & Wy 3G (E PR T ELAG (A B 45 JE R
B R R o A SR S T r HE R E AR
Al B R o PR A IR 5% A 4 T BEL A B T B
E I % S RS B BRSO AT AR B AT
fili o 15 5 Wy S A R0 15 R WA 511 (b) 48 2%

B 90 I 5 4 488 4

IR FE24 B > A 42 I % R R A s L
B ) A B A T DL B A 2 0 T S
A9 — 2t A BR7E A - RIS &
S P E R H AR DU AT A RO
DU o $EE M 2 AT A 38 BBHE B B R AR AR T 2 4R
it o = W B B R R MY R 24 B BR

i AL 1S 00

A BRE 1 (k) BT At o A B A AP FR AR
A B A LB AT AR B D - BB A A
S AT A A ME 2 AT - R B B H I
E R > A SR I g 25 I AT AR R HE A
8 B A AR 2 KE R R 2 BT AR B 2 1
UL LARFAS AT (A A HE 2 AT REIE - AR WA
R ARG CETZHBEYERE
Lo A Bl AR A A EE R o ik R
A RF AR DL BLE R L > HAEAR
A ] £ o o 2 A > B A A R T
L o FH ) SE R B A A 6 R BEOR O 4R T il
W8 ML AR T M A e

CEH AR B PR L

MRoE_RE=ZHA=+—H > FHERZEA
L8 2 B R B N B Chan Family
Investment Corporation Ltd (Bl 8 B 5
FE A SL) e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE_Z-_TE=A=1+—HILFE &)

31. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 31. 2 W) Jg i 2 B R B %
....... FIN AN CIAL POSI T ON | e
2020 2019
ZR R ZE—NF
(Note)
(Mt7E)
Note $°000 $’000
Bt it T N
Non-current assets R W R
Investment properties [ig<g/ES 277,016 282,200
Other property, plant and equipment  H:Ath#1 2 ~ ik 5 M 5% A 83,863 90,288
360,879 372,488
Intangible assets WILEE 2,890 2,985
Investments in subsidiaries e NGRS &<y 78,107 77,899
Interests in joint ventures B ERERS 230,818 230,818
Loan to a subsidiary — g 2 ] K 6,279 =
Other financial assets o Ath, 455 Bl & A 19,878 20,011
emeeeeeeemmeeemeneemeeeeeeeemeeemeeemeeeeeeemenemeeeeeeeeeneemeeereeneeeen R 698851 704201
Current assets VLU g
Inventories Py 18,915 25,875
Trade and other receivables R AT B 2 L At JRE A R 71,412 63,213
Current tax recoverable AT Wi [a] A< HA B IH 373 347
Cash and cash equivalents Bl KB4 58 197,199 234,696
287,899 324,131
Current liabilities il B £ 4%
Trade and other payables JREAST B SR S HL A 1 A5 3k 34,837 37,451
Contract liabilities GRIANT 1,506 1,954
Lease liabilities GiEN= =R 170 -
e oo eeeeeeemceeccmeecccceccceecceocecoeco.. 36513 . 39,405
Netcurrentassets . W@he@sm 251,386 284,726
Total assets less current liabilities Y RMBMmM AL 950,237 988,927
Non-current liabilities e B 11 45
Provision for long service payments 1= 1 IR %5 4 il 1,765 2,088
Deferred tax liabilities I SE o T i 13,857 15,209
Lease liabilities CIEN= =Y 16 -
e oo oo eeeeeecemceeccceeccccecccceecccoceceoo.. R 15638 . 17,297
NET ASSETS & A A 934,599 971,630
CAPITAL AND RESERVES AR B i i 25(a)
Share capital il&N 208,418 208,418
Reserves fiti #5 726,181 763,212
TOTAL EQUITY Wi 2% A 934,599 971,630
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 FHEEON F FENA LA
June 2020. BAZHERE M EFIRE -
Chan Wing Fui, Peter Chan Wing Kee Bl & 42 Bl Ak AL
Chairman Managing Director FiE I
Note: The Company has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using the MaE - ANEC R - JUEMNHA — H RSB
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative TR 1 UCER R A U S R HE R S 1 69 o
information is not restated. See note 1(c). IR BT WIRE R A TR - 2Bt
H1(c) »
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-P-TF=A=T—ALLFE GETH)

32.

34.

NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

The current adverse situation caused by the COVID-19 pandemic
on top of the U.S./China trade dispute is unseen in the industry
ever before. The Group expected its operating results will be further
deteriorated in the coming year when deeper impact from the
pandemic will be realised.

Given the unpredictability of future developments brought by the
pandemic, it is difficult for management to assess the financial
impact on the Group’s financial performance at this stage. The
Group will closely monitor the development of the outbreak and
minimise the impact on the financial position and operating results
of the Group by cutting overhead expenses, closing non-profitable
divisions and to conserve cash.

. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative
information is not restated. Further details of the changes in
accounting policies are disclosed in note 1(c).

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of amendments and a new standard, HKFRS
17, Insurance contracts, which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 March 2020 and which have not been adopted in these
financial statements. These developments include the following
which may be relevant to the Group.

32.

34.

260 e 1 o ) % 3 R

HAib 7 EE S Fmz ik
COVID-19%% i Fr # i 2 A A1l WL > FE A%
B 2 AT ZE R T 1T AR S o 82 AR 22 B R
I R T Y R BRI AR [ T AT AU E
—#HEA -

EH Y B 15 Al AR R R A 3 R S T S > A
g B R B DA T A 38 A 2 B B B R B
B o ASE PN U] BE AT I BE R > 0
) 9 S~ B PR A R P
TR B B - DAOK e 8 A 385 A 4 19 B 55 1R 9L
AR BN 2 -

A E M E—SUE A — R
HTHE W0 2 R T 7 B 9 O 1 6
B MR B AT B o A
B 2 — 2 A R W R (o)
7% -

BRE_F _FE=ZA=1—HI
AF B S A A 8 0 AR A i BT
B i S e i R TR K 5 O

HEARMBHEZRBEZH > FHTFEHAHA
& OB AT 25 TERT e — TE R R > 5 s it
BRSBTS R A4 > ZEBRT
Kol e - FHF =H =1+—H
IE A7 R AR AR o T AR B S R R G R AT AR
AAE N o Foh A AR R B RN o

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on PH I 0
or after BIB AR
Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a business B s A e R 55398 2 BT 1 January 2020  ~EF - F4E—HA—H
£ EFE
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Bl st 158 R st 1January 2020 “E T E4E—~H—H

Definition of material

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of
initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

FOWL IR » EAZEH

7 45 B IE 7E BT A5 0 fh B T 0 ) A% 4 4 4R 5
J ) TR S B o BLIRE A A A o AR SR T BR
"o B MERRN EERYE -
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GROUP PROPERTIES
% 4 3

Details of the major properties of the Group are as follows: AL EEYEERFEFIM T

Location b8 Existing use ik Term of lease AR
Major properties held for investment

BN G LB E

The whole building i Commercial ES Medium-term T A
22 — 24 Tai Yau Street JUHE B 39 fid

San Po Kong, Kowloon KA 22 - 24%%

Hong Kong 2 i

Unit 1505 — 1508 on level 15 g N R AL Commercial ES Medium-term AR 4
Fudan Science Park Tower (Block 11) T A

No. 11 Guotai Road 7% #5115

Yangpu District, Shanghai City 18 BR[O

The People’s Republic of China (111%) B 551505 — 1508

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
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FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY

hFFEHE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(A TTE)

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
SRR 2R LR R 0\E ZEUE ZB22E
$000 $000 $000 $000 $°000
T T T T i
Results S
Revenue /PN 038,434 800,343 749,280 717,614 656,212
Profit from operations Fet=srgl 23,305 12,563 17,096 16,259 3,366
Finance costs il A (3,002) 2,719 (2,553) (3,506) (4,248)
Share of (losses)/profits of joint ventures JEAG A8 % (B51R) /T A (28,391) 11,497 14,967 12,007 (24,295)
Net gain on deregistration of a subsidiary i ) VNG G REE - 12,838 = = -
Impairment losses on other property, HAibwE - Rz K
plant and equipment W EEE (4,656) (12,304) (4,758) (6,170) (14,627
Net valuation gains/(losses) on BEEMS AR/ (EH)
investment properties fhis: ] 20,759 12,369 17,545 3,361 (10,616)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRBE A A (B 18D 8,015 34,244 42,297 22,951 (50,420)
Income tax Fr B (3,658) (6,259) (7,254) (2,650) (366)
Profit/(loss) for the year AAEERA, OB #) 4,357 27,985 35,043 20,301 (50,786)
Attributable to: M5 %
Equity shareholders of the Company AN T RAERE A 4,413 30,380 36,558 22,062 (51,009)
Non-controling interests IR PR R A 42 (56) (2,395) (1,515) (1,761) 223
Profit/(loss) for the year AAEBERAL OB 4,357 27,985 35,043 20,301 (50,786)
Assets and liabilities B KA
Investment properties, other property, gEwE- K- BE
plant and equipment and leasehold land Bk kA L 317,370 287,078 300,217 298,292 289,630
Intangible assets I G 3,270 3,175 3,080 2,985 2,890
Interests in joint ventures AENEER 541,095 513,385 571,043 546,154 488,657
Other financial assets oA A 4,250 5,731 4,611 20,011 19,878
Deferred tax assets REBIEE 1,687 1,754 271 - =
Net current assets B R 388,952 396,945 409,486 387,317 353,921
Total assets less current liabilties O AR B & 1,256,624 1208068 1,288,708 1254759 1,154,976
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (38,965) (35,616) (39,741) (40,014) (54,238)
Net assets B TS 1,217,659 1,172,452 1248967 1214745 1,100,738
Share capital A 208,418 208,418 208,418 208,418 208,418
Reserves il 1,002,557 961,162 1,039,310 1,008,228 893,148
Total equity attributable to equity JREA B AR AR SRR A
shareholders of the Company 4 A% 1,210,975 1,169,580 1,247,728 1,216,646 1,101,566
Non-controling interests I 1 I P SR M 6,684 2,872 1,239 (1,901) (828)
Total equity FE 28 B 1,217,659 1,172,452 1248967 1214745 1,100,738
Per share basis DA
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share BREALBERAN/ (B HK$0.02 HK$0.15 HK$0.18 HK$0.11 (HK$0.25)

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
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FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY
FFEHME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB TET)

Notes to the five-year summary:

1.

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 16, Leases, with effect from 1 April
2019, the Group has changed its accounting policies in respect of the lessee
accounting model. In accordance with the transitional provisions of the standard,
the changes in accounting policies were adopted by way of opening balance
adjustments to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities as at 1 April
2019. After initial recognition of these assets and liabilities, the Group as a lessee
is required to recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding balance of
the lease liability, and the depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of the
previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under operating leases
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Figures in years earlier than 2020 are
stated in accordance with the policies applicable in those years.

The Group adopted HKFRS 9, Financial instruments, including the amendments
to HKFRS 9, Prepayment features with negative compensation, from 1 April 2018.
As a result, the Group has changed its accounting policies in relation to financial
instruments. As allowed by HKFRS 9, the Group has not restated information
relating to prior years. Differences in the carrying amounts of the financial assets
resulting from the adoption of HKFRS 9 were recognised in retained earnings and
reserves at 1 April 2018. There was no difference in the carrying amounts of the
financial liabilities. Prior to 1 April 2018, figures were stated in accordance with the
policies applicable in those years.
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